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FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS

2012 we saw exciting growth in
rrrany

of our businesses At Bell Helicopter 50

percent ncrease in co irrnercral deliveries corrbnued mu tary progra ii st ecs ird

ongoing expansiorr of service support contnbuted to record revenues and earrings

for the year At Cessna we broadened our obal sales and service footprint

increased reve rues and improved margirrs In our Industrial fusinesses rtlbp

oduct irrtroductions and sigr ificant sales irrcreases led to so id year with irr proved

revenues and profitability In our Finance segment our Captive iance business returned

to profitability during 20 ard supported fina icing of over $300 rn llior irr lextror

product sales to custonrers irr 21 countries Our lextrorr Systems busrnesses despite

ongo rg budgetary uncerta rifles in Washingtorr captured key contracts for products like

our armond security vehicles md mnnann aircraft syste ins positic iurg the compan

well for years to come

or the year total rover ties reached $122 bi lion arid operating

profit grew to $1 Iliori rreary dotbling compared to 2011

hr concert wdhi flit strong perfo nance of our busir esses

extrons share price ricreased rising 30 oerc it during 2012

far outpacing the SP bOO lrdtx and most of our peer corriparues

Much of this progress ster rnre frorr irnvestni cots we made to

bring numeruu new products to market and build iew sales

service capabi ities irnpoutar growth regions of tire world

hroughuit 2012 we announced nrw products that will

drive our Ititure growth At Bell Hel copter we introducer the

325 Relentless ew class of rotorcralt ref
ectirig

close

co aboration wilt our stornir rc Offering urrpreceder tec

capabilities tIes new elicopter fills void in ft nnarrcetplace arid

de ronstratrs our oritinued cor iii tment to advaricirrg flight for

the en rmerc il heli opter custc nrer At Cess we unve led foLir

new pro uct sparrriirg bob nun jet and piston aircraft business

ar rr ofneriirg in iprrs ave advancrs in spoon ra mm ftc efficier

conrfort and the atsst in av ate tech inlony

hr our iridustria arid drfencc ut losses we saw air eq ally

accelerated pace of rod ret ii ovat GO Ia inctred five new

products for ts gulf arid hnir rg ustor iers Jacobsenr ii troduced

three enhn mncennerts to its turf rr product ne Km tex coiitr tied

to further its next ge it ration fuel syctr mn ci Ureei lee again raised

the aridard for the trade nrdust with product inovat ons that

iake work faster easier and sa or for electr cia arid umbing

ustor mrs At lextrorn Systerris we adva iced the or rformance

of severa of our defense product such as arrmrored vehicles

intelligence alysis software anJ the abi ity of our un na mcd

systems to serve our en intrys ci cI our allies security needs

DRIVING SALES BY GETTING CLOSER TO

THE CUSTOMER AROUND THE WORLD

Ac oss In xtron urn 2012 there ens ar itens ye push to olster our

presence wordwine In our In lustrial busnesses we increased

ntnn mine mverene anti
stnengllnr mci nun dktrihe utnon channels

across the globe to st mu ate higher sales For Gree cc this led

to subsU ntial nrc eases in siles in Asia the Middle act South

America and Lat Anier ca and for Jacobsen to several iou ti

en urse contract wuus in At Bell Helicopter and Cess ra

we rrnprnved our proximity to international istomers openuing

corrrb natior of sales rairntennance pilot trainning arid state

of ths art sew cc centers ii key markets like China Singapore

India Gerrr
arry

Switoerlar arid Spain Partnering with defense

custo runs to trderstand their needs Textron Systems won

rnturnmber of important nnultu year programs with the U.S arrmied

serv ces as well an Ito Canadian Army arid Afghmn Natio al Arr my

CREATING OPPORTUNITIES FOR OUR PEOPLE

hr earl of our isimnesos otnr poop sought curd found crea ivr

ways to build on our powerful hranrds with
sign

ificannt crease

ir mew prodtnct dnvelopme it prograumrs important nrc our

defense bus nesses an expansion of our gIn ha footpr nit

oLin crnmpany provides unimemotus noportunn ties for our people

to grow tnneir teem lea ieaoersh skin wnich tun drives

iron future nccess

Inn 2013 00k to our propne to contirrue their great work in

delivering urnique solutions to in custoreners proftible growth fo

onnr sharelnobders arrd greater opportunities ton all ii our usinesms

SCOTT DONNELLY

Chair ncr arnd Chi 3cc olive Officer



Hel co ter went free an ttan 20 to ii

______
ever nero rr rove 2012 Wc co ito uod to cent

thr livery expectati of iLir itary stor ir

while grov ng err men bin es and glob

vice footpnnt Co op inch to ant
yr

ar revenues

jut ip 21 percent tc nrarly llror prolit ir reasec

perc 3Ci IN

IL lding ion Arong hook
ot

Be co core

waa Of irply 201 we delive ed 188 irc

this year oi
iparr

to for 2011 Ac oss tic itirr cc oem ca

me innovat on vas dr ong Force At tfrc 201 Helicopter

ahon oter itio ide how trodu ed the Be

21 Br mtlc iur ansi cv caine rd ii re coFfer

icao cit in mr cp city md SOf hkticatec ivionics

Pm clm oy 4cc tie a2b is den pried to provide onr is omcr

rot largr
Fr Ic

pter pr ifc rm manc at or di elico to orio cmc

spa ding our UI sale arid cc has Sc her keen cus

ii tic yr mr Ii 012 we perfor nrc numerou dee onstrati tc cr

for th Br 11429 aid lOt irr Lat Am opo Ion

ard tIe ddlc FaA ittr ting
custoirir alor thr Wr

al 3cr mtr etfc rts ni mt or ta it ii irkcts ike di wh rc we

ste SiC mod mew operaticin ore er an lii China where we torn

trateoic nl ii rmanc rid ilc airmen rr lot ore lios

Id mtmonally in partrn ishif th essnr wr ope ied stile of

mrvic ccii or ii Si or hs ad Is to tl or if ny dire id

nob tn cn or fmnilmtics cci

or itary cc fonmr Bell Hell
If

for per or wince ri

upp jing tIe tested rot ire aft for med to ce ed to

grim
cant bclivr in in 212 As the wor Ii on vider of

act vi ly deployed tiltrotor mc tire ogy Ft Bell Be mg mrtncrship

dcl vered 39 V22 to hranrc es of ft U.S armed force tF is

yr ir in increase omi the 34 vred mm 111

Sr rvu our trooA trap ii Afghar in he Ar
my

Kiowa Wr nor fleet ic runs Iatr ci two rimillion flight rs th

nearly 40 pcrce ol ho hours flown in combat To ddress th

aftrit or rites cit th heavily mit aed airc raft Bell wa iwardr

mc contract to eplac arid ef irbist Kiowa Wi iora fiat fI in

tie worlds harc lies battle cc ndmtiorm

It ea custo icr upport II ccx tinues autsl inc

pctmtio earning sevr al no wcnstliy accoladr 201

For tIn 7th onser nti ye ir ration /oternatiori i/ we reader

ratc cm oel nc lieu icr fur ur rat product 10

yr toppmng the cored mr ii ie of the 10 ci egorir ns additi

Profession Ri/c Fr act Bell He mptcr or cusfo

op the .9th on sec citnva yr an

cicopfe erimtt vntirng tie tutor ct

otorcratt br OLin comrr en arid nmrlit my Aonr ens round

tle word ini ph trw prcduntdvr Of it and expaisor

of our gIohl tramnunml ar rvmce centers



hroughout 2012 lext on Systems pursued and

won some of the ar roost sought after defense

contracts with the .5 and ts alles awarding thr

company severe rnulh year contracts for new vehic es

ships un nanned airc aft tectnologies am servces

Or the U.S front Textron Mann and Systems won contract

to dove op the NavyS ShIp to St orc Connecto pro0rari this

development program will lead to the replacement of current

iding craft and wil provide iodernized means for the LI

Navy and Marine Corps to Ian it more than 80 percent of the

world shore nes future year In addition our AAI Unmanned

Aircraft Systeii business won toe for service contracts to provide

aerial intelligeri surve Ilarice id reconnassancc capability for

tie U.S Navy Marl me Corps nd Special Operations Conimand

the U.S Army awarded Unman mcd Arrcraft Systems 358

lion contract for engineering sLipport id upgrades for an

additional 45 new generatori Shadow unmarnel aircraft systems

ihanceni ent will increase he capability of the current

Shadow rcraft which has provr big ily effective tactical

reconnaissance nessiors wth over 800000 flight hours

fextroi Marine La id Systems ontinLed to expand its

ii
ternational customer base as result of new contract awards

including tie Cai adian Forces hi ctical Ar Tmorcd Patrol Velocles

progran with the delivery of 500 velncles spanning two years and

an opt on for 100 more fextror Marine Land Systems was also

selected to bruld an additional 200 Mobile Strike Force Vehicles for

the Afghan National Arrrmy br nging orders ci 2012 to total of

499 with de iveries scfmeduled inmto 2013

Along with multiple co mtract wins we also continued to expand

our product mrs through new prodLict nvestmnents Across

Textro Systems diverse ooerating inits we introduced thm

COMMANDO farruly of am nored vehicles BattleHawk advanred

precision munition and em hanced IMPACT
mntellige ice analys

software We further deve oped our unmanned surfacu vessel

and achievud the succssful first flights of the Shadow M2

signficarrtly larger highenpayload versmori of the RQ 70

Shadow plus delivered numerous assified
moilitart

solutions

Overall key no id ir novations demorstrated tlrroughout 2012

have secured important relationships for Textron Syste mis As we

look into 20 Textron Systems wil renmaimi focused on exccLiti ig

well on recently wr programs and cent nuing to wim rie

oppontun ties in the U.S md beyo md



or 201 Cc na hror pht ci ow ivc or do

to thc gi rc avrahor rrrarkct ai ft sa ca scrv cc

birte krr to cur wato ncr arc or th WO

Even wilt ci nued wnc ftc ea the ftustrv

Ce wna rer aPe war irv ft ver es

1221 nil 201 cor pa to tpea

pif ra ca2 $2 ii

crougt out the year tie cc of product rtro Iucbc us roachcft

ew ugh for wsn in at crrr rrrccft cw airc cer

JPM ada ft axp and ig or product ortfoto xpecte to

cc 01 the Cifa ion Loft itodc row sup in iniaizc th

at peals tc rater coca Ted op iacioua vvol apu uteri interior

ip
to passenecra witi iii tcrio banga ii cpa frrcn

ivtive ergi cc vi ft Thy better eel efficiei cy iy cc jet ii

Ic cftir to 000 riautrcT roil yc Adftrtroi ally icr ev

Crtntic overe
81

cit cute Trircc 20 it fear ft to vrfto

ccrc oft ra cgc
of 3000 itical ciba 12 ri of 58

knots uctegr Ac ci re tic tirr tti ft ho von c1 rat

cc ftrtror to if row je wr rrccc cv tuft cc rop

ar cc pne pi ra 221 he Cr rrr icr

Is on cc lcga ci tic Cia ft cavari by cp cocc bye

ar cnitiea err crc rib ion cc ci pcr ii rccw

craopowT engiic Wi cearco ccc ftc rtuftkva

our pa scr tort don plaice wrt ci cicgir of fur left

ngi
Tic Fr rbcc cyha cc Jf doT nod ftc ccr

pcrce it proc ft em icy rnr ivc ily pov or

nrc arid over p000 rhc OCT of ci

Citatiar iov cpru Tc cg ippic atchy 41
ice

if ft

ti arid anac cu tie ci vior ftwift ia yea

00 celcratc ft ccur ohoba pariaio orta rovifte cc

ctc Tcce to T55 aa ward in acrvic franc In

012 Pc aria cccli cc prr enaivc aiTtorrier vic con Tr ii

or cft oain aric ccqri 12 vice
rn ra ir Doi nsf

DaT aaiaorr Ce cud 7cr

Lo ii ti tic ast OCT rcicred strat 1c rc Ti icr

20 wit Avi at or industry paratiori ft Cii ii fc vi ccp

percera anc bus aviatio Chin to ftntc this ationra

as aroftr icr ft vo it venture invc Icing the in assern

cr sale Cn produc ft for tUe inca ci art of

is at arcs orc al Talc idc ft ccur Tales by cdi Ic

rose ctatives ii icco ii lity lie Asia tic arkc

cit urrgour81 ycar ea aslcadcrcft pfrrea

aviatior ci Icat Cosna ala ceiebrateb sever al sigrcilic in

prod of rotc air rr
20 rn Ii dir our 10 000ti dcliv Try

ft cct tile ifteperifte cc cinsr Ccc ty tic prod iitin

inc O0tir Citat or staug ccl ocrr 00th CAnt in Cit

Aftcit ray tic ao ide itahra frgirta re

arid tfrc Cii tic eclair Tft he trt of c1 iasteT ar

nc rift tic axrr cperatnig oeft Ma 01235

Gornc forward is ccc rat on pr iver cc rU ii inc crnrov cUr

eatarcaion rtn row arIa will osri Ce wia dr Tti

ur Pyaci



INDUSTRIAL BRANDS WERE STRENGTHENED DY NEW

PRODUCTS AND EXPANSION INTO NEW TERRITORIES

hosen by mary ot the worlds top auton akers

golf coursc owners utdoorsmen corrstrucbon

and electrical contraclors our lndustnal businesses

to wsed on bringing new prod cts to irrarket 2012

fucing ir growth ar und the world Collecbvely

these businesses dehverod rever uss of $2.9 billior for 2012

zitl segr ieat prot sing by ce to mcci 21 on

Ir ti light transportation veh cc narket GO onbnued to

broaden ts reach by fi iding new opport in ties acros wide raiige

of appi cabuns ds golf cestomers EL GO ro led oi tthe row

Puwerhi Solar Pane that attac es te the gof car canopy and

lowers re rgy costs by to 21 erce it For nt rrg enthus asts

the company Bad Boy Buggies hra id launched four new products

in 2012 he new Bad Boy Buggi Ambush model ets the driver

switch btwesn silent oloctrc power or the addiho ml range offered

by aa engine so Bad Boy iggies introduced tf rce ew

electrk rood the Recoil Rec ji iS ard lnsbric

On the te rf care side of our bus ness rcobse uba

qu prnent sales were LiP nearly 13 percent ri 2012 Ii the

aid Chh Jacobsen postr record growth with gains

20 arid 90 percent respective New produ 15 for 2012

icluded the ECLIPSE 322 irr wheel dr ye ig greens

ir ower rihanced for ci robing steep ten aim tf La iway range

pro turfs th iniproved cool technology for usc hot

urn ites and thc IrueSe cut rig
urut that saves valu rble

ie Im turf feel

ted States

Europe

Latin Arri Mexico

Asia wit

Our Gree cc profowur al tools business realized doLible
digit

sa es gains in iriarkets like Braz Mex co Russia arid tI dd

ast with nuct of O12 growth driven by product innovation

We lau ched several products for the ectrica utility ci

data comm inication trades where wo kforce cffk iency

pr onity
Oor example our new SPEED PUNC systc ri puncfi

hale mata three em raster tha th traditionc et1iod

Additiona ly we ci ia iced OL battery powerI IntehliCRIMP

systerr to iable greater cri ipeig caoacity arid to make crimping

connections faster id casier

In the automotive market Kautex was awarded several contricts

in 2012 to product fuel systeiris for we respected brands serf

as Arid BMW and Jagu ir evidence tf at our nexCgeiieratio

fuel system es well as our selective ata ytic reduct or systems

are helping LiS to win in the marketplace Also to better meet

the global demand Kautex added production develupnient ar

validation centers China Lurupo and North ArTier ca tu it

network of plants close ta automrrakors in Asia Europe and

North Arrierica

As world economiex cont nrue to recover Textrons lrrdustri

businesses are we positnorned to meet cu to ncr mds thi

powertLi brands arid fferentiated products For 2013 we plan

to ark prodLiction sa es and distribution power to ocr lndustr al

businesses addressing our custorniers needs around the irid
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tIc Unite St itt nc Export 11ev lop cren ad Dir ad ty tr
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rc acing tnt ort or irSi me mr ten iatmnm wt
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ootnote to See ted YearOver Year inancia Data

1We use Manufacturing cash flow before pension coriti buttons as our measure of free cash flow Ihis mecsure is not financial measure ider

generally accepted accounting pri ic iples CAAP and should be uced in conjunction with GAAP cash mc asures provided in cur Con mlidated

Statement of Cash lOWS ice ca flow is nmasurc generally used by investc rs analysts and management to gauge company ability

to geneiate cash from operation in excess ol that necessery to be rcnivested to sustain and grow the business and fund its ob gations Ou

definition of Manufacturing cash flow before pension contributions adjusts net rash fioni operating activities of co itinuirig operations for

dividends received rom TFC capital contributions provided under the Support Agreement capital expenditures proceeds frcm the silo of

property plant and equipmer and contr butions to our pension olans We believe that our calculation provides relevant ceasure of liquidity

and is useful basis to assessing our ability tc find operations arid obligations This neasuie may not be comparable with similarly titled

measures reported by other companies as there is no defimotivc accounti
ig

standard on how tIle measura should be calculated reconciliation

of net cash from oper ting activities of continuing operations as presente din our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows to Manufacturing cash

flow before pcn.on co it bu1iom is provided below

truer IIIIIJ
Net cash from opemting activities of continuing operations

CASP 958 lb

Less Capital expenditures
480 4a

Dividends eceived Irom If
345 jlq

Plus
Capital

contributions to IC 240 18

Proceeds on sal of property p1 in and equip sent 15 hI

Tot il pension contributiors
64

Manufacturing cash flow before pcrsiori co itnibutwns Non CAAP 793 OdD

FORK 1OK TAOLE OF COHIENTS

Business Summary

Ma rage rents Dissussion and Analysis
19

Segme it Aria ysru
21

Frrrarrcral State oeits 40

Contra mid Procedures 04

92

10
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PART

Item Business

Textron Inc is multi-industry company that leverages its global network of aircraft defense industrial and finance businesses to

provide customers with innovative products and services around the world We have approximately 33000 employees worldwide

Textron Inc was founded in 1923 and reincorporated in Delaware on July 31 1967 Unless otherwise indicated references to

Textron Inc the Company we our and us in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refer to Textron Inc and its

consolidated subsidiaries

We conduct our business through five operating segments Cessna Bell Textron Systems and Industrial which represent our

manufacturing businesses and Finance which represents our finance business description of the business of each of our

segments is set forth below Our business segments include operations that are unincorporated divisions of Textron Inc and others

that are separately incorporated subsidiaries Financial information by business segment and geographic area appears in Note 17

to the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 80 through 81 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K The following description

of our business should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations on pages 19 through 38 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K Information included in this Annual Report on Form

10-K refers to our continuing businesses unless otherwise indicated

Cessna Segment

Cessna is the worlds leading general aviation company based on unit sales with two principal lines of business Aircraft sales and

aftermarket services Aircraft sales include Citation jets Caravan single-engine utility turboprops single-engine piston aircraft

and lift solutions by CitationAir Aflermarket services include parts maintenance inspection and repair services Revenues in the

Cessna segment accounted for approximately 25% 26% and 24% of our total revenues in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Revenues for Cessnas principal lines of business were as follows

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Aircraft sales 2318 2263 1896

Aftermarket 793 727 667

3111 2990 2563

The family ofjets currently produced by Cessna includes the Mustang Citation CJ2 Citation CJ3 Citation CJ4 Citation XLS
Citation Sovereign and Citation Deliveries of the Citation M2 are expected to begin in the second half of 2013 and Cessna

anticipates receiving certification and beginning delivery of the new Citation model with updated design and performance from

the original Citation in late 2013 During 2012 Cessna announced the development of the Citation Longitude super midsize

business jet expected to enter into service in 2017 as well as the new Citation Sovereign an upgraded midsize business jet planned

for late 2013 entry into service In addition Cessna increased the range for the previously announced Citation Latitude to 2500

nautical miles this aircraft is expected to enter into service in 2015

The Cessna Caravan is the worlds best-selling utility turboprop Caravans are used in the United States primarily for overnight

express package shipments and for personal transportation International uses of Caravans include humanitarian flights tourism

and freight transport Cessna also offers single-engine piston product line which includes the Skycatcher Skyhawk SP Skylane

Stationair and the Corvalis TTX The Turbo Skylane JT-A was announced in 2012 with deliveries expected to begin in 2013

The Citation family of aircraft currently is supported by 15 Citation Service Centers owned or operated by Cessna two of which

are co-located with Bell Helicopter along with authorized independent service stations and centers located in more than 25

countries throughout the world Cessna-owned Service Centers provide customers with 24-hour service and maintenance Cessna

also provides around-the-clock parts support for Citation aircraft Cessna offers an array of service options for Citation aircraft

known as SERVICEDIRECT which delivers service capabilities directly to customer locations with Mobile Service Unit fleet

of 22 vehicles in the United States Canada and Europe Cessna Caravan and single-engine piston customers receive product

support through independently owned service stations and around-the-clock parts support through Cessna

Cessna markets its products worldwide through its own sales force as well as through network of authorized independent sales

representatives Cessna has several competitors domestically and internationally in various market segments Cessnas aircraft

compete with other aircraft that vary in size speed range capacity and handling characteristics on the basis of price product

quality and reliability product support and reputation

CitationAir provides spectrum of private aviation lift solutions including Jet Charter Jet Management and Corporate Solutions

throughout the contiguous U.S and in Canada Mexico the Caribbean the Bahamas and Bermuda
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Bell Segment

Bell Helicopter is one of the leading suppliers of military and commercial helicopters tiltrotor aircraft and related spare parts and

services in the world Revenues for Bell accounted for approximately 35% 31% and 31% of our total revenues in 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively Revenues by Bells principal lines of business were as follows

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Military

V-22 Program 1611 1380 1155

Other Military 940 919 845

Commercial 1723 1226 1241

4274 3525 3241

Bell supplies advanced military helicopters and support to the U.S Government and to military customers outside the United

States Bells primary U.S Government programs are the V-22 tiltrotor aircraft and the H-I helicopters Bell is one of the leading

suppliers of helicopters to the U.S Government and in association with The Boeing Company Boeing the only supplier of

military tiltrotor aircraft Tiltrotor aircraft are designed to provide the benefits of both helicopters and fixed-wing aircraft

Through its strategic alliance with Boeing Bell produces and supports the V-22 tiltrotor aircraft for the U.S Department of

Defense DoD The U.S Marine Corps H-i helicopter program includes utility model and an advanced attack model the UH
lY and the AH-1Z respectively which have 84% parts commonality between them Bell also continues to support the OH-58D

Kiowa Warrior helicopter

Through its commercial business Bell is leading supplier of commercially certified helicopters and support to corporate

offshore petroleum exploration and development utility charter police fire rescue emergency medical helicopter operators and

foreign governments Bell produces variety of commercial aircraft types including light single- and twin-engine helicopters and

medium twin-engine helicopters along with other related products The helicopters currently offered by Bell for commercial

applications include the 206L-4 407 407GX 412 429 and Huey II Bells 525 Relentless its first super medium commercial

helicopter is currently in development with projected first flight in 2014

For both its military programs and its commercial products Bell provides post-sale support and service for its installed base of

approximately 13000 helicopters through network of Bell-operated service sites service facilities co-located with Cessna 108

independent service centers and six supply centers that are located worldwide Collectively these service sites offer complete

range of logistics support including parts support equipment technical data training devices pilot and maintenance training

component repair and overhaul engine repair and overhaul aircraft modifications aircraft customizing accessory manufacturing

contractor maintenance field service and product support engineering

Bell competes against number of competitors throughout the world for its helicopter business and its parts and support business

Competition is based primarily on price product quality and reliability product support performance and reputation

Textron Systems Segment

Textron Systems product lines consist of unmanned aircraft systems land and marine systems weapons and sensors and variety

of defense and aviation mission support products and services Textron Systems is supplier to the defense aerospace homeland

security and general aviation markets and represents approximately 14% 17% and 19% of Textrons revenues in 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively While this segment sells most of its products to U.S Government customers it also sells products to

customers outside the U.S through foreign military sales sponsored by the U.S Government and directly through commercial

sales channels Textron Systems competes on the basis of technology contract performance price product quality and reliability

product support and reputation Revenues by Textron Systems product lines were as follows

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Unmanned Aircraft Systems 694 701 785

Land and Marine Systems 443 519 503

Weapons and Sensors 285 298 284

Mission Support and Other 315 354 407

1737 1872 1979
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Unmanned Aircraft Systems

Unmanned Aircraft Systems UAS consists of the AAI UAS and AAI Logistics Technical Services businesses AAI UAS has

designed manufactured and fielded combat-proven unmanned aircraft systems for more than 25 years including the U.S Armys

premier tactical UAS the Shadow AAI UASs unmanned aircraft and interoperable command and control technologies provide

critical situational awareness and actionable intelligence for users worldwide AAI Logistics Technical Services provides

logistical support for various unmanned aircraft systems as well as training and supply chain services to government and

commercial customers worldwide

Land and Marine Systems

The Land and Marine Systems business is operated as Textron Marine Land Systems TMLS TMLS is world leader in the

design production and support of armored vehicles turrets and related subsystems as well as advanced marine craft TMLS

produces family of extremely mobile highly protective vehicles for the U.S Army and international allies

Weapons and Sensors

The Weapons and Sensors business is operated as Textron Defense Systems TDS This business consists of state-of-the-art

smart weapons airborne and ground-based sensors and surveillance systems and protection systems for the defense aerospace

and homeland security communities TDS is the U.S Air Forces prime contractor for the Sensor Fuzed Weapon and the U.S

Armys lead provider for networked munitions systems

Mission Support and Other

Mission Support and Other includes three businesses AAI Test Training Lycoming and Textron Systems Advanced Systems

AAI Test Training provides training and simulation systems and automated aircraft test and maintenance equipment Lycoming

specializes in the engineering manufacture service and support of piston aircraft engines for the general aviation and remotely

piloted aircraft markets Textron Systems Advanced Systems brings together cutting-edge technologies and innovations including

intelligence software solutions for U.S and international defense intelligence and law enforcement communities through its

Overwatch business

Industrial Segment

Our Industrial segment designs and manufactures variety of products under three principal product lines Industrial segment

revenues were as follows

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Fuel Systems and Functional Components 1842 1823 1640

Golf Turf Care and Light Transportation Vehicles 660 560 554

Powered Tools Testing and Measurement Equipment -__________
398 402 330

2900 2785 2524

Fuel Systems and Functional Components

Our Fuel Systems and Functional Components product line is operated by our Kautex business unit which is headquartered in

Bonn Germany Kautex is leading developer and manufacturer of blow-molded plastic fuel systems for cars light trucks all-

terrain vehicles windshield and headlamp washer systems for automobiles and selective catalytic reduction systems used to reduce

emissions from diesel engines Kautex serves the global automobile market with operating facilities near its major customers

around the world In addition Kautex produces cast iron engine camshafts in North America From facilities in Germany and

Poland Kautex develops and produces plastic bottles and containers for food household laboratory and industrial uses Revenues

of Kautex accounted for approximately 15% 16% and 16% of our total revenues in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Our automotive products have several major competitors worldwide some of which are affiliated with the original equipment

manufacturers that comprise our targeted customer base Competition typically is based on number of factors including price

technology environmental performance product quality and reliability prior experience and available manufacturing capacity

Golf Turf Care and Light Transportation Vehicles

Our Golf Turf Care and Light Transportation Vehicles product line includes the products designed manufactured and sold by our

E-Z-GO and Jacobsen business units E-Z-GO designs manufactures and sells golf cars off-road utility vehicles and light

transportation vehicles under the E-Z-GO Cushman and Bad Boy Buggies brand names Although E-Z-GO is best known for its

electric-vehicle technology it also manufactures and sells models powered by internal combustion engines E-Z-GOs diversified

customer base includes golf courses and resorts government agencies and municipalities consumers and commercial and

industrial users such as factories warehouses airports and educational and corporate campuses Sales are made through

combination of factory direct resources and network of independent distributors and dealers worldwide E-Z-GO has two major

competitors for golf cars and several other competitors for off-road and light transportation vehicles Competition is based
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primarily on price product quality and reliability product support and reputation

Jacobsen designs manufactures and sells professional turf-maintenance equipment as well as specialized turf-care vehicles

Brand names include Ransomes Jacobsen and Cushman Jacobsens customers include golf courses resort communities sporting

venues and municipalities Products are sold primarily through worldwide network of distributors and dealers as well as factory

direct Jacobsen has two major competitors for professional turf-maintenance equipment and several other major competitors for

specialized turf-care products Competition is based primarily on price product features product quality and reliability and

product support

Powered Tools Testing and Measurement Equipment

Our Greenlee business unit designs and manufactures powered equipment electrical test and measurement instruments

mechanical and hydraulic tools cable connectors and fiber optic assemblies under the Greenlee Klauke Paladin Tools and

Tempo brand names These products are used principally in the construction maintenance telecommunications data

communications utility and plumbing industries Greenlee distributes its products through global network of sales

representatives and distributors and also sells its products directly to home improvement retailers and original equipment

manufacturers Through joint ventures in North America and China Greenlee also sells its products to the plumbing industrial

manufacturing and related industries Greenlee faces competition from numerous manufacturers based primarily on price delivery

lead time product quality and reliability

Finance Segment

Our Finance segment or the Finance group is commercial finance business that consists of Textron Financial Corporation TFC
and its consolidated subsidiaries along with three other finance subsidiaries owned by Textron Inc In the fourth quarter of 2008

we announced plan to exit the non-captive portion of the commercial finance business of our Finance segment while retaining the

captive portion of the business that supports customer purchases of products that we manufacture The non-captive portion of this

business is based primarily in North America and includes the following product lines Golf Mortgage Timeshare and Structured

Capital The exit plan is being effected through combination of orderly liquidation and selected sales During 2012 we reduced

our total finance receivable portfolio by $821 million primarily through liquidations We expect to liquidate the majority of the

remaining $370 million in the non-captive portfolio over the next two years

Our Finance segment continues to originate new customer relationships and finance receivables in the captive finance business

which provides financing primarily for new Cessna aircraft and Bell helicopters and to limited extent for new E-Z-GO and

Jacobsen equipment We also provide financing to purchasers of pre-owned Cessna aircraft and Bell helicopters on limited basis

The majority of new finance receivables are cross-border transactions for aircraft sold outside of the United States New

originations in the U.S are primarily for purchasers who had difficulty in accessing other sources of financing for the purchase of

Textron-manufactured products

In 2012 2011 and 2010 our Finance group paid our Manufacturing group $309 million $284 million and $416 million

respectively related to the sale of Textron-manufactured products to third parties that were financed by the Finance group Our

Cessna and Industrial segments also received proceeds in those
years

of $19 million $2 million and $10 million respectively

from the sale of equipment from their manufacturing operations to our Finance group for use under operating lease agreements

The commercial finance business traditionally is extremely competitive Our Finance segment is subject to competition from

various types of financing institutions including banks leasing companies commercial finance companies and finance operations

of equipment vendors Competition within the commercial finance industry primarily is focused on price term structure and

service

Our Finance segments largest business risk is the collectability of its finance receivable portfolio See Finance Portfolio

Quality in Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations on page 30 for

discussion of the credit quality of this portfolio
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Backlog

Our backlog at the end of 2012 and 2011 is summarized below

December 29 December 31

2012 2011
In millions

U.S Government

Bell 6382 6507

Textron Systems 2037 1145

Cessna 45

Total U.S Government backlog 8419 7697

Commercial

Bell 1087 839

Cessna 1062 1844

Textron Systems 882 192

Industrial 13 37

Total commercial backlog 3044 2912

Total 11463 10609

Approximately 56% of our total backlog at December 29 2012 represents orders that are not expected to be filled in 2013 Orders

from Cessna customers which cover wide spectrum of industries and individuals worldwide are included in backlog when the

customer enters into definitive purchase agreement and the initial customer deposit is received We work with our customers to

provide estimated delivery dates which may be adjusted based on customer needs or our production schedule but do not establish

definitive delivery dates until approximately six months before expected delivery There is considerable uncertainty as to when or

whether backlog will convert to revenues as the conversion depends on production capacity customer needs and credit

availability these factors also may be impacted by the economy and public perceptions of private corporate jet usage While

backlog is an indicator of future revenues we cannot reasonably estimate the year
each order in backlog ultimately will result in

revenues and cash flows Orders remain in backlog until the aircraft is delivered or upon cancellation by the customer Upon

cancellation deposits are used to defray costs including remarketing fees cost to reconfigure the aircraft and other costs incurred

as result of the cancellation Remaining deposits if any may be retained or refunded at our discretion

Backlog with the U.S Government in the above table includes only funded amounts as the U.S Government is obligated only up

to the amount of funding formally appropriated for contract Bells backlog includes $3.1 billion related to multi-year

procurement contract with the U.S Government for the purchase of V-22 tiltrotor aircraft

U.S Government Contracts

In 2012 approximately 29% of our consolidated revenues were generated by or resulted from contracts with the U.S Government

This business is subject to competition changes in procurement policies and regulations the continuing availability of funding

which is dependent upon congressional appropriations national and international priorities for defense spending world events and

the size and timing of programs in which we may participate

Our contracts with the U.S Government generally may be terminated by the U.S Government for convenience or if we default in

whole or in part by failing to perform under the terms of the applicable contract If the U.S Government terminates contract for

convenience we normally will be entitled to payment for the cost of contract work performed before the effective date of

termination including if applicable reasonable profit on such work as well as reasonable termination costs If however the U.S

Government terminates contract for default generally we will be paid the contract price for completed supplies delivered and

accepted and services rendered an agreed-upon amount for manufacturing materials delivered and accepted and for the protection

and preservation of property and an amount for partially completed products accepted by the U.S Government the U.S

Government may not be liable for our costs with respect to unaccepted items and may be entitled to repayment of advance

payments and progress payments related to the terminated portions of the contract the U.S Government may not be liable for

assets we own and utilize to provide services under the fee-for-service contracts and we may be liable for excess costs

incurred by the U.S Government in procuring undelivered items from another source

Research and Development

Information regarding our research and development expenditures is contained in Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

on page 54 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Patents and Trademarks

We own or are licensed under numerous patents throughout the world relating to products services and methods of

manufacturing Patents developed while under contract with the U.S Government may be subject to use by the U.S Government

We also own or license active trademark registrations and pending trademark applications in the U.S and in various foreign

countries or regions as well as trade names and service marks While our intellectual property rights in the aggregate are important

to the operation of our business we do not believe that any existing patent license trademark or other intellectual property right is

of such importance that its loss or termination would have material adverse effect on our business taken as whole Some of

these trademarks trade names and service marks are used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other reports including

Aeronautical Accessories AAI ACAlert Aerosonde AH-1Z Ambush Arc Horizon Bad Boy Buggies BattleHawk Bell Bell

Helicopter Bravo Cadillac Gage Caravan Caravan Amphibian Caravan 675 Cessna Cessna 350 Cessna 400 Cessna Corvalis

TTX Cessna Turbo Skylane JT-A Citation CitationAir CitationAir Jetcard Citation Encore Citation Latitude Citation

Longitude Citation M2 Citation Sovereign Citation TEN Citation Citation XLS CJ1 CJ2 CJ3 CJ4 dainty CLAW
Commando Corvalis Cushman Eclipse Excel E-Z-GO Gator Grips Grand Caravan Greenlee H-l Huey Huey II

iCommand 1E2 Instinct Integrated Command Suite Jacobsen Kautex Kiowa Warrior Klauke Lycoming Ml 17 ASV
McCauley Millenworks Mustang Next Generation Fuel System NGFS On Mission Overwatch PDCue Power Advantage

Pro-Fit ProParts Ransomes Recoil Relentless Rothenberger LLC RXV Sensor Fuzed Weapon ServiceDirect Shadow
Shadow Knight Shadow Master SkyBOOKS Skycatcher Skyhawk Skyhawk SP Skylane SkyPLUS Sovereign Speed Punch

Stationair ST 4X4 Super Cargomaster Super Medium SuperCobra SYMTX TDCue Textron Textron Defense Systems

Textron Financial Corporation Textron Marine Land Systems Textron Systems TrueSet Turbo Skylane Turbo Stationair

UH-1Y V-22 Osprey 2FIVE 206 407 407GT 407GX 412 429 525 and 525 Relentless These marks and their related

trademark designs and logotypes and variations of the foregoing are trademarks trade names or service marks of Textron Inc its

subsidiaries affiliates or joint ventures

Environmental Considerations

Our operations are subject to numerous laws and regulations designed to protect the environment Compliance with these laws and

expenditures for environmental control facilities has not had material effect on our capital expenditures earnings or competitive

position Additional information regarding environmental matters is contained in Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements on page 79 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

We do not believe that existing or pending climate change legislation regulation or international treaties or accords are reasonably

likely to have material effect in the foreseeable future on our business or markets nor on our results of operations capital

expenditures or financial position We will continue to monitor emerging developments in this area

Employees

At December 29 2012 we had approximately 33000 employees

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth certain information concerning our executive officers as of February 15 2013

Name Age Current Position with Textron Inc

Scott Donnelly 51 Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer

Frank Connor 53 Executive Vice President and ChiefFinancial Officer

Cheryl Johnson 52 Executive Vice President Human Resources

Robert Lupone 53 Executive Vice President General Counsel Secretary and Chief

Compliance Officer

Mr Donnelly joined Textron in June 2008 as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer and was promoted to President

and Chief Operating Officer in January 2009 He was appointed to the Board of Directors in October 2009 and became Chief

Executive Officer of Textron in December 2009 at which time the Chief Operating Officer position was eliminated In July 2010

Mr Donnelly was appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors effective September 2010 Previously Mr Donnelly was the

President and CEO of General Electric Companys Aviation business unit position he had held since July 2005 GEs Aviation

business unit is $16 billion maker of commercial and military jet engines and components as well as integrated digital electric

power and mechanical systems for aircraft Prior to July 2005 Mr Donnelly served as Senior Vice President of GE Global

Research one of the worlds largest and most diversified industrial research organizations with facilities in the U.S India China

and Germany and held various other management positions since joining General Electric in 1989
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Mr Connor joined Textron in August 2009 as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Previously Mr Connor was

head of Telecom Investment Banking at Goldman Sachs Co from 2003 to 2008 Prior to that position he served as Chief

Operating Officer of Telecom Technology and Media Investment Banking at Goldman Sachs from 1998 to 2003 Mr Connor

joined the Corporate Finance Department of Goldman Sachs in 1986 and became Vice President in 1990 and Managing

Director in 1996

Ms Johnson was named Executive Vice President Human Resources in July 2012 Ms Johnson joined Textron in 1996 and has

held various human resources leadership positions across Textrons businesses including Senior Human Resources Business

Partner for Greenlee and Vice President of Human Resources for E-Z-GO position she held from 2006 until joining Bell in

2009 At Bell she most recently served as Director of Talent and Organizational Development Prior to Textron Ms Johnson

held roles in human resources marketing and sales and finance disciplines at several organizations including IBM and Hamilton

Sundstrand United Technologies Company

Mr Lupone joined Textron in February 2012 as Executive Vice President General Counsel Secretary and Chief Compliance

Officer Previously he was senior vice president and general counsel of Siemens Corporation U.S since 1999 and general

counsel of Siemens AG for the Americas since 2008 Prior to joining Siemens in 1992 Mr Lupone was vice president and

general counsel of Price Communications Corporation

Available Information

We make available free of charge on our Internet Web site www.textron.com our Annual Report on Form 10-K Quarterly

Reports on Form 10-Q Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a

or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with or

furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission

Forward-Looking Information

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other oral and written statements made by us from time to time are

forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 These forward-looking

statements which may describe strategies goals outlook or other non-historical matters or project revenues income returns or

other financial measures often include words such as believe expect anticipate intend plan estimate guidance

project target potential will should could likely or may and similar expressions intended to identify forward-

looking statements These statements are only predictions and involve known and unknown risks uncertainties and other factors

that may cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements Given

these uncertainties you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements Forward-looking statements speak

only as of the date on which they are made and we undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements in

addition to those factors described herein under RISK FACTORS among the factors that could cause actual results to differ

materially from past and projected future results are the following

Changing priorities or reductions in the U.S Government defense budget including those related to military operations in

foreign countries

Our ability to perform as anticipated and to control costs under contracts with the U.S Government

The U.S Governments ability to unilaterally modify or terminate its contracts with us for its convenience or for our

failure to perform to change applicable procurement and accounting policies or under certain circumstances to withhold

payment or suspend or debar us as contractor eligible to receive future contract awards

Changes in foreign military funding priorities or budget constraints and determinations or changes in government

regulations or policies on the export and import of military and commercial products

Volatility in the global economy or changes in worldwide political conditions that adversely impact demand for our

products

Volatility in interest rates or foreign exchange rates

Risks related to our international business including establishing and maintaining facilities in locations around the world

and relying on joint venture partners subcontractors suppliers representatives consultants and other business partners in

connection with international business including in emerging market countries

Our Finance segments ability to maintain portfolio credit quality or to realize full value of receivables and of assets

acquired upon foreclosure of receivables

Performance issues with key suppliers or subcontractors

Legislative or regulatory actions both domestic and foreign impacting our operations or demand for our products

Our ability to control costs and successfully implement various cost-reduction activities

The efficacy of research and development investments to develop new products or unanticipated expenses in connection

with the launching of significant new products or programs

The timing of our new product launches or certifications of our new aircraft products
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Our ability to keep pace with our competitors in the introduction of new products and upgrades with features and

technologies desired by our customers

Increases in pension expense or employee and retiree medical benefits

Difficult conditions in the financial markets which may adversely impact our customers ability to fund or finance

purchases of our products and

Continued demand softness or volatility in the markets in which we do business

Item 1A RISK FACTORS

Our business financial condition and results of operations are subject to various risks including those discussed below which may
affect the value of our securities The risks discussed below are those that we believe currently are the most significant to our

business

We have customer concentration with the U.S Government reduction in U.S Government defense spending may adversely

affect our results of operations and financial condition

During 2012 we derived approximately 29% of our revenues from sales to variety of U.S Government entities Our revenues

from the U.S Government largely result from contracts awarded to us under various U.S Government defense-related programs

The funding of these programs is subject to congressional appropriation decisions Although multiple-year contracts may be

planned in connection with major procurements Congress generally appropriates funds on fiscal year basis even though

program may continue for several years Consequently programs often are only partially funded initially and additional funds are

committed only as Congress makes further appropriations If we incur costs in excess of funds committed on contract we are

more at risk for non-reimbursement of those costs until additional funds are appropriated The reduction or termination of funding

or changes in the timing of funding for U.S Government programs in which we currently provide or propose to provide products

or services would result in reduction or loss of anticipated future revenues and could materially and adversely impact our results

of operations and financial condition Significant changes in national and international priorities for defense spending could impact

the funding or the timing of funding of our programs which could negatively impact our results of operations and financial

condition

Mounting pressure for U.S Government deficit reduction and reduced national spending have created an environment where

national security spending is being closely examined In August 2011 Congress passed the Budget Control Act of 2011 which

committed the U.S Government to significantly reduce the federal deficit over ten years Under this Act very substantial

automatic spending cuts known as sequestration including approximately $600 billion in cuts to the U.S defense budget over

nine year period are scheduled to be triggered beginning in 2013 In addition the nations debt ceiling is currently expected to be

reached during the first half of 2013 Congress and the Administration continue to debate how the nation should proceed on these

issues The outcome of that debate could have significant impact on future defense spending plans As result long-term

funding for various programs in which we participate as well as future purchasing decisions by our U.S Government customers

could be reduced delayed or cancelled In addition these cuts could adversely affect the viability of the suppliers and

subcontractors under our programs

There are many variables in how the sequester could be implemented that make it difficult to determine specific impacts however

we expect that sequestration as currently provided for under the Budget Control Act would result in lower revenues profits and

cash flows for our company Such circumstances may also result in an impairment of our goodwill and intangible assets Because

our Government contracts generally require us to continue to perform even if the U.S Government is unable to make timely

payments if the debt ceiling is not raised and as result the U.S Government does not pay us on timely basis we would need

to finance our continued performance of the impacted contracts from our available cash resources credit facilities and/or access to

the capital markets if available An extended delay in the timely payment by the U.S Government could result in material

adverse effect on our cash flows earnings and financial condition

U.S Government contracts may be terminated at any time and may contain other unfavorable provisions

The U.S Government typically can terminate or modify any of its contracts with us either for its convenience or if we default by

failing to perform under the terms of the applicable contract In the event of termination for the U.S Governments convenience

contractors are generally protected by provisions covering reimbursement for costs incurred on the contracts and profit on those

costs but not the anticipated profit that would have been earned had the contract been completed termination arising out of our

default for failure to perform could expose us to liability including but not limited to liability for re-procurement costs in excess
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of the total original contract amount net of the value of work performed and accepted by the customer under the contract Such

an event could also have an adverse effect on our ability to compete for future contracts and orders If any of our contracts are

terminated by the U.S Government whether for convenience or default our backlog and anticipated revenues would be reduced by

the expected value of the remaining work under such contracts We also enter into fee for service contracts with the U.S

Government where we retain ownership of and consequently the risk of loss on aircraft and equipment supplied to perform under

these contracts Termination of these contracts for convenience or default could materially and adversely impact our results of

operations On contracts for which we are teamed with others and are not the prime contractor the U.S Government could

terminate prime contract under which we are subcontractor irrespective of the quality of our products and services as

subcontractor In addition U.S Government contracts generally require the contractor to continue to perform on contract even if

the U.S Government is unable to make timely payments failure to continue contract performance places the contractor at risk of

termination for default Any such event could result in material adverse effect on our cash flows results of operations and

financial condition

As U.S Government contractor we are subject to procurement rules and regulations as well as changes in the Department of

Defrnse DoD acquisition practices

We must comply with and are affected by laws and regulations relating to the formation administration and performance of U.S

Government contracts These laws and regulations among other things require certification and disclosure of all cost and pricing

data in connection with contract negotiation define allowable and unallowable costs and otherwise govern our right to

reimbursement under certain cost-based U.S Government contracts and restrict the use and dissemination of classified

information and the exportation of certain products and technical data Our U.S Government contracts contain provisions that

allow the U.S Government to unilaterally suspend or debar us from receiving new contracts for period of time reduce the value

of existing contracts issue modifications to contract and control and potentially prohibit the export of our products services and

associated materials number of our U.S Government contracts contain provisions that require us to make disclosure to the

Inspector General of the agency that is our customer if we have credible evidence that we have violated U.S criminal laws

involving fraud conflict of interest or bribery the U.S civil False Claims Act or received significant overpayment under U.S

Government contract Failure to properly and timely disclose may result in termination for default or cause suspension and/or

debarment and potential fines

In 2010 the DoD issued guidance to its acquisition workforce to obtain greater efficiency and productivity in defense spending

through an initiative known as the Better Buying Power Initiative The DoD has announced that an updated initiative to be

known as Better Buying Power 2.0 will be launched in early 2013 These efforts may significantly affect the contracting

environment in which we do business with our DoD customers and could have significant impact on current programs as well as

new business opportunities Changes to the DoD acquisition system and contracting models could affect whether and if so how

we pursue
certain opportunities and the terms under which we are able to do so

As U.S Government contractor our businesses and systems are subject to audit and review by the Defrnse Contract Audit

Agency DCAA and the Defrnse Contract Management Agency DCMA
We operate in highly regulated environment and are routinely audited and reviewed by the U.S Government and its agencies

such as DCAA and DCMA These agencies review our performance under our contracts our cost structure and our compliance

with laws and regulations applicable to U.S Government contractors The systems
that are subject to review include but are not

limited to our accounting estimating material management and accounting earned value management purchasing and

government property systems If an audit uncovers improper or illegal activities we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties

and administrative sanctions that may include the termination of our contracts forfeiture of profits suspension of payments fines

and under certain circumstances suspension or debarment from future contracts for period of time Whether or not illegal

activities are alleged the U.S Government also has the ability to decrease or withhold certain payments when it deems systems

subject to its review to be inadequate These laws and regulations affect how we conduct business with our customers and in

some instances impose added costs on our business

Cost overruns on U.S Government contracts could subject us to losses or adversely affrct our future business

Under fixed-price contracts as general rule we receive fixed price irrespective of the actual costs we incur and consequently

any costs in excess of the fixed price are absorbed by us Changes in underlying assumptions circumstances or estimates used in

developing the pricing for such contracts may adversely affect our results of operations Under time and materials contracts we are

paid for labor at negotiated hourly billing rates and for certain expenses Under cost-reimbursement contracts which are subject to

contract-ceiling amount we are reimbursed for allowable costs and paid fee which may be fixed or performance based

However if our costs exceed the contract ceiling or are not allowable under the provisions of the contract or applicable

regulations we may not be able to obtain reimbursement for all such costs Under each type of contract if we are unable to control

costs we incur in performing under the contract our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected Cost

overruns also may adversely affect our ability to sustain existing programs and obtain future contract awards
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Weak demand for our aircraft products may continue to adversely affect our financial results

As result of the continued worldwide economic softness we have experienced continued weak demand for our fixed-wing

aircraft particularly our business jets Soft demand for new and pre-owned jets could persist and could continue to adversely

impact the pricing of new jets and the valuation of pre-owned jets We have accepted higher proportion of trade-ins of pre-owned

jets in order to sell new jets and we are winding down our fractional business jet ownership business These two factors have

increased our inventory of pre-owned jets

Concerns regarding the financial stability of certain Eurozone countries the overall stability of the euro and the suitability of the

euro as single currency may have an adverse impact on financial institutions and capital markets in Europe and globally which

could impede the ability of our customers to obtain financing to purchase our jets and helicopters and further reduce demand for

our products In addition both U.S and foreign governments and government agencies regulate the aviation industry they may
impose new regulations with additional aircraft security or other requirements or restrictions including for example restrictions

and/or fees related to carbon emissions levels that may adversely impact demand for jets and/or helicopters prolonged weakness

in the markets for our commercial aircraft products could adversely impact our results of operations and our future prospects

Difficult economic conditions could continue to affect the performance of our Finance segment and our losses may increase if

we are unable to successfully collect our finance receivables or realize sufficient value from collateraL

The financial performance of our Finance segment depends on the quality of loans leases and other assets in its finance asset

portfolios Portfolio quality may be adversely affected by several factors including finance receivable underwriting procedures

collateral value geographic or industry concentrations and the effect of general economic conditions on our customers

businesses The performance of our liquidating non-captive finance receivable portfolios may be adversely affected by other

variables including changes in our liquidation strategy and changes in external factors affecting the value and/or marketability of

our assets Valuations of the types of collateral securing our captive finance portfolio particularly valuations of pre-owned aircraft

have decreased over the past several years and may continue to decrease if weak economic conditions continue Declining

collateral values could result in greater delinquencies credit losses and foreclosures if customers elect to discontinue payments on

loan balances that exceed asset values or in the case of assets in our liquidating portfolios if they are unable to obtain alternative

sources of financing at loan maturity Bankruptcy proceedings involving our borrowers may prevent or delay our ability to

exercise our rights and remedies and realize the full value of our collateral Significant delay or difficulty in executing the

continued liquidation of our liquidating portfolios and/or substantial losses in any of our finance asset portfolios could negatively

impact the ability of our Finance segment to generate the cash necessary to service its debt resulting in adverse effects on our cash

flow profitability and financial condition

We may need to obtain financing in the future such financing may not be available to us on satisfactoiy terms at all

We may periodically need to obtain financing in order to meet our debt obligations as they come due and/or to support our

operations Although we currently have access to the capital markets our access and the cost of borrowings is affected by

number of factors including market conditions and the strength of our credit ratings If we cannot obtain adequate sources of credit

on favorable terms or at all our business operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected

Our ability to fund our captive financing activities at economically competitive levels depends on our ability to borrow and the

cost of borrowing in the credit markets

Our Finance segments ability to continue to offer customer financing for the products that we manufacture and the long-term

viability and profitability of the captive finance business is largely dependent on our ability to obtain funding and at reasonable

cost both of which are dependent on number of factors including market conditions and our credit ratings If we are unable to

continue to offer customer financing or if we are unable to offer competitive customer financing it could negatively impact our

Manufacturing groups ability to generate sales which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition

Failure to perform by our subcontractors or suppliers could adversely affrct our performance

We rely on other companies to provide raw materials major components and subsystems for our products Subcontractors also

perform services that we provide to our customers in certain circumstances We depend on these suppliers and subcontractors to

meet our contractual obligations to our customers and conduct our operations

Our ability to meet our obligations to our customers may be adversely affected if suppliers or subcontractors do not provide the

agreed-upon supplies or perform the agreed-upon services in compliance with customer requirements and in timely and cost-

effective manner Likewise the quality of our products may be adversely impacted if companies to whom we delegate

manufacture of major components or subsystems for our products or from whom we acquire such items do not provide

components or subsystems which meet required specifications and perform to our and our customers expectations Our suppliers

may be less likely than us to be able to quickly recover from natural disasters and other events beyond their control and may be

subject to additional risks such as financial problems that limit their ability to conduct their operations The risk of these adverse

effects may be greater in circumstances where we rely on only one or two subcontractors or suppliers for particular raw material
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product or service In particular in the aircraft industry most vendor parts are certified by the regulatory agencies as part of the

overall Type Certificate for the aircraft being produced by the manufacturer If vendor does not or cannot supply its parts then

the manufacturers production line may be stopped until the manufacturer can design manufacture and certify similarpart itself

or identify and certify another similarvendors part resulting in significant delays in the completion of aircraft Such events may

adversely affect our financial results damage our reputation and relationships with our customers and result in regulatory actions

and/or litigation

Our business could be negatively impacted by information technology security threats and other disruptions

As U.S defense contractor we face certain security threats including threats to our information technology infrastructure

unlawful attempts to gain access to our proprietary or classified information and threats to the physical security of our facilities and

employees as do our customers suppliers subcontractors and joint venture partners Our information technology networks and

related systems are critical to the smooth operation of our business and essential to our ability to perform day to day operations

Cybersecurity threats such as malicious software attempts to gain unauthorized access to information and other security

breaches are persistent continue to evolve and require highly skilled IT resources An information technology system failure or

breach of data security could disrupt our operations cause the loss of business information or the compromise of confidential

information and require significant management attention and resources The potential consequences of material cybersecurity

incident include reputational damage litigation with third parties diminution in the value of our investment in research

development and engineering and increased cybersecurity protection and remediation costs which in turn could adversely affect

our competitiveness and our results of operations In addition we outsource certain support functions including certain global

information technology infrastructure services to third-party service providers Any disruption of such outsourced processes or

functions also could have material adverse impact on our results of operations

Developing new products and technologies entails significant risks and uncertainties

To continue to grow our revenues and segment profit we must successfully develop new products and technologies or modify our

existing products and technologies for our current and future markets Our future performance depends in part on our ability to

identify emerging technological trends and customer requirements in our current and future markets and to develop and maintain

competitive products and services Delays or cost overruns in the development and acceptance of new products or certification of

new aircraft and other products could affect our results of operations These delays could be caused by unanticipated technological

hurdles production changes to meet customer demands unanticipated difficulties in obtaining required regulatory certifications of

new aircraft or other products coordination with joint venture partners or failure on the part of our suppliers to deliver components

as agreed Changes in environmental laws and regulations for example those enacted in response to climate change concerns and

other actions known as green initiatives could lead to the necessity for new or additional investment in product designs or

manufacturing processes and could increase environmental compliance expenditures including costs to defend regulatory reviews

We also could be adversely affected if the general efficacy of our research and development investments to develop products is

less than expected or if we do not adequately protect the intellectual property developed through our research and development

efforts Likewise new products and technologies could generate unanticipated safety or other concerns resulting in expanded

product liability risks potential product recalls and other regulatory issues that could have an adverse impact on us Furthermore

because of the lengthy research and development cycle involved in bringing certain of our products to market we cannot predict

the economic conditions that will exist when any new product is complete reduction in capital spending in the aerospace or

defense industries could have significant effect on the demand for new products and technologies under development which

could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations In addition the market for our product offerings

may not develop or continue to expand as we currently anticipate Furthermore we cannot be sure that our competitors will not

develop competing technologies which gain market acceptance in advance of our products significant failure in our new

product development efforts or the failure of our products or services to achieve market acceptance more rapidly than our

competitors could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations

We are subject to the risks of doing business in foreign countries

Our intemational business including U.S exports exposes us to potentially greater risks than our domestic business Our exposure

to such risks increases as our international business continues to grow Our international business is subject to U.S and local

government regulations and procurement policies and practices which may change from time to time including regulations

relating to import-export control environmental health and safety investments exchange controls and repatriation of earnings or

cash settlement challenges as well as to varying currency geopolitical and economic risks These international risks may be

especially significant with respect to aerospace
and defense products for which we sometimes first must obtain licenses and

authorizations from various U.S Government agencies before we are permitted to sell our products outside the U.S Any

significant impairment of our ability to sell products outside the U.S could negatively impact our results of operations

Additionally some international government customers require contractors to agree to specific in-country purchases

manufacturing agreements or financial support arrangements known as offsets as condition for contract award The contracts
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generally extend over several years and may include penalties if we fail to meet the offset requirements which could adversely

impact our results of operations Additionally we are facing increasing competition in our international markets from foreign and

multinational firms that may have certain home country advantages over us as result our ability to compete successfully in those

markets may be adversely affected which could negatively impact our revenues and profitability

We maintain manufacturing facilities service centers supply centers and other facilities worldwide including in various emerging
market countries We also have entered into and expect to continue to enter into joint venture arrangements in emerging market

countries some of which may require capital investment guaranties or other commitments We expect that our investment in

emerging market countries will continue to increase Emerging market operations can present many risks in addition to those

discussed above including civil disturbances economic and government instability terrorism and related safety concerns cultural

differences in employment and business practices difficulties in protecting intellectual property and the imposition of exchange
controls The impact of any one or more of these or other factors could adversely affect our business financial condition or

operating results

We also are exposed to risks associated with using foreign representatives and consultants for international sales and operations

and teaming with international subcontractors and suppliers in connection with international programs In many foreign countries

particularly in those with developing economies it is common to engage in business practices that are prohibited by laws and

regulations applicable to us such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act Although we implement policies and procedures designed

to facilitate compliance with these laws violation of such laws by any of our international representatives consultants joint

ventures business partners subcontractors or suppliers even if prohibited by our policies could have an adverse effect on our

business and reputation

We are subject to increasing compliance risks that could adversely affect our operating results

As global business we are subject to laws and regulations in the U.S and other countries in which we operate Our increased

focus on international sales and global operations requires importing and exporting goods and technology some of which have

military applications subjecting them to more stringent import-export controls across international borders on regular basis Both

U.S and foreign laws and regulations applicable to us have been increasing in scope and complexity For example we could be

affected by U.S or foreign laws or regulations imposed in response to climate change concerns Likewise pursuant to the

requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act and recently enacted Securities and Exchange Commission rules we will be required to

report on our use of conflict minerals originating from the Democratic Republic of Congo and surrounding countries

Compliance with these rules is expected to be time-consuming and costly and also could affect the cost and availability of minerals

used to manufacture certain of our products Compliance with new or changing laws and regulations or related interpretation and

policies could increase our costs of doing business affect how we conduct our operations and limit our ability to sell our products

and services Compliance with laws and regulations of increasing scope
and complexity is even more challenging in our current

business environment in which reducing our operating costs is often necessary to remain competitive In addition violation of

U.S and/or foreign laws by one of our employees or business partners could subject us or our employees to civil or criminal

penalties including material monetary fines or other adverse actions including denial of import or export privileges and

debarment as government contractor These improper actions could damage our reputation and have an adverse effect on our

business

We are subject to legal proceedings and other claims

We are subject to legal proceedings and other claims arising out of the conduct of our business including proceedings and claims

relating to commercial and financial transactions government contracts alleged lack of compliance with applicable laws and

regulations production partners product liability patent and trademark infringement employment disputes and environmental

safety and health matters Due to the nature of our manufacturing business we may be subject to liability claims arising from

accidents involving our products including claims for serious personal injuries or death caused by weather or by pilot driver or

user error In the case of litigation matters for which reserves have not been established because the loss is not deemed probable it

is reasonably possible that such claims could be decided against us and could require us to pay damages or make other

expenditures in amounts that are not presently estimable In addition we cannot be certain that our reserves are adequate and that

our insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover one or more substantial claims Furthermore we may not be able to obtain

insurance coverage at acceptable levels and costs in the future Litigation is inherently unpredictable and we could incur

judgments receive adverse arbitration awards or enter into settlements for current or future claims that could adversely affect our

financial position or our results of operations in any particular period

Intellectual property infringement claims of others and the inability to protect our intellectual property rights could harm our

business and our customers

Intellectual property infringement claims may be asserted by third parties against us or our customers Any related indemnification

payments or legal costs we may be obliged to pay on behalf of our businesses our customers or other third parties could be costly

In addition we own the rights to many patents trademarks brand names trade names and trade secrets that are important to our
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business The inability to enforce these intellectual property rights may have an adverse effect on our results of operations

Additionally our intellectual property could be at risk due to various cyber threats

Certain of our products are subject to laws regulating consumer products and could be subject to repurchase or recall as

result of safety issues

As distributor of consumer products in the U.S certain of our products also are subject to the Consumer Product Safety Act

which empowers the U.S Consumer Product Safety Commission CPSC to exclude from the market products that are found to be

unsafe or hazardous Under certain circumstances the CPSC could require us to repair replace or refund the purchase price of one

or more of our products or potentially even discontinue entire product lines or we may voluntarily do so but within strictures

recommended by the CPSC The CPSC also can impose fines or penalties on manufacturer for non-compliance with its

requirements Furthermore failure to timely notify the CPSC of potential safety hazard can result in significant fines being

assessed against us Any repurchases or recalls of our products or an imposition of fines or penalties could be costly to us and

could damage the reputation or the value of our brands Additionally laws regulating certain consumer products exist in some

states as well as in other countries in which we sell our products and more restrictive laws and regulations may be adopted in the

future

The increasing costs of certain employee and retiree benefits could adversely affect our results

Our earnings and cash flow may be adversely impacted by the amount of income or expense we expend or record for employee

benefit plans This is particularly true for our defined benefit pension plans where required contributions to those plans and related

expenses are driven by among other things our assumptions of the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets the discount

rate used for future payment obligations and the rates of future cost growth Additionally as part of our annual evaluation of these

plans significant changes in our assumptions due to changes in economic legislative and/or demographic experience or

circumstances or changes in our actual investment returns could negatively impact the funded status of our plans requiring us to

substantially increase our pension liability with resulting decrease in shareholders equity Changes in the funded status of

defined benefit pension plans are recognized in other comprehensive income loss in the year in which they occur Also changes

in pension legislation and regulations could increase the cost associated with our defined benefit pension plans

In addition medical costs are rising at rate faster than the general inflation rate Continued medical cost inflation in excess of the

general inflation rate would increase the risk that we will not be able to mitigate the rising costs of medical benefits Moreover we

expect that some of the requirements of the new comprehensive healthcare law will increase our future costs Increases to the costs

of pension and medical benefits could have an adverse effect on our results of operations

Our business could be adversely affrcted by strikes or work stoppages and other labor issues

Approximately 6400 of our U.S employees or 26% of our total U.S employees are unionized and approximately 2800 of our

non-U.S employees or 33% of our total non-U.S employees are represented by organized councils As result we may

experience work stoppages which could negatively impact our ability to manufacture our products on timely basis resulting in

strain on our relationships with our customers and loss of revenues The presence
of unions also may limit our flexibility in

responding to competitive pressures in the marketplace In addition the workforces of many of our suppliers and customers are

represented by labor unions Work stoppages or strikes at the plants of our key suppliers could disrupt our manufacturing

processes similar actions at the plants of our customers could result in delayed or canceled orders for our products Any of these

events could adversely affect our results of operations

Currency raw material price and interest rate fluctuations may adversely affrct our results

We are exposed to variety of market risks including the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates raw material

prices and interest rates In particular the uncertainty with respect to the ability of certain European countries to continue to

service their sovereign debt obligations and the related European financial restructuring efforts may cause the value of the euro to

fluctuate Currency variations also contribute to variations in sales of products and services in impacted jurisdictions For example

in the event that one or more European countries were to replace the euro with another currency our sales into such countries or

into Europe generally would likely be adversely affected until stable exchange rates are established Accordingly fluctuations in

foreign currency rates could adversely affect our profitability in future periods We monitor and manage these exposures as an

integral part of our overall risk management program In some cases we purchase derivatives or enter into contracts to insulate our

results of operations from these fluctuations Nevertheless changes in currency exchange rates raw material prices and interest

rates can have substantial adverse effects on our results of operations

We may be unable to effectively mitigate pricing pressures

In some markets particularly where we deliver component products and services to original equipment manufacturers we face

ongoing customer demands for price reductions which sometimes are contractually obligated However if we are unable to

effectively mitigate future pricing pressures through technological advances or by lowering our cost base through improved

operating and supply chain efficiencies our results of operations could be adversely affected
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Unanticipated changes in our tax rates or exposure to additional income tax liabilities could affect our profitability

We are subject to income taxes in both the U.S and various non-U.S jurisdictions and our domestic and international tax

liabilities are subject to the allocation of income among these different jurisdictions Our effective tax rate could be adversely

affected by changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates changes in the valuation of deferred tax

assets and liabilities changes to unrecognized tax benefits or changes in tax laws which could affect our profitability In

particular the carrying value of deferred tax assets is dependent on our ability to generate future taxable income as well as

changes to applicable statutory tax rates In addition the amount of income taxes we pay is subject to audits in various

jurisdictions and material assessment by tax authority could affect our profitability

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

On December 29 2012 we operated total of 61 plants located throughout the U.S and 50 plants outside the U.S We own 54

plants and lease the remainder for total manufacturing space of approximately 20.9 million square feet We consider the

productive capacity of the plants operated by each of our business segments to be adequate We also own or lease offices

warehouses service centers and other space at various locations In general our facilities are in good condition are considered to

be adequate for the uses to which they are being put and are substantially in regular use

Item Legal Proceedings

As previously reported in Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2010 on August 21 2009
purported class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court in Rhode Island by Dianne Leach an alleged participant
in the Textron Savings Plan Six additional substantially similar class action lawsuits were subsequently filed by other individuals

The complaints varyingly name Textron and certain present and former employees officers and directors as defendants These

lawsuits alleged that the defendants violated the United States Employee Retirement Income Security Act ERISA by imprudently

permitting participants in the Textron Savings Plan to invest in Textron common stock The complaints sought equitable relief and

unspecified compensatory damages On February 2010 an amended class action complaint was filed consolidating the seven

previous lawsuits into single complaint On March 19 2010 all defendants moved to dismiss the consolidated amended

complaint and on September 2011 the Court granted the motion to dismiss in part and denied the motion in part Specifically
the Court ruled that plaintiffs failed to plead sufficient allegations to support any claim that defendants made material

misrepresentations that would be actionable under ERISA but permitted the remainder of the Amended Complaint to survive the

pleadings stage On September 20 2011 all defendants moved for partial reconsideration of the Courts decision not to dismiss the

Amended Complaint On December 2011 the Court denied the motion for partial reconsideration without rendering decision

on the merits of the issues raised therein On December 13 2012 as result of mediation process overseen by an independent

mediator the parties reached an agreement in principle subject to settlement documentation and court approval to settle the

plaintiffs claims for an immaterial amount Because this is class action settlements of this type are subject to preliminary and
final review by the Court with an opportunity for class members to respond to the proposed settlement and object if they so desire

Neither Textron nor any of the other defendants in the settlement admitted any wrongdoing with respect to the allegations in the

case

As previously reported in Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31 2011 on February

2012 lawsuit was filed in the United States Bankruptcy Court Northern District of Ohio Eastern Division Akron by Brian

Bash Chapter Trustee for Fair Finance Company against TFC Fortress Credit Corp and Fair Facility LLC TFC provided

revolving line of credit of up to $17.5 million to Fair Finance Company from 2002 through 2007 The complaint alleged numerous
counts against TFC as Fair Finance Companys working capital lender including receipt of fraudulent transfers and assisting in

fraud perpetrated on Fair Finance investors The Trustee sought avoidance and recovery of alleged fraudulent transfers in the

amount of $316 million as well as damages of $223 million on the other claims The Trustee also sought trebled damages on all

claims under Ohio law TFC moved to dismiss all claims in the complaint and on November 2012 the court granted TFCs
motion to dismiss in its entirety and dismissed TFC from the lawsuit

We also are subject to other actual and threatened legal proceedings and other claims arising out of the conduct of our business

These proceedings include claims relating to commercial and financial transactions government contracts alleged lack of

compliance with applicable laws and regulations production partners product liability patent and trademark infringement

employment disputes and environmental health and safety matters Some of these legal proceedings seek damages fines or
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penalties in substantial amounts or remediation of environmental contamination Under federal government procurement

regulations certain claims brought by the U.S Government could result in our suspension or debarment from U.S Government

contracting for period of time On the basis of information presently available we do not believe that existing proceedings and

claims will have material effect on our financial position or results of operations

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable

PART

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities

The principal market on which our common stock is traded is the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol TXT At

December 29 2012 there were approximately 12500 record holders of Textron common stock The high and low sales prices per

share of our common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange and the dividends paid per share are provided in the

following table

2012 2011

Dividends Dividends

High Low per Share High Low per Share

First quarter
28.29 18.37 0.02 28.87 23.50 0.02

Second quarter
29.18 21.97 0.02 28.65 20.86 0.02

Third quarter
28.80 22.15 0.02 25.17 14.66 0.02

Fourth quarter
26.75 22.84 0.02 20.41 16.37 0.02

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

Average Price Paid Total Number of Maximum Number of

Total Number per Share Shares Purchased as Shares that may be

of Shares excluding part of Publicly Purchased under the

Fourth Quarter shares in millions Purchased commissions Announced Plan Plan

Month September3o2012November32OI2 3532 25.34 3532 7571

Month November 2012 December 2012 4465 24.11 4465 3106

Month December 2012 December 29 2012 3106 24.09 3106

Total 11103 24.51 11103

These shares were purchased pursuant to plan authorizing the repurchase of up to 24 million shares of Textron common stock

that had been announced on July 19 2007 which had no expiration date During the fourth quarter of 2012 all remaining

shares available under this plan were repurchased

On January 23 2013 the company announced the adoption of new plan authorizing the repurchase of up to 25 million shares of

Textron common stock This plan has no expiration date
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the total return on cumulative basis at the end of each year
of $100 invested in our common stock

on December 31 2007 with the Standard Poors SP 500 Stock Index the SP 500 Aerospace Defense AD Index and

the SP Industrial Conglomerates IC Index We are included in both the SP 500 and the SP IC indices The values

calculated assume dividend reinvestment

$150
Textron

500 AD

SP 500 IC
SO

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Textron Inc 100.00 20.04 27.40 34.57 27.14 35.52

SP 500 100.00 63.00 79.68 91.68 93.61 106.78

SP500AD 100.00 63.46 79.10 91.05 95.86 108.37

SP 500 IC 100.00 48.50 53.43 63.41 63.86 76.92
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Item Selected Financial Data

Dollars in millions except per share amounts 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Revenues

Cessna 3111 2990 2563 3320 5662

Bell 4274 3525 3241 2842 2827

Textron Systems 1737 1872 1979 1899 1880

Industrial 2900 2785 2524 2078 2918

Finance 215 103 218 361 723

Total revenues 12237 11275 10525 10500 14010

Segment profit

Cessna 82 60 29 198 905

Bell 639 521 427 304 278

Textron Systems 132 141 230 240 251

Industrial 215 202 162 27 67

Finance 64 333 237 294 50
Total segment profit 1132 591 553 475 1451

Special charges 190 317 526
Corporate expenses and other net 148 114 137 164 171
Interest expense net for Manufacturing group 143 140 140 143 125
Income tax expense benefit 260 95 76 305
Incomelossfromcontinuingoperations 581 242 92 73 324

Per share of common stock

Income loss from continuing operations basic 2.07 0.87 0.33 0.28 1.32

Income loss from continuing operations diluted 1.97 0.79 0.30 0.28 1.29

Dividends declared 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.92

Bookvalueatyear-end 11.03 9.84 10.78 10.38 9.75

Common stock price High 29.18 28.87 25.30 21.00 71.69

Low 18.37 14.66 15.88 3.57 10.09

Year-end 24.12 18.49 23.64 18.81 15.37

Common shares outstanding In thousands

Basic
average 280182 277684 274452 262923 246208

Diluted average 294663 307255 302555 262923 250338

Year-end 271263 278873 275739 272272 242041

Financial position

Total assets 13033 13615 15282 18940 20031

Manufacturing group debt 2301 2459 2302 3584 2569

Finance group debt 1686 1974 3660 5667 7388

Shareholders equity 2991 2745 2972 2826 2366

Manufacturing group debt-to-capital net of cash 24% 37% 32% 39% 46%

Manufacturing group debt-to-capital 44% 47% 44% 56% 52%

Investment data

Capital expenditures 480 423 270 238 545

Depreciation 336 343 334 344 331

For 2011 segment profit included $186 million initial mark-to-market adjustment for finance receivables in the Golf Mortgage portfolio

that were transferred to the heldfor sale class flcation

Special charges include restructuring charges of $99 million $237 million and $64 million in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively primarily

related to severance and asset impairment charges In 2010 special charges also include $91 million non-cash pre-tax charge to

reclass5 aforeign exchange loss from equity to the income statement as result of substantially liquidating Finance segment entity In

2009 special charges include goodwill impairment charge of $80 million in the Industrial segment In 2008 special charges include

charges related to strategic actions taken in the Finance segment to exit portions of the commercial finance business including an

impairment charge of $169 million for unrecoverable goodwill and the initial valuation allowance adjustment of $293 million related to the

designation of portion offinance receivables as heldfor sale

For 2009 the potential dilutive effect of stock options restricted stock units and the shares that could be issued upon the conversion of our

convertibles notes and upon the exercise of the related warrants was excluded from the computation of diluted weighted-average shares

outstanding as the shares would have an anti-dilutive effect on the loss from continuing operations
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Dollars in millions except per share amounts 2012 2011 2010

Revenues 12237 11275 10525

Operating expenses

Manufacturing cost of sales 10019 9308 8605

Selling and administrative expenses 1168 1183 1231

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations for Manufacturing

group
958 761 730

Diluted earnings per share EPS from continuing operations 1.97 0.79 0.30

An analysis of our consolidated operating results is provided below and more detailed analysis of our segments operating results

is provided in the Segment Analysis section on pages 21 to 30

Revenues

Revenues increased $962 million 9% in 2012 compared with 2011 as increases in the Bell Cessna Industrial and Finance

segments were partially offset by reduction in the Textron Systems segment The net revenue increase included the following

factors

Higher Bell revenues of $749 million primarily due to higher commercial aircraft volume of $476 million and an increase

in V-22 program volume of $231 million largely due to higher deliveries

Higher Cessna revenues of $121 million primarily due to higher pre-owned aircraft volume of $68 million and Citation

jet revenues of $57 million reflecting change in mix ofjets sold during the period

Increased Industrial segment revenues of $115 million primarily due to higher volume of $171 million primarily

reflecting higher market demand in the Fuel Systems and Functional Components and Golf Turf Care and Light

Transportation Vehicles product lines partially offset by an unfavorable foreign exchange impact of $80 million

primarily related to the weakening of the euro

Higher Finance revenues of$1 12 million as described more fully in the Segment Analysis below

Lower Textron Systems revenues of $135 million primarily due to lower volume across all product lines

Revenues increased $750 million 7% in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to an 8% increase in Manufacturing revenues

with increases in the Cessna Bell and Industrial segments that were partially offset by lower revenues in the Textron Systems

segment The net revenue increase included the following factors

Higher Cessna revenues of $427 million primarily due to higher volume largely due to the impact of higher Citation jet

volume and the mix of light- and mid-size jets sold during the period

Higher Bell revenues of $284 million largely due to higher volume in our military programs which included more

deliveries of V-22 and H-i aircraft

Increased Industrial segment revenues of $261 million primarily due to higher volume of $138 million mostly reflecting

higher automotive industry demand and favorable foreign exchange impact of $77 million largely related to

strengthening of the euro

Lower revenues at the Finance segment of $115 million primarily attributable to the lower average
finance receivable

portfolio balance resulting from continued liquidation

Lower Textron Systems revenues of $107 million primarily due to $140 million in lower volume in the UAS and Mission

Support and Other product lines partially offset by higher volume in the Land Marine and Weapons and Sensors

product lines of $28 million
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Cost of Sales and Selling and Administrative Expense

Dollars in millions 2012 2011 2010

Operatingexpenses 11187 10491 9836

change compared with prior period 7% 7%
Cost of sales 10019 9308 8605

change compared with prior period 8% 8%

Gross margin as percentage of Manufacturing revenues 16.7% 16.7% 16.5%

Selling and administrative expenses 1168 1183 1231

change compared with prior period 1% 4%

Manufacturing cost of sales and selling and administrative expenses together comprise our operating expenses Changes in

operating expenses are more fully discussed in our Segment Analysis below

Cost of sales as percentage of manufacturing revenues was 83.3% in both 2012 and 2011 and 83.5% in 2010

Consolidated manufacturing cost of sales increased $711 million 8% in 2012 compared with 2011 principally due to higher net

sales volume Cost of sales was reduced by $65 million in 2012 from foreign exchange fluctuations primarily in the Industrial

segment due to the weakening of the euro In addition cost of sales included $37 million in charges related to our new UAS fee-

for-service contracts at Textron Systems which were offset by the impact of 2011 charges at Textron Systems of $60 million

related to the impairment of intangible assets and severance costs Selling and administrative
expense

decreased $15 million 1%
to $1168 million in 2012 compared with 2011 The decrease was largely driven by lower operating expenses of $56 million at

the Finance segment primarily associated with the exit of the non-captive business partially offset by $27 million charge at Cessna from

an unfavorable arbitration award described more fully in the Segment Analysis below

Consolidated manufacturing cost of sales increased $703 million 8% in 2011 compared with 2010 principally due to higher sales

volume in the Cessna Bell and Industrial segments In 2011 gross margin increased as percentage of revenues primarily due to

favorable product mix and improved leverage and manufacturing efficiencies on higher volume at Cessna and Bell These

improvements were partially offset by $64 million increase in engineering and development expenses throughout our

manufacturing businesses and $60 million in charges at Textron Systems related to the impairment of certain intangible assets and

severance costs In 2011 selling and administrative expense decreased $48 million 4% to $1.2 billion compared with 2010

primarily due to $44 million in lower operating expense at the Finance segment largely reflecting progress towards our exit from

the non-captive commercial finance business and $23 million decrease in corporate expense primarily due to the impact of

changes in our stock price on compensation expense These decreases were partially offset by higher bid and proposal costs at

Textron Systems in 2011

Interest Expense

Dollars in millions 2012 2011 2010

Interest expense 212 246 270

change compared with prior period 14% 9%

Interest expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations includes interest for both the Finance and Manufacturing borrowing

groups with interest related to intercompany borrowings eliminated Interest expense
for the Finance segment is included within

segment profit and includes intercompany interest

Consolidated interest expense
decreased $34 million 14% in 2012 compared with 2011 primarily due to lower average debt

outstanding In 2011 consolidated interest expense decreased $24 million 9% compared with 2010 primarily due to decrease

in the Finance group largely due to the reduction in its debt from liquidations in the non-captive portfolio

Valuation Allowance on Transfer of Golf Mortgage Portfolio to Held for Sale

In the fourth quarter of 2011 we determined that we no longer had the intent to hold the remaining Golf Mortgage portfolio for

investment for the foreseeable future and accordingly transferred $458 million of the remaining Golf Mortgage finance

receivables net of an $80 million allowance for loan losses from the held for investment classification to the held for sale

classification These finance receivables were recorded at fair value at the time of the transfer resulting in $186 million charge

recorded to Valuation allowance on transfer of Golf Mortgage portfolio to held for sale
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Special Charges

There were no amounts recorded within special charges in 2012 and 2011 In 2010 special charges included restructuring charges

totaling $99 million including $76 million of severance costs These charges were related to global restructuring program

initiated in the fourth quarter of 2008 to reduce overhead costs and improve productivity across the company and included the

announcement of the exit of portions of our commercial finance business This restructuring program was substantially completed

at the end of 2011 In 2010 special charges also included $91 million non-cash pre-tax charge to reclassify foreign exchange

loss from equity to the Statement of Operations as result of substantially liquidating Canadian Finance entity

Other Losses net

In 2011 other losses net included $55 million in losses on the early extinguishment of portion of our convertible notes which

was largely offset by $52 million gain from the collection on notes receivable in connection with the disposition of the Fluid

Power business in 2008 as discussed in Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Income Tax Expense Benefit

Our effective rate was 30.9% in 2012 28.1% in 2011 and 6.4% in 2010 and generally differs from the U.S federal statutory rate

of 35% due to certain earnings from our operations in lower-tax jurisdictions throughout the world The jurisdictions with

favorable tax rates that have the most significant effective rate impact in the periods presented include primarily Canada Belgium

and China We have not provided for U.S taxes for those earnings because we plan to reinvest all of those earnings indefinitely

outside of the United States Our effective rate will fluctuate based on the mix of earnings from our U.S and foreign operations

For full reconciliation of our effective rate to the U.S federal statutory rate of 35% see Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements

Subsequent to year end the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was enacted on January 2013 to retroactively reinstate and

extend the Federal Research and Development Tax Credit from January 2012 to December 31 2013 As result our income

tax provision in the first quarter of 2013 will include discrete tax benefit that will reduce the annual effective tax rate by

approximately one percent

Segment Analysis

We operate in and report financial information for the following five business segments Cessna Bell Textron Systems

Industrial and Finance Segment profit is an important measure used for evaluating performance and for decision-making

purposes Segment profit for the manufacturing segments excludes interest expense certain corporate expenses
and special

charges The measurement for the Finance segment excludes special charges and includes interest income and expense along with

intercompany interest expense

In our discussion of comparative results for the Manufacturing group changes in revenue and segment profit typically are

expressed for our commercial business in terms of volume pricing foreign exchange and acquisitions Additionally changes in

segment profit may be expressed in terms of mix inflation and cost performance Volume changes in revenue represent

increases/decreases in the number of units delivered or services provided Pricing represents changes in unit pricing Foreign

exchange is the change resulting from translating foreign-denominated amounts into U.S dollars at exchange rates that are

different from the prior period Acquisitions refer to the results generated from businesses that were acquired within the previous

12 months For segment profit mix represents change due to the composition of products and/or services sold at different profit

margins Inflation represents higher material wages benefits pension or other costs Cost performance reflects an increase or

decrease in research and development depreciation selling and administrative costs warranty product liability quality/scrap

labor efficiency overhead product line profitability start-up ramp up and cost-reduction initiatives or other manufacturing inputs

Approximately 29% of our revenues were derived from contracts with the U.S Government in 2012 For our segments that have

significant contracts with the U.S Government we typically express changes in segment profit related to the government business

in terms of volume changes in program performance or changes in contract mix Changes in volume that are discussed in net

sales typically drive corresponding changes in our segment profit based on the profit rate for particular contract Changes in

program performance typically relate to profit recognition associated with revisions to total estimated costs at completion that

reflect improved or deteriorated operating performance or award fee rates Changes in contract mix refers to changes in operating

margin due to change in the relative volume of contracts with higher or lower fee rates such that the overall average margin rate

for the segment changes
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Cessna

Change

Dollars in millions 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011

Revenues 3111 2990 2563 4% 17%

Operating expenses 3029 2930 2592 3% 13%

Segment profit loss 82 60 29 37% 307%

Profit margin 3% 2% 1/
Backlog 1062 1889 2928 44% 35%

Cessna Revenues and Operating Expenses

Factors contributing to the 2012 year-over-year revenue change are provided below

2012 versus

In millions 2011

Volume and mix 126

Other

Total change 121

Cessna delivered 181 Citation jets in 2012 compared with 183 jets in 2011 however revenues increased $121 million 4% in

2012 compared with 2011 The increase in revenues was primarily due to $68 million impact from higher pre-owned aircraft

volume and $57 million of higher Citation jet revenues reflecting change in mix of new jets sold during the period During 2012

the portion of Cessnas revenues derived from aftermarket sales and services represented 25% of Cessnas revenues compared

with 24% in the corresponding period of 2011

Cessnas operating expenses increased by $99 million 3% in 2012 compared with 2011 primarily due to the following

$93 million in higher direct material costs resulting from increased pre-owned aircraft sales volume and change in the

mix ofjets sold during the period

$35 million in cost inflation largely reflecting $22 million favorable benefit recorded in 2011 related to the last-in first

out LIFO method of accounting for inventories

$27 million charge from an unfavorable arbitration award described below

These increases were partially offset by $33 million cost reductions from improved factory efficiency and $24 million in lower

engineering and development expenses

On November 16 2012 in an arbitration proceeding initiated by Avcorp Industries Inc against Cessna an arbitral panel entered

an award against Cessna in the amount of $27 million The dispute related to an alleged breach of supply agreement under which

Avcorp made various components for Cessna aircraft Although we are vigorously contesting this award we recorded charge of

$27 million in the fourth quarter
of 2012

Factors contributing to the 2011 year-over-year revenue change are provided below

2011 versus

In millions 2010

Volume 419

Other

Total change 427

Cessnas revenues increased $427 million 17% in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to higher Citation jet volume and the

mix of light- and mid-size jets sold during the period which had $262 million impact higher pre-owned aircraft volume of $76

million reflecting improved market demand and higher aftermarket volume of $62 million in part due to continued investment in

additional service offerings We delivered 183 Citation jets in 2011 compared with 179 jets in 2010 During 2011 the portion of

Cessnas revenues derived from aftermarket sales and services represented 24% of Cessnas revenues compared with 26% in the

corresponding period of 2010
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Cessnas operating expenses increased by $338 million 13% in 2011 compared with 2010 principally due to higher sales

volume which resulted in $271 million increase in direct material costs and $27 million increase in manufacturing overhead

Operating expenses also increased due to higher engineering and development expenses of $28 million primarily due to new

product development Cost inflation was offset by $45 million favorable benefit related to the last-in first-out LIFO method

of accounting for inventories In 2011 Cessna had LIFO benefit of $22 million resulting from operational improvements that led

to reduction in inventory levels compared with expense
of $23 million in 2010

Cessna Segment Profit Loss
Factors contributing to 2012 year-over-year segment profit change are provided below

2012 versus

2011In millions

Volume and mix 53

Performance 12

Inflation net of pricing 43
Total change 22

In 2012 Cessnas segment profit increased $22 million 37% compared with 2011 primarily due to the change in mix of Citation

jets sold during the period Improved performance included the following

$33 million in improved factory efficiency

$24 million in lower engineering and development expenses

$27 million unfavorable arbitration award as described above

19 million of lower forfeiture income due to fewer order cancellations in 2012

Inflation net of pricing included $26 million unfavorable LIFO impact largely due to $22 million LIFO benefit recorded in

2011

Factors contributing to 2011 year-over-year segment profit change are provided below

2011 versus

2010In millions

Volume 85

Other

Total change 89

Cessnas segment profit increased $89 million in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to higher volume of $85 million

Segment profit was also impacted by the following contributing factors included within the Other line

$28 million in higher engineering and development expenses primarily due to new product development

$22 million in cost improvements realized during the period which were driven by factory efficiencies due to higher

production volume

$16 million in lower pre-owned aircraft write-downs

In addition cost inflation was offset by $45 million favorable LIFO benefit discussed above

Cessna Backlog

Cessnas backlog decreased $827 million 44% in 2012 and $1.0 billion 35% in 2011 mainly attributable to deliveries in excess

of new orders and canceled Citation jet orders
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Bell

Change

Dollars in millions 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011

Revenues

V-22 program 1611 1380 1155 17% 19%

Other military 940 919 845 2% 9%

Commercial 1723 1226 1241 41% 1%
Total revenues 4274 3525 3241 21% 9%

Operating expenses 3635 3004 2814 21% 7%

Segment profit 639 521 427 23% 22%

Profit margin 15% 15% 13A

Backlog 7469 7346 6473 2% 13%

Bell Revenues and Operating Expenses

Factors contributing to the 2012 year-over-year revenue change are provided below

2012 versus

In millions 2011

Volume 728

Other 21

Total change 749

Bells revenues increased $749 million 21% in 2012 compared with 2011 primarily due to higher volume which included the

following factors

$476 million increase in commercial volume largely related to higher deliveries reflecting our investment in new

products and increased focus on commercial markets Bell delivered 188 commercial aircraft in 2012 compared with 125

aircraft in 2011

$231 million increase in volume related to the V-22 program primarily reflecting higher deliveries based on schedule

requirements and higher revenues related to the support of fielded aircraft Bell delivered 39 V-22 aircraft in 2012

compared with 34 deliveries in 2011

$21 million increase in other military volume resulting from higher deliveries and services rendered under several

programs partially offset by lower spares
and aftermarket volume Bell delivered 24 H-i aircraft in 2012 compared with

25 aircraft in 2011

Bells operating expenses increased $631 million 21% in 2012 compared with 2011 primarily due to higher sales volume

discussed above

Factors contributing to the 2011 year-over-year revenue change are provided below

2011 versus

In millions 2010

Volume 258

Other 26

Total change 284

Bells revenues increased $284 million 9% in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to higher volume which included the

following factors

$225 million increase in volume related to the V-22 program primarily reflecting higher deliveries Bell delivered 34

22 aircraft in 2011 compared with 26 deliveries in 2010

$74 million increase in other military volume primarily reflecting higher H-I deliveries with 25 H-l aircraft delivered in

2011 compared with 18 aircraft in 2010 this increase is net of $55 million decrease in aftermarket volume largely due

to the completion of several non-recurring programs in 2010

$41 million decrease in commercial volume primarily reflecting lower deliveries Bell delivered 125 commercial aircraft

in 2011 compared with 131 aircraft in 2010
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Bells operating expenses increased $190 million 7% in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to higher sales volume

discussed above partially offset by improved cost performance Improved cost performance was primarily related to our military

programs due to efficiencies realized through our production ramp-up as described below

Bell Segment Profit

Factors contributing to 2012 year-over-year segment profit change are provided below

2012 versus

In millions 2011

Volume and mix 143

Performance 18
Other

Total change 118

Bells segment profit increased $118 million 23% in 2012 compared with 2011 primarily due to the impact of higher volume in

our commercial aircraft and military businesses as described above Performance reflects higher net research and development

expense
in 2012 of $26 million due to the ramp-up of new product development and higher selling and administrative expenses

largely due to our investment in business system improvement and upgrade activities which were partially offset by favorable

program performance in our military programs reflecting improved manufacturing efficiencies

Factors contributing to 2011 year-over-year segment profit change are provided below

2011 versus

In millions 2010

Performance 109

Volume and mix 22
Other

Total change 94

Bells segment profit increased $94 million 22% in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to improved program performance

of $109 million partially offset by an unfavorable mix of military and commercial aircraft sold during the period Bells improved

performance included the following

$122 million resulting from improved manufacturing efficiencies in our military programs resulting from efficiencies

realized in connection with the ramp up of production lines

$30 million unfavorable net change in program profit adjustments this change was largely due to $21 million

adjustment recognized in 2010 related to the recognition of profit on the H-l and V-22 programs for reimbursement of

prior year costs

Bell Backlog

In 2012 and 2011 Bells backlog reflected orders in excess of deliveries resulting in $123 million 2% increase in 2012 and an

$873 million 13% increase in 2011

Textron Systems

Change

Dollars in millions 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011

Revenues 1737 1872 1979 7% 5%
Operating expenses 1605 1731 1749 7% l%
Segment profit 132 141 230 6% 39%
Profit margin 8% 8% 12/

Backlog 2919 1337 1598 118% 16%
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Textron Systems Revenues and Operating Expenses

Factors contributing to the 2012 year-over-year revenue change are provided below

In millions

Volume 141
Other

Total change 135

Revenues at Textron Systems decreased $135 million 7% in 2012 compared with 2011 primarily due to lower volume reflecting

the following changes

Lower Land Marine volume of $76 million primarily related to lower deliveries based on current contract

requirements

Lower Mission Support and Other product line volume of $45 million primarily due to the completion of certain

contracts in 2011 and the timing of test and training revenues

Lower Weapons and Sensors volume of $13 million primarily due to the completion of several contracts in 2011

partially offset by higher international Sensor Fuzed Weapon volume of $67 million

Textron Systems operating expenses decreased $126 million 7% in 2012 compared with 2011 primarily due to the lower

volume Operating expenses for 2012 included $37 million in charges discussed below related to our new UAS fee-for-service

contracts which were offset by the impact of charges at Textron Systems of $60 million during 2011 related to the impairment of

intangible assets and severance costs

In 2012 we were awarded two indefinite delivery indefinite quantity IDIQ contracts with separate U.S Government customers

for UAS fee-for-service activities In the third quarter of 2012 we experienced start-up issues as we began deployment for the

first of these contracts the MEUAS II program which required us to augment training procedures add resources and adjust certain

estimated costs At that time we took an $18 million charge reflecting our estimated loss on the awarded task orders under both

contracts based on our deployment experience which resulted in changes to certain assumptions and also reflected higher

subcontractor up-front training and program management costs to support the ramp-up In the fourth quarter of 2012 we

experienced propulsion performance issues with our systems and as result we were not able to perform within our previous cost

estimates Based on the issues we have encountered we increased our estimate of the costs to complete the awarded task orders

under both contracts through completion of those orders and recorded $19 million unfavorable program profit adjustment in the

fourth quarter of 2012 Our current financial guidance and backlog do not reflect additional task orders under the MEUAS II IDIQ

contract after the current active orders conclude in April 2013

Factors contributing to the 2011 year-over-year revenue change are provided below

In millions

Volume

Other

Total change 107

Revenues at Textron Systems decreased $107 million 5% in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to lower volume

reflecting the following changes

Lower UAS volume of $84 million largely due to lower deliveries and to the timing of revenues from various programs

Lower Mission Support and Other product line volume of $56 million largely due to the completion of several test and

training programs and lower intelligence systems volume

Higher Land Marine volume of$18 million primarily related to Armored Security Vehicles

Higher Weapons and Sensors revenues of $10 million largely due to higher Sensor Fuzed Weapon volume

Textron Systems operating expenses decreased $18 million 1% in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to the lower

volume which was partially offset by the $41 million intangible asset impairment charge and $19 million primarily in severance

costs related to the workforce reduction taken in 2011

2012 versus

2011

2011 versus

2010

112
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Textron Systems Segment Profit

Factors contributing to 2012 year-over-year segment profit change are provided below

In millions

2012 versus

Volume and mix

2011

Impairment charge in 2011

57

Performance

41

Other

Total change

Segment profit at Textron Systems decreased $9 million 6% in 2012 compared with 2011 reflecting the impact of lower volume

described above and deliveries on lower margin contracts during the current period The favorable performance reflects charge

in 2011 of $19 million primarily in severance costs related to workforce reductions $9 million in lower amortization expense on

intangible assets and $8 million in lower net research and development costs partially offset by the $37 million in charges related

to the UAS fee-for-service contracts described above

Factors contributing to 20
year-over-year segment profit change are provided below

2011 versus

In millions 2010

Volume 37
Impairment charge 41
Inflation

Other

Total change 89

Segment profit at Textron Systems decreased $89 million 39% in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to the impact of lower volume

described above and mix along with the $41 million intangible asset impairment charge and approximately $19 million in severance

costs related to the workforce reduction included in the Other line

Textron Systems Backlog

In 2012 Textron Systems backlog increased $1.6 billion 118% largely due to additional orders in the UAS and Land Marine

product lines including the Canadian TAPV contract for $693 million received in the second quarter of 2012 In 2011 Textron

Systems backlog decreased $261 million reflecting deliveries in excess of new orders related to various military programs

Industrial

Change
Dollars in millions 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011

Revenues

Fuel Systems and Functional Components 1842 1823 1640 1% 11%
Other Industrial 1058 962 884 10% 9%

Total revenues 2900 2785 2524 4% 10%

Operating expenses 2685 2583 2362 4% 9%
Segment profit 215 202 162 6% 25%
Profit margin 7% 7% 6/

______________

Industrial Revenues and Operating Expenses

Factors contributing to the 2012 year-over-year revenue change are provided below

2012 versus

In millions 2011

Volume 171

Foreign exchange 80
Other 24

Total change 115
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Industrial segment revenues increased $115 million 4% in 2012 compared with 2011 Higher volume resulted from $93

million increase in the Fuel Systems and Functional Components product line reflecting higher automotive industry demand in

North America and $78 million increase in the Other Industrial product lines largely related to higher market demand in the

Golf Turf Care and Light Transportation Vehicles product line The unfavorable foreign exchange impact was mostly related to

the weakening of the euro which primarily impacted the Fuel Systems and Functional Components product line

Operating expenses
for the Industrial segment increased $102 million 4% in 2012 compared with 2011 largely due to $130

million in higher direct material costs in support of higher sales volume In 2012 operating expenses were also impacted by cost

inflation of $44 million primarily due to higher material and overhead costs partially offset by lower costs due to favorable

foreign exchange impact of $70 million resulting from the weakening of the euro

Factors contributing to the 2011 year-over-year revenue change are provided below

In millions

Volume

Foreign exchange
77

Acquisitions net of dispositions
18

Other
28

Total change
261

Industrial segment revenues increased $261 million 10% in 2011 from 2010 Volume increased and mix improved largely due to

$117 million increase in the Fuel Systems and Functional Components product line reflecting higher automotive industry

demand and $21 million in the Other Industrial product lines largely related to the Powered Tools Testing and Measurement

Equipment product line reflecting higher sales in North America and Europe The favorable foreign exchange impact was

primarily related to strengthening of the euro which mostly impacted the Fuel Systems and Functional Components product line

Higher Other Industrial revenues of $78 million included $27 million impact from acquisitions and improved pricing of $20

million in addition to the higher volume

Operating expenses for the Industrial segment increased $221 million 9% in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to $115

million increase in direct material costs due to higher sales volume $68 million impact from foreign exchange related to

strengthening of the euro and $40 million in inflation for direct materials related to various commodity and material components

throughout the segment

Industrial Segment Profit

Factors contributing to 2012 year-over-year segment profit change are provided below

2012 versus

2011
In millions

Volume
31

Inflation net of pricing
17

Other

Total change
13

Segment profit for the Industrial segment increased $13 million 6% in 2012 compared with 2011 primarily due to the impact

from higher volume as described above partially offset by cost inflation that exceeded related price increases

Factors contributing to 2011 year-over-year segment profit change are provided below

2011 versus

In millions
2010

Volume
31

Performance
34

Inflation net of pricing
35

Other
10

Total change
40

2011 versus

2010

138
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Industrial segment profit increased $40 million 25% in 2011 from 2010 primarily due to $34 million impact from improved

performance and $31 million impact from higher volume as described above partially offset by inflation net of pricing of $35
million Performance was favorable for the period due to continued cost reduction activities and improved manufacturing leverage

resulting from higher volume Inflation net of pricing was primarily due to higher direct material costs for commodity and
material components that exceeded related price increases principally in the Fuel Systems and Functional Components product
line

2012 2011 2010

215 103 218

64 333 237

Our plan to exit the non-captive commercial finance business of our Finance segment has been effected through combination of

orderly liquidation and selected sales We expect to liquidate the majority of the remaining $370 million of finance receivables in

the non-captive portfolio over the next two years

Finance Revenues

Finance segment revenues increased $112 million in 2012 compared with 2011 primarily attributable to the following factors

$90 million increase related to the valuation of Golf Mortgage finance receivables held for sale In 2012 we had $76
million in favorable valuation adjustments compared with unfavorable valuation adjustments of$14 million in 2011
$42 million of lower portfolio losses net of gains primarily associated with the Structured Capital and Timeshare

portfolios

$25 million increase due to the resolution of one significant Timeshare account that returned to accrual status and was

subsequently paid off during the third quarter of 2012

These increases were partially offset by $61 million decrease attributable to lower
average finance receivables of $1.2

billion

Finance segment revenues decreased $115 million in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily attributable to the impact of $1.8

billion lower average finance receivable balance

Finance Segment Profit Loss
Finance segment profit increased $397 million in 2012 compared with 2011 primarily due to changes in valuation adjustments
lower portfolio losses net of gains and the resolution of one significant Timeshare account discussed above as well as lower

administrative expense of $56 million primarily associated with the exit of the non-captive business In addition we recorded

$186 million valuation allowance on the transfer of the Golf Mortgage portfolio from held for investment to the held for sale

classification during the fourth
quarter of 2011 These increases were partially offset by $27 million decrease in net interest

margin attributable to lower average finance receivables

Finance segment loss increased $96 million in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to the $186 million valuation allowance

recorded on the transfer of the remaining Golf Mortgage portfolio from held for investment to the held for sale classification

during the fourth quarter of 2011 and $61 million reduction in interest margin resulting from the lower average finance

receivable balance These increases were partially offset by $131 million in lower provision for loan losses primarily the result of

decline in new troubled accounts in the non-captive portfolio during 2011 and $36 million reyersal of the allowance for losses

related to one significant account In addition administrative expense declined by $44 million primarily due to lower

compensation expense associated with workforce reduction and other cost reductions related to the exit of the non-captive
business

Finance

In millions

Revenues

Segment profit loss
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Finance Portfolio Quality

The following table reflects information about the Finance segments credit performance related to finance receivables held for

investment

December 29 December 31

Dollars in millions

2012 2011

Finance receivables
1934 2477

Nonaccrual finance receivables
143 321

Allowance for losses
84 156

Ratio of nonaccrual finance receivables to finance receivables 7.39% 12.96%

Ratio of allowance for losses on impaired nonaccrual finance receivables to impaired nonaccrual finance

receivables
21.24% 28.52%

Ratio of allowance for losses on finance receivables to nonaccrual finance receivables 58.74% 48.60%

Ratio of allowance for losses on fmance receivables to finance receivables 4.34% 6.30%

60 days contractual delinquency as percentage of finance receivables
4.65% 6.70%

60 days contractual delinquency
90 166

Repossessed assets and properties
81 199

Finance receivables held for sale are reflected at the lower of cost or fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are not

included in the credit performance statistics above Finance receivables held for sale in the non-captive portfolio totaled $140

million at the end of 2012 compared with $418 million at the end of 2011

Nonaccrual finance receivables decreased $178 million 55% from 2011 primarily due to reductions of $129 million in the

Timeshare portfolio and $38 million in the Captive portfolio The decrease in the Timeshare portfolio was primarily due to the

liquidation of one significant account The Captive portfolio decreased mostly due to repossession of collateral and cash

collections partially offset by new accounts identified as nonaccrual in 2012

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our financings are conducted through two separate borrowing groups The Manufacturing group consists of Textron Inc

consolidated with its majority-owned
subsidiaries that operate in the Cessna Bell Textron Systems and Industrial segments The

Finance group which also is the Finance segment consists of TFC its consolidated subsidiaries and three other finance

subsidiaries owned by Textron Inc We designed this framework to enhance our borrowing power by separating the Finance group

Our Manufacturing group operations include the development production and delivery of tangible goods and services while our

Finance group provides financial services Due to the fundamental differences between each borrowing groups activities

investors rating agencies and analysts use different measures to evaluate each groups performance To support those evaluations

we present balance sheet and cash flow information for each borrowing group within the Consolidated Financial Statements

Key information that is utilized in assessing our liquidity is summarized below

December 29 December 31

2012 2011

In millions

Manufacturing group

Cash and equivalents
1378 871

Debt
2301 2459

Shareholders equity
2991 2745

Capital debt plus shareholders equity
5292 5204

Net debt net of cash and equivalents to capital
24% 37%

Debt to capital

44% 47%

Finance group

Cash and equivalents
35 14

Debt
1686 1974

We believe that our calculations of debt to capital and net debt to capital are useful measures as they provide summary indication

of the level of debt financing i.e leverage that is in place to support our capital structure as well as to provide an indication of

the capacity to add further leverage We believe that with our existing cash and equivalents along with the cash we expect to

generate
from our manufacturing operations we will have sufficient cash to meet our future needs
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Textron has senior unsecured revolving credit facility that expires in March 2015 for an aggregate principal amount of $1.0

billion up to $200 million of which is available for the issuance of letters of credit At December 29 2012 there were no amounts
borrowed against the facility and there were $37 million of letters of credits issued against it We also maintain an effective shelf

registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission that allows us to issue an unlimited amount of public
debt and other securities

At December 29 2012 the principal amount of our convertible notes outstanding was $215 million Under the terms of the
Indenture that governs the notes the notes are currently convertible at the holders option through April 29 2013 the second

trading day preceding their May 2013 maturity date We may deliver shares of common stock cash or combination of cash
and shares of common stock in satisfaction of our obligations upon conversion of the convertible notes We intend to settle the

face value of the convertible notes in cash

Manufacturing Group Cash Flows

Cash flows from
continuing operations for the Manufacturing group as presented in our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows are

summarized below

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Operating activities 958 761 730

Investing activities 476 423 353
Financing activities 29 360 1215

We generated $958 million in cash from operating activities in 2012 on $1.1 billion in
Manufacturing group segment profit and

$534 million of Manufacturing group net income The 26% increase in cash flows from operating activities from 2011 was largely
due to lower cash contributions made to our pension plans in 2012 Within working capital we had $1 17 million reduction in

cash resulting from an increase in pre-owned inventory in the Cessna segment primarily due to higher trade-in activities which

was largely offset by reduction in net taxes paid We made pension contributions of $405 million $642 million and $417 million
in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Cash flows from operating activities increased in 2011 compared with 2010 largely due to

higher earnings for the
Manufacturing group partially offset by higher cash pension contributions

Investing cash flows in 2012 2011 and 2010 primarily included capital expenditures of $480 million $423 million and $270

million respectively in support of our new product development and cost improvement strategies

We generated cash from financing activities in 2012 largely due to the receipt of $490 million from the Finance group in payment
of its intergroup borrowing partially offset by share repurchases in the fourth quarter of 2012 and $189 million in payments on our

outstanding debt In 2011 financing activities primarily consisted of $580 million in payments related to the purchase and
cancellation of convertible notes and $175 million in intergroup financing for our Finance group partially offset by $496 million
in proceeds from the issuance of notes In 2010 we repaid $1.2 billion of our bank credit lines

Share Repurchases

In the fourth quarter of 2012 under 2007 share repurchase authorization we repurchased 11.1 million shares of our common
stock for total cost of $272 million which fully utilized our available repurchase authorization On January 22 2013 our Board
of Directors approved new authorization program for 25 million shares under which we intend to purchase shares of common
stock to offset the impact of dilution from share-based compensation plans and for opportunistic capital management purposes

Dividends

Dividend payments to shareholders totaled $17 million $22 million and $22 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Capital Contributions Paid To and Dividends Received From the Finance Group
Under Support Agreement between Textron Inc and TFC Textron Inc is required to maintain controlling interest in TFC The

agreement also requires Textron Inc to ensure that TFC maintains fixed charge coverage of no less than 125% and consolidated

shareholders equity of no less than $200 million Cash contributions paid to TFC to maintain compliance with the Support

Agreement and dividends paid by TFC to Textron Inc are detailed below

In millions
2012 2011 2010

Dividends paid by TFC to Textron Inc 345 179 505

Capital contributions paid to TFC under Support Agreement 240 182 383
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Due to the nature of these contributions we classify these contributions within cash flows used by operating activities for the

Manufacturing group in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Capital contributions to support Finance group growth in the

ongoing captive finance business are classified as cash flows from financing activities The Finance groups net income loss is

excluded from the Manufacturing groups cash flows while dividends from the Finance group are included within cash flows from

operating activities for the Manufacturing group as they represent return on investment

Finance Group Cash Flows

During 2012 we liquidated $821 million of the Finance groups finance receivables net of originations These finance receivable

reductions occurred in both the non-captive and captive finance portfolios but were primarily driven by the non-captive portfolio

in connection with our exit plan including $241 million and $218 million in the Golf Mortgage and Timeshare product lines

respectively Depending on market conditions we expect to liquidate the majority of the remaining $370 million of finance

receivables in the non-captive portfolio over the next two years

The cash flows from continuing operations for the Finance group are summarized below

In millions
2012 2011 2010

Operating activities
65 35

Investing activities
934 1453 2305

Financing activities
918 1536 2383

Cash flows from operating activities decreased in 2012 primarily due to changes in taxes paidlreceived partially offset by higher

earnings Net tax payments/refunds were $43 million $65 million and $l01 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Net tax payments in 2012 and 2010 included settlements related to the IRSs challenge of tax deductions claimed in prior years
for

certain leveraged lease transactions

Cash receipts from the collection of finance receivables continued to outpace
finance receivable originations which resulted in net

cash inflow from investing activities for the past three years Finance receivables repaid and proceeds from sales totaled $1.1

billion in 2012 $1.8 billion in 2011 and $3.0 billion in 2010 Cash outflows for originations declined to $331 million in 2012

from $471 million in 2011 and $866 million in 2010 These decreases were largely driven by the wind down of the non-captive

business

Cash used in financing activities included principal payments on long-term debt of $0.4 billion $0.8 billion and $2.1 billion in

2012 2011 and 2010 respectively These cash outflows were partially offset by proceeds from the issuance of long term debt of

$106 million $430 million and $231 million respectively In 2012 the Finance group also made cash payments totaling $493

million to the Manufacturing group
related to intergroup borrowings In 2011 and 2010 the Finance group paid $1.4 billion and

$0.3 billion respectively against the outstanding balance on its bank line of credit

Consolidated Cash Flows

The consolidated cash flows from continuing operations after elimination of activity between the borrowing groups are

summarized below

In millions
2012 2011 2010

Operating activities
935 1068 993

Investing activities
378 843 1549

Financing activities
781 1951 3493

Cash flows from operating activities decreased during 2012 as compared with 2011 as higher earnings were offset by changes in

working capital which included lower net cash receipts from our captive financing activities of $140 million and an increase in

pre-owned inventory in the Cessna segment largely due to higher trade-in activities resulting in cash reduction of $117 million

Our use of cash for working capital requirements was partially offset by $237 million in lower cash pension
contributions made in

2012

Cash flow from operating activities increased in 2011 compared with 2010 primarily due to higher earnings for the

Manufacturing group partially offset by higher cash pension contributions made in 2011 In addition cash payments related to the

restructuring program that we substantially completed at the end of 2010 decreased to $44 million in 2011 from $72 million in

2010
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Cash receipts from the collection of finance receivables continued to outpace finance receivable originations which resulted in net

cash inflow from investing activities for the past three years Finance receivables repaid and proceeds from sales totaled $0.7

billion in 2012 $1.2 billion in 2011 and $2.2 billion in 2010 Cash outflows for originations declined to $22 million in 2012 from

$187 million in 2011 and $450 million in 2010 These decreases are largely due to our ongoing exit from the non-captive

business Investing activities also included capital expenditures of $480 million $423 million and $270 million in 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively in support of our new product development and cost improvement strategies

Cash used in financing activities included principal payments on long-term debt of $0.6 billion $0.8 billion and $2.2 billion in

2012 2011 and 2010 respectively In 2011 and 2010 financing activities also included repayments of $1.4 billion and $1.5

billion respectively against the outstanding balance on our bank credit lines Cash used in financing activities also included $272

million of share repurchases in 2012 and $580 million in payments related to the purchase of convertible notes in 2011 These

cash outflows were partially offset by proceeds from the issuance of long term debt of $106 million $926 million and $231

million respectively

Captive Financing and Other Intercompany Transactions

The Finance group finances retail purchases and leases for new and used aircraft and equipment manufactured by our

Manufacturing group otherwise known as captive financing In the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows cash received from

customers or from the sale of receivables is reflected as operating activities when received from third parties However in the

cash flow information provided for the separate borrowing groups cash flows related to captive financing activities are reflected

based on the operations of each group For example when product is sold by our Manufacturing group to customer and is

financed by the Finance group the origination of the finance receivable is recorded within investing activities as cash outflow in

the Finance groups statement of cash flows Meanwhile in the Manufacturing groups statement of cash flows the cash received

from the Finance group on the customers behalf is recorded within operating cash flows as cash inflow Although cash is

transferred between the two borrowing groups there is no cash transaction reported in the consolidated cash flows at the time of

the original financing These captive financing activities along with all significant intercompany transactions are reclassified or

eliminated from the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Reclassification and elimination adjustments included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows are summarized below

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Reclassifications from investing activities

Finance receivable originations for Manufacturing group inventory sales 309 284 416
Cash received from customers and the sale of receivables 405 520 840

Other capital contributions made to Finance group 60 30
Other 16 11

Total reclassifications from investing activities 80 187 403

Reclassifications from financing activities

Capital contribution paid by Manufacturing group to Finance group under Support

Agreement 240 182 383

Dividends received by Manufacturing group from Finance group 345 179 505
Other capital contributions made to Finance group 60 30

Other 13
Total reclassifications from financing activities 108 55 105
Total reclassifications and adjustments to cash flow from operating activities 28 242 298
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Contractual Obligations

Manufacturing Group
The following table summarizes the known contractual obligations as defined by reporting regulations of our Manufacturing

group as of December 29 2012

Payments Due by Period

Less than More Than

Year Years
In millions Total 1-3 Years 4-5 Years

Liabilities reflected in balance sheet

Long-term debt 2307 535 364 614 794

Interest on borrowings 619 123 200 151 145

Pension benefits for unfunded plans 388 26 48 44 270

Postretirement benefits other than pensions 564 52 94 81 337

Other long-term liabilities 556 159 137 66 194

Liabilities not reflected in balance sheet

Operating leases 343 57 83 53 150

Purchase obligations 2844 2257 586

Total Manufacturing group 7621 3209 1512 1010 1890

We maintain defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefit plans other than pensions as discussed in Note 13 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements Included in the above table are discounted estimated benefit payments we expect to make

related to unfunded pension and other postretirement benefit plans Actual benefit payments are dependent on number of

factors including mortality assumptions expected retirement age rate of compensation increases and medical trend rates

which are subject to change in future years Our policy for funding pension plans is to make contributions annually

consistent with applicable laws and regulations however future contributions to our pension plans are not included in the

above table In 2013 we expect to make contributions to our funded pension plans of approximately $160 million and

approximately $22 million in the Retirement Account Plan Based on our current assumptions which may change with

changes in market conditions our current contribution estimates for each of the years from 2014 through 2017 are estimated

to be in the range of approximately $100 million to $200 million under the plan provisions in place at this time

Other long-term liabilities included in the table consist primarily of undiscounted amounts in the Consolidated Balance Sheet

as of December 29 2012 representing obligations under deferred compensation arrangements and estimated environmental

remediation costs Payments under deferred compensation arrangements have been estimated based on managements

assumptions of expected retirement age mortality stock price and rates of return on participant deferrals The timing of cash

flows associated with environmental remediation costs is largely based on historical experience Other long-term liabilities

such as deferred taxes unrecognized tax benefits and product liability and litigation reserves have been excluded from the

table due to the uncertainty of the timing ofpayments combined with the absence of historical trends to be used as predictor

for such payments

Operating leases represent
undiscounted obligations under noncancelable leases

Purchase obligations include undiscounted amounts committed under legally enforceable contracts or purchase orders for

goods and services with defined terms as to price quantity and delivery dates Approximately 40% of the purchase

obligations we disclose represent purchase orders issued for goods and services to be delivered under firm contracts with the

US Government for which we have full recourse under customary contract termination clauses
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Finance Group
The following table summarizes the known contractual obligations as defined by reporting regulations of our Finance group as of

December 29 2012

Payments Due by Period

Less than More Than

Year YearsIn millions Total 1-3 Years 4-5 Years

Liabilities reflected in balance sheet

Term debt 1096 563 254 149 130

Securitized debt 282 74 133 49 26

Subordinated debt 300 300

Interest on borrowings 286 45 67 39 135

Total Finance group 1964 682 454 237 591

Securitized debt payments do not represent
contractual obligations of the Finance group and we do not provide legal

recourse to investors who purchase interests in the securitizations beyond the credit enhancement inherent in the retained

subordinate interests

Interest payments reflect the current interest rate paid on the related debt They do not include anticipated changes in market

interest rates which could have an impact on the interest rate according to the terms of the related debt

At December 29 2012 the Finance group also had $75 million in other liabilities primarily accounts payable and accrued

expenses that are payable within the next 12 months

Critical Accounting Estimates

To prepare our Consolidated Financial Statements to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles we must

make complex and subjective judgments in the selection and application of accounting policies The accounting policies that we

believe are most critical to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations are listed below We believe these

policies require our most difficult subjective and complex judgments in estimating the effect of inherent uncertainties This

section should be read in conjunction with Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements which includes other significant

accounting policies

Long-Term Contracts

We make substantial portion of our sales to government customers pursuant to long-term contracts These contracts require

development and delivery of products over multiple years and may contain fixed-price purchase options for additional products

We account for these long-term contracts under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting Under this method we

estimate profit as the difference between total estimated revenues and cost of contract The percentage-of-completion method of

accounting involves the use of various estimating techniques to project costs at completion and in some cases includes estimates

of recoveries asserted against the customer for changes in specifications Due to the size length of time and nature of many of our

contracts the estimation of total contract costs and revenues through completion is complicated and subject to many variables

relative to the outcome of future events over period of several years We are required to make numerous assumptions and

estimates relating to items such as expected engineering requirements complexity of design and related development costs

product performance performance of subcontractors availability and cost of materials labor productivity and cost overhead and

capital costs manufacturing efficiencies and the achievement of contract milestones including product deliveries technical

requirements or schedule

Our cost estimation process is based on the professional knowledge and experience of engineers and program managers along with

finance professionals We update our projections of costs at least semiannually or when circumstances significantly change

Adjustments to projected costs are recognized in earnings when determinable Anticipated losses on contracts are recognized in

full in the period in which the losses become probable and estimable Due to the significance of judgment in the estimation

process
described above it is likely that materially different revenues and/or cost of sales amounts could be recorded if we used

different assumptions or if the underlying circumstances were to change Our earnings could be reduced by material amount

resulting in charge to earnings if total estimated contract costs are significantly higher than expected due to changes in

customer specifications prior to contract amendment total estimated contract costs are significantly higher than previously

estimated due to cost overruns or inflation there is change in engineering efforts required during the development stage of the

contract or we are unable to meet contract milestones
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At the outset of each contract we estimate the initial profit booking rate The initial profit booking rate of each contract considers

risks surrounding the ability to achieve the technical requirements for example newly-developed product versus mature

product schedule for example the number and type of milestone events and costs by contract requirements in the initial

estimated costs at completion Profit booking rates may increase during the performance of the contract if we successfully retire

risks surrounding the technical schedule and costs aspects of the contract Likewise the profit booking rate may decrease if we

are not successful in retiring the risks and as result our estimated costs at completion increase All of the estimates are subject

to change during the performance of the contract and therefore may affect the profit booking rate When adjustments are required

any changes from prior estimates are recognized using the cumulative catch-up method with the impact of the change from

inception-to-date recorded in the current period

The following table sets forth the aggregate gross amount of all program profit adjustments that are included within segment profit

for the three years
ended December 29 2012

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Gross favorable 88 83 98

Gross unfavorable 73 29 20
Net adjustments 15 54 78

Goodwill

We evaluate the recoverability of goodwill annually in the fourth quarter or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances

such as declines in sales earnings or cash flows or material adverse changes in the business climate indicate that the carrying

value of reporting unit might be impaired The reporting unit represents the operating segment unless discrete financial

information is prepared and reviewed by segment management for businesses one level below that operating segment in which

case such component is the reporting unit In certain instances we have aggregated components of an operating segment into

single reporting unit based on similareconomic characteristics

For the Bell reporting unit we performed qualitative assessment based on economic industry and company-specific factors as

the initial step in the annual goodwill impairment test Based on the results of the qualitative assessment we concluded that it is

more likely than not that the units fair value is greater than its carrying amount and the next step of the impairment analysis was

not required For our other reporting units we performed the next step of the impairment analysis which required us to calculate

fair value of each reporting unit

Fair values were established primarily using discounted cash flows that incorporated assumptions for short- and long-term revenue

growth rates operating margins and discount rates which represent our best estimates of current and forecasted market conditions

cost structure anticipated net cost reductions and the implied rate of return that we believe market participant would require for

an investment in business having similar risks and characteristics to the reporting unit being assessed The revenue growth rates

and operating margins used in our discounted cash flow analysis are based on our strategic plans and long-range planning

forecasts These plans do not include any potential impact that sequestration budget cuts may have on our businesses that serve the

U.S Government The long-term growth rate we use to determine the terminal value of the business is based on our assessment of

its minimum expected terminal growth rate as well as its past historical growth and broader economic considerations such as gross

domestic product inflation and the maturity of the markets we serve We utilize weighted-average cost of capital in our

impairment analysis that makes assumptions about the capital structure that we believe market participant would make and

include risk premium based on an assessment of risks related to the projected cash flows of each reporting unit We believe this

approach yields discount rate that is consistent with an implied rate of return that an independent investor or market participant

would require for an investment in company having similar risks and business characteristics to the reporting unit being assessed

If the reporting units estimated fair value exceeds its carrying value the reporting unit is not impaired and no further analysis is

performed Otherwise the amount of the impairment must be determined by comparing the carrying amount of the reporting

units goodwill to the implied fair value of that goodwill The implied fair value of goodwill is determined by assigning fair

value to all of the reporting units assets and liabilities including any unrecognized intangible assets as if the reporting unit had

been acquired in business combination at fair value If the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied

fair value of that goodwill an impairment loss would be recognized in an amount equal to that excess

Based on our annual impairment reviews the fair value of all of our reporting units exceeded their carrying values and we do not

believe that there is reasonable possibility that any units might fail the initial step of the impairment test in the foreseeable future
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Retirement Benefits

We maintain various pension and postretirement plans for our employees globally These plans include significant pension and

postretirement benefit obligations which are calculated based on actuarial valuations Key assumptions used in determining these

obligations and related expenses include expected long-term rates of return on plan assets discount rates and healthcare cost

projections We also make assumptions regarding employee demographic factors such as retirement patterns mortality turnover

and rate of compensation increases We evaluate and update these assumptions annually

To determine the weighted-average expected long-term rate of return on plan assets we consider the current and expected asset

allocation as well as historical and expected returns on each plan asset class lower expected rate of return on plan assets will

increase pension expense For 2012 the assumed expected long-term rate of return on plan assets used in calculating pension

expense was 7.58% compared with 7.84% in 2011 In 2012 and 2011 the assumed rate of return for our domestic plans which

represent approximately 90% of our total pension assets was 7.75% and 8.00% respectively 50-basis-point decrease in this

long-term rate of return in 2012 would have increased pension expense for our domestic plans by approximately $24 million

The discount rate enables us to state expected future benefit payments as present value on the measurement date reflecting the

current rate at which the pension liabilities could be effectively settled This rate should be in line with rates for high-quality fixed

income investments available for the period to maturity of the pension benefits which fluctuate as long-term interest rates change

lower discount rate increases the present value of the benefit obligations and increases pension expense In 2012 the weighted-

average
discount rate used in calculating pension expense was 4.94% compared with 5.7 1% in 2011 For our domestic plans the

assumed discount rate was 5.00% in 2012 compared with 5.75% for 2011 50-basis-point decrease in this discount rate in 2012

would have increased pension expense for our domestic plans by approximately $27 million

The trend in healthcare costs is difficult to estimate and it has an important effect on postretirement liabilities The 2012 medical

and prescription drug healthcare cost trend rates represent the weighted-average annual projected rate of increase in the per capita

cost of covered benefits The 2012 medical rate of 8.40% is assumed to decrease to 5.00% by 2021 and then remain at that level

The 2012 prescription drug rate of 8.40% is assumed to decrease to 5.00% by 2021 and then remain at that level See Note 13 to

the Consolidated Financial Statements for the impact of one-percentage-point change in the cost trend rate

Warranty Liabilities

We provide limited warranty and product maintenance programs including parts and labor for certain products for periods

ranging from one to five years significant portion of these liabilities arises from our commercial aircraft businesses We also

may incur costs related to product recalls We estimate the costs that may be incurred under warranty programs and record

liability in the amount of such costs at the time product revenue is recognized Factors that affect this liability include the number

of products sold historical costs per claim contractual recoveries from vendors and historical and anticipated rates of warranty

claims including production and warranty patterns for new models During our initial aircraft model launches we typically incur

higher warranty-related costs until the production process matures at which point warranty costs moderate We assess the

adequacy of our recorded warranty and product maintenance liabilities periodically and adjust the amounts as necessary

Adjustments are made to accruals as claim data and actual experience warrant Should future warranty experience differ materially

from our historical experience we may be required to record additional warranty liabilities which could have material adverse

effect on our results of operations and cash flows in the period in which these additional liabilities are required

Allowance for Losses on Finance Receivables Held for Investment

Finance receivables held for investment are generally recorded at the amount of outstanding principal less allowance for losses

We maintain the allowance for losses on finance receivables at level considered adequate to cover inherent losses in the portfolio

based on managements evaluation For larger balance accounts specifically identified as impaired including large accounts in

homogeneous portfolios reserve is established based on comparing the carrying value with either the expected future cash

flows discounted at the finance receivables effective interest rate or the fair value of the underlying collateral if the finance

receivable is collateral dependent The expected future cash flows consider collateral value financial performance and liquidity of

our borrower existence and financial strength of guarantors estimated recovery costs including legal expenses and costs

associated with the repossessionlforeclosure and eventual disposal of collateral When there is range of potential outcomes we

perform multiple discounted cash flow analyses and weight the outcomes based on their relative likelihood of occurrence The

evaluation of our portfolio is inherently subjective as it requires estimates including the amount and timing of future cash flows

expected to be received on impaired finance receivables and the underlying collateral which may differ from actual results While

our analysis is specific to each individual account critical factors included in this analysis for the Captive product line include

industry valuation guides age and physical condition of collateral payment history and existence and financial strength of

guarantors
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We also establish an allowance for losses to cover probable but specifically unknown losses existing in the portfolio For the

Captive product line the allowance is established as percentage of non-recourse finance receivables which have not been

identified as requiring specific reserves The percentage is based on combination of factors including historical loss experience

current delinquency and default trends collateral values and both general economic and specific industry trends

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax balances reflect the effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities and their tax bases as well as from net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards and are stated at enacted

tax rates in effect for the year taxes are expected to be paid or recovered Deferred income tax assets represent amounts available

to reduce income taxes payable on taxable income in future years We evaluate the recoverability of these future tax deductions

and credits by assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income from all sources including the future reversal of existing

taxable temporary differences taxable income in carryback years available tax planning strategies and estimated future taxable

income We recognize net tax-related interest and penalties for continuing operations in income tax expense

The amount of income taxes we pay is subject to ongoing audits by federal state and foreign tax authorities which may result in

proposed assessments Our estimate of the potential outcome for any uncertain tax issue is highly judgmental We assess our

income tax positions and record tax benefits for all years subject to examination based upon our evaluation of the facts

circumstances and information available at the reporting date For those tax positions for which it is more likely than not that tax

benefit will be sustained we record the largest amount of tax benefit with greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon

settlement with taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information Interest and penalties are accrued where

applicable We recognize net tax-related interest and penalties for continuing operations in income tax expense If we do not

believe that it is more likely than not that tax benefit will be sustained no tax benefit is recognized However our future results

may include favorable or unfavorable adjustments to our estimated tax liabilities due to settlement of income tax examinations

new regulatory or judicial pronouncements or other relevant events As result our effective tax rate may fluctuate significantly

on quarterly and annual basis

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Risks

Our financial results are affected by changes in the U.S and foreign interest rates As part of managing this risk we seek to

achieve prudent balance between floating- and fixed-rate exposures We continually monitor our mix of these exposures and

adjust the mix as necessary
For our Finance group we limit our risk to changes in interest rates for the captive business with

strategy of matching floating-rate assets with floating-rate liabilities which includes the use of interest rate exchange agreements

Foreign Exchange Risks

Our financial results are affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates in the various countries in which our products are

manufactured and/or sold For our manufacturing operations we manage exposures to foreign currency assets and earnings

primarily by funding certain foreign currency-denominated assets with liabilities in the same currency so that certain exposures are

naturally offset We primarily use borrowings denominated in euro and British pound sterling for these purposes In managing

our foreign currency transaction exposures we also enter into foreign currency
forward exchange and option contracts These

contracts generally are used to fix the local currency cost of purchased goods or services or selling prices denominated in

currencies other than the functional currency The notional amount of outstanding foreign exchange contracts and foreign

currency options was approximately $0.7 billion and $0.6 billion at the end of 2012 and 2011 respectively

The impact of foreign exchange rate changes for 2012 and 2011 from the prior year
for each period is provided below

In millions 2012 2011

Impact of foreign exchange rates increased decreased

Revenues 80 77

Segment profit 10

Quantitative Risk Measures

In the normal course of business we enter into financial instruments for purposes other than trading To quantify the market risk

inherent in our financial instruments we utilize sensitivity analysis The financial instruments that are subject to market risk

interest rate risk and foreign exchange rate risk include finance receivables excluding lease receivables debt excluding lease

obligations interest rate exchange agreements and foreign currency exchange contracts
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Presented below is sensitivity analysis of the fair value of financial instruments outstanding at year-end We estimate the fair

value of the financial instruments using discounted cash flow analysis and indicative market pricing as reported by leading

financial news and data providers This sensitivity analysis is most likely not indicative of actual results in the future The

following table illustrates the sensitivity to hypothetical change in the fair value of the financial instruments assuming 10%

decrease in interest rates and 10% strengthening in exchange rates against the U.S dollar

2012 2011

Sensitivity of Sensitivity of

Fair Value Fair Value

Carrying Fair to 10% Carrying Fair to 10%

In millions Value Value Change Value Value Change

Manufacturing group

Foreign exchange rate risk

Debt 564 598 60 543 564 56
Foreign currency exchange contracts 34 46

558 592 26 538 559 10
Interest rate risk

Debt 2225 2636 2328 2561 14

Finance group

Interest rate risk

Finance receivables 1766 1793 36 2415 2266 90

Debt including intergroup 1687 1678 13 2467 2347 24
79 115 23 52 81 66

The value represents an asset or liability
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Report of Management

Management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the financial data presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles and

include amounts based on managements best estimates and judgments Management also is responsible for establishing and

maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for Textron Inc as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-

15f With the participation of our management we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over

financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control Integrated

Framework we have concluded that Textron Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 29 2012

The independent registered public accounting firm Ernst Young LLP has audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of

Textron Inc and has issued an attestation report on Textrons internal controls over financial reporting as of December 29 2012

as stated in its reports which are included herein

We conduct our business in accordance with the standards outlined in the Textron Business Conduct Guidelines which are

communicated to all employees Honesty integrity and high ethical standards are the core values of how we conduct business

Every Textron business prepares and carries out an annual Compliance Plan to ensure these values and standards are maintained

Our internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable assurance at appropriate cost that assets are safeguarded and that

transactions are properly executed and recorded The internal control structure includes among other things established policies

and procedures an internal audit function and the selection and training of qualified personnel Textrons management is

responsible for implementing effective internal control systems and monitoring their effectiveness as well as developing and

executing an annual internal control plan

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors on behalf of the shareholders oversees managements financial reporting

responsibilities The Audit Committee consists of six directors who are not officers or employees of Textron and meets regularly

with the independent auditors management and our internal auditors to review matters relating to financial reporting internal

accounting controls and auditing Both the independent auditors and the internal auditors have free and full access to senior

management and the Audit Committee

Scott onnelly Frank Connor

Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 15 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Textron Inc

We have audited Textron Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 29 2012 based on criteria established in

Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the

COSO criteria Textron Inc.s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and

for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Report of

Management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys internal control over financial reporting based on our

audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control

over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control

over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in

the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of

the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the

company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys

assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because

of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Textron Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December

29 2012 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

Consolidated Balance Sheets of Textron Inc as of December 29 2012 and December 31 2011 and the related Consolidated

Statements of Operations Comprehensive Income Loss Shareholders Equity and Cash Flows for each of the three years
in the

period ended December 29 2012 of Textron Inc and our report dated February 15 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

/O-t47iLP

Boston Massachusetts

February 15 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Textron Inc

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets of Textron Inc as of December 29 2012 and December 31

2011 and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations Comprehensive Income Loss Shareholders Equity and Cash

Flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 29 2012 Our audits also included the financial statement

schedule contained on page 83 These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial position

of Textron Inc at December 29 2012 and December 31 2011 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 29 2012 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

Also in our opinion the related financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as

whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Textron Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 29 2012 based on criteria established in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated

February 15 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

ht47LLP

Boston Massachusetts

February 15 2013
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

For each of the years in the three-year period ended December 29 2012

In millions except per share data 2012 2011 2010

Revenues

Manufacturing revenues 12022 11172 10307

Finance revenues 215 103 218

Total revenues 12237 11275 10525

Costs expenses and other

Cost of sales 10019 9308 8605

Selling and administrative expense 1168 1183 1231

Interest expense
212 246 270

Provision for losses on finance receivables 12 143

Valuation allowance on transfer of Golf Mortgage portfolio to held for sale 186

Special charges
190

Other losses net

Total costs expenses
and other 11396 10938 10439

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 841 337 86

Income tax expense benefit 260 95

Income from continuing operations
581 242 92

Income loss from discontinued operations net of income taxes

Net income 589 242 86

Basic earnings per share

Continuing operations
2.07 0.87 0.33

Discontinued operations
0.03 0.02

Basic earnings per share 2.10 0.87 0.31

Diluted earnings per share

Continuing operations
1.97 0.79 0.30

Discontinued operations
0.03 0.02

Diluted earnings per share 2.00 0.79 0.28

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Loss

For each of the years in the three-year period ended December 29 2012

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Net income 589 242 86

Other comprehensive income loss net of tax

Pension adjustments net of reclassifications 146 286 71
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contracts net of reclassifications 20
Foreign currency translation adjustment

Recognition of currency translation loss see Note 74

Comprehensive income loss 444 67 91

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 29 December 31

In millions except share data
2012 2011

Assets

Manufacturing group

Cash and equivalents
1378 871

Accounts receivable net
829 856

Inventories 2712 2402

Other current assets
470 1134

Total current assets 5389 5263

Property plant and equipment net 2149 1996

Goodwill 1649 1635

Other assets
1524 1508

Total Manufacturing group assets 10711 10402

Finance group

Cash and equivalents
35 14

Finance receivables held for investment net 1850 2321

Finance receivables held for sale
140 418

Other assets
297 460

Total Finance group assets 2322 3213

Total assets
13033 13615

Liabilities and shareholders equity

Liabilities

Manufacturing group

Current portion of long-term debt 535 146

Accounts payable
1021 833

Accrued liabilities 1956 1952

Total current liabilities 3512 2931

Other liabilities
2798 2826

Long-term debt 1766 2313

Total Manufacturing group liabilities 8076 8070

Finance group

Other liabilities
279 333

Due to Manufacturing group
493

Debt 1686 1974

Total Finance group liabilities 1966 2800

Total liabilities
10042 10870

Shareholders equity

Common stock 282.6 million and 279.1 million shares issued respectively and 271.3 million

and 278.9 million shares outstanding respectively
35 35

Capital surplus
1177 1081

Retained earnings
3824 3257

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 1770 1625
3266 2748

Less cost of treasury shares
275

Total shareholders equity
2991 2745

Total liabilities and shareholders equity
13033 13615

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity

Accumulated

Other Total

Common Capital Retained Treasury Comprehensive Shareholders

In millions except per share data Stock Surplus Earnings Stock Loss Equity

BalanceatJanuary22010 35 1369 2973 230 1321 2826
Net income 86 86

Other comprehensive income

Dividends declared $0.08 per share 22 22
Share-based compensation activity 68 145 77

Balance at January 12011 35 1301 3037 85 1316 2972
Net income 242 242

Other comprehensive loss 309 309
Dividends declared $0.08 per share 22 22
Purchases/conversions of convertible notes 179 182
Amendment of call optionlwarrant

transactions and purchase of capped call 30 30
Share-based compensation activity 11 85 74

Balance at December 31 2011 35 1081 3257 1625 2745
Net income 589 589

Other comprehensive loss 145 145
Dividends declared $0.08 per share 22 22
Share-based compensation activity 96 96

Purchases of common stock 272 272
Balance at December 29 2012 35 1177 3824 275 1770 2991

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For each of the years in the three-year period ended December 29 2012

Consolidated

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income loss 589 242 86

Less Income loss from discontinued operations

Income loss from continuing operations
581 242 92

Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash provided

by used in operating activities

Dividends received from Finance group

Capital contributions paid to Finance group

Non-cash items

Depreciation and amortization 383 403 393

Provision for losses on finance receivables held for investment 12 143

Portfolio losses on finance receivables 68 102 112

Valuation allowance on finance receivables held for sale 76 202

Goodwill and other asset impairment charges
59 19

Deferred income taxes 171 81 69

Other net
97 166 109

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable net 32 36

Inventories 316 127 10

Other assets
85 76 99

Accounts payable
179 211 54

Accrued and other liabilities 122 105 249

Pension net
240 474 269

Captive finance receivables net 96 236 424

Other operating activities net 52

Net cash provided by used in operating activities of continuing operations
935 1068 993

Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 927 1063 984

Cash flows from investing activities

Finance receivables repaid
599 824 1635

Finance receivables originated or purchased 22 87 450

Proceeds on receivables sales
116 42 528

Capital expenditures 480 423 270

Proceeds from collection on notes receivable from prior disposition 58

Net cash used in acquisitions
II 14 57

Proceeds from sale of repossessed assets and properties 133 109 129

Other investing activities net
43 55 34

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 378 843 1549

Cash flows from financing activities

Principal payments on long-term debt and nonrecourse debt 615 785 2241

Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 106 926 23

Payments on long-term lines of credit 1440 1467

Intergroup financing

Settlement of convertible notes 580

Capital contributions paid to Finance group under Support Agreement

Capital contributions paid to Cessna Export Finance Corp

Amendment of call option/warrant transactions and purchase of capped call 30
Purchases of Textron common stock 272

Dividends paid
17 22 22

Other financing activities
19 20

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 781 195 3493

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents

Net increase decrease in cash and equivalents
528 46 961

Cash and equivalents at beginning of year
885 93 1892

Cash and equivalents at end of year
1413 885 93

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Manufacturing Group Finance Group

2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010

542 464 314 47 222 228

534 464 320 47 222 228

345 179 505

240 182 383

358 371 362 25 32 31

12 143

68 102 112

76 202

57 18

102 197 131 69 116 62
97 166 110

32 36

300 132 11
99 70 72 11 10 32

179 211 54

149 170 115 44 79
24 475 277

52
958 761 730 65 35

950 756 721 65 35

1004 1289 2348

331 471 866
116 476 655

480 423 270
58

11 14 57
133 109 129

15 44 26 12 50 39

476 423 353 934 1453 2305

189 29 130 426 756 2111
496 106 430 231

490 175 98 493 167 111
1167 1440 300

580
240 182 383

60 30

30
272
17 22 22 345 179 505

19 20
29 360 1215 918 1536 2383

507 27 850 21 19 111

2II 898 14
1.378 871 898 35 14 33
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Financial Statement Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Textron Inc and its majority-owned subsidiaries Our financings

are conducted through two separate borrowing groups The Manufacturing group consists of Textron Inc consolidated with its

majority-owned subsidiaries that operate in the Cessna Bell Textron Systems and Industrial segments The Finance group which

also is the Finance segment consists of Textron Financial Corporation TFC its consolidated subsidiaries and three other finance

subsidiaries owned by Textron Inc We designed this framework to enhance our borrowing power by separating the Finance

group Our Manufacturing group operations include the development production and delivery of tangible goods and services

while our Finance group provides financial services Due to the fundamental differences between each borrowing groups

activities investors rating agencies and analysts use different measures to evaluate each groups performance To support those

evaluations we present balance sheet and cash flow information for each borrowing group within the Consolidated Financial

Statements

Our Finance group provides captive financing for retail purchases and leases for new and used aircraft and equipment

manufactured by our Manufacturing group In the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows cash received from customers or from

the sale of receivables is reflected as operating activities when received from third parties However in the cash flow information

provided for the separate borrowing groups cash flows related to captive financing activities are reflected based on the operations

of each group For example when product is sold by our Manufacturing group to customer and is financed by the Finance

group the origination of the finance receivable is recorded within investing activities as cash outflow in the Finance groups

statement of cash flows Meanwhile in the Manufacturing groups statement of cash flows the cash received from the Finance

group on the customers behalf is recorded within operating cash flows as cash inflow Although cash is transferred between the

two borrowing groups there is no cash transaction reported in the consolidated cash flows at the time of the original financing

These captive financing activities along with all significant intercompany transactions are reclassified or eliminated in

consolidation

Collaborative Arrangements

Our Bell segment has strategic alliance agreement with The Boeing Company Boeing to provide engineering development and

test services related to the V-22 aircraft as well as to produce the V-22 aircraft under number of separate contracts with the U.S

Government V-22 Contracts The alliance created by this agreement is not legal entity and has no employees no assets and no

true operations This agreement creates contractual rights and does not represent an entity in which we have an equity interest

We account for this alliance as collaborative arrangement with Bell and Boeing reporting costs incurred and revenues generated

from transactions with the U.S Government in each companys respective income statement Neither Bell nor Boeing is

considered to be the principal participant for the transactions recorded under this agreement Profits on cost-plus contracts are

allocated between Bell and Boeing on 50%-50% basis Negotiated profits on fixed-price contracts are also allocated 50%-50%

however Bell and Boeing are each responsible for their own cost overruns and are entitled to retain any cost underruns Based on

the contractual arrangement established under the alliance Bell accounts for its rights and obligations under the specific

requirements of the V-22 Contracts allocated to Bell under the work breakdown structure We account for all of our rights and

obligations including warranty product and any contingent liabilities under the specific requirements of the V-22 Contracts

allocated to us under the agreement Revenues and cost of sales reflect our performance under the V-22 Contracts with revenues

recognized using the units-of-delivery method We include all assets used in performance of the V-22 Contracts that we own

including inventory and unpaid receivables and all liabilities arising from our obligations under the V-22 Contracts in our

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Use of Estimates

We prepare our financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles which require us to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements Actual results could differ from those

estimates Our estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and the effects of changes if any are reflected in the

Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period that they are determined

During 2012 2011 and 2010 we changed our estimates of revenues and costs on certain long-term contracts that are accounted for

under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting These changes in estimates increased income from continuing

operations before income taxes in 2012 2011 and 2010 by $15 million $54 million and $78 million respectively $9 million $34

million and $49 million after tax or $0.03 $0.11 and $0.16 per diluted share respectively For 2012 2011 and 2010 the gross

favorable program profit adjustments totaled $88 million $83 million and $98 million respectively For 2012 2011 and 2010 the

gross unfavorable program profit adjustments totaled $73 million $29 million and $20 million respectively
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Cash and Equivalents

Cash and equivalents consist of cash and short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less

Revenue Recognition

We generally recognize revenue for the sale of products which are not under long-term contracts upon delivery For commercial

aircraft delivery is upon completion of manufacturing customer acceptance and the transfer of the risk and rewards of ownership

Taxes collected from customers and remitted to government authorities are recorded on net basis

When sale arrangement involves multiple deliverables such as sales of products that include customization and other services

we evaluate the arrangement to determine whether there are separate items that are required to be delivered under the arrangement

that qualify as separate units of accounting These arrangements typically involve the customization services we offer to

customers who purchase Bell helicopters and the services generally are provided within the first six months after the customer

accepts the aircraft and assumes risk of loss We consider the aircraft and the customization services to be separate units of

accounting and allocate contract price between the two on relative selling price basis using the best evidence of selling price for

each of the arrangement deliverables typically by reference to the price charged when the same or similar items are sold separately

by us taking into consideration any performance cancellation termination or refund-type provisions We recognize revenue when

the recognition criteria for each unit of accounting are met

Long- Term Contracts Revenues under long-term contracts are accounted for under the percentage-of-completion method of

accounting Under this method we estimate profit as the difference between the total estimated revenues and cost of contract

We then recognize that estimated profit over the contract term based on either the units-of-delivery method or the cost-to-cost

method which typically is used for development effort as costs are incurred as appropriate under the circumstances Revenues

under fixed-price contracts generally are recorded using the units-of-delivery method Revenues under cost-reimbursement

contracts are recorded using the cost-to-cost method

Long-term contract profits are based on estimates of total contract cost and revenues utilizing current contract specifications

expected engineering requirements the achievement of contract milestones and product deliveries Certain contracts are awarded

with fixed-price incentive fees that also are considered when estimating revenues and profit rates Contract costs typically are

incurred over period of several years and the estimation of these costs requires substantial judgment Our cost estimation

process is based on the professional knowledge and experience of engineers and program managers along with finance

professionals We update our projections of costs at least semiannually or when circumstances significantly change When

adjustments are required any changes from prior estimates are recognized using the cumulative catch-up method with the impact

of the change from inception-to-date recorded in the current period Anticipated losses on contracts are recognized in full in the

period in which the losses become probable and estimable

Finance Revenues Finance revenues include interest on finance receivables direct loan origination costs and fees received and

capital and leveraged lease earnings as well as portfolio gains/losses Portfolio gains/losses include impairment charges related to

repossessed assets and properties and gains/losses on the sale or early termination of finance assets Revenues on direct loan

origination costs and fees received are deferred and amortized to finance revenues over the contractual lives of the respective

receivables and credit lines using the interest method When receivables are sold or prepaid unamortized amounts are recognized

in finance revenues

We recognize interest using the interest method which provides constant rate of return over the terms of the receivables

Accrual of interest income is suspended if credit quality indicators suggest full collection of principal and interest is doubtful In

addition we automatically suspend the accrual of interest income for accounts that are contractually delinquent by more than three

months unless collection is not doubtful Cash payments on nonaccrual accounts including finance charges generally are applied

to reduce the net investment balance We resume the accrual of interest when the loan becomes contractually current through

payment according to the original terms of the loan or if loan has been modified following period of performance under the

terms of the modification provided we conclude that collection of all principal and interest is no longer doubtful Previously

suspended interest income is recognized at that time

Finance Receivables Held for Investment and Allowance for Losses

Finance receivables are classified as held for investment when we have the intent and the ability to hold the receivable for the

foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff Finance receivables held for investment are generally recorded at the amount of

outstanding principal less allowance for losses
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We maintain the allowance for losses on finance receivables held for investment at level considered adequate to cover inherent

losses in the portfolio based on managements evaluation For larger balance accounts specifically identified as impaired

including large accounts in homogeneous portfolios reserve is established based on comparing the carrying value with either

the expected future cash flows discounted at the finance receivables effective interest rate or the fair value of the underlying

collateral if the finance receivable is collateral dependent The expected future cash flows consider collateral value financial

performance and liquidity of our borrower existence and financial strength of guarantors estimated recovery costs including legal

expenses and costs associated with the repossession/foreclosure and eventual disposal of collateral When there is range
of

potential outcomes we perform multiple discounted cash flow analyses and weight the potential outcomes based on their relative

likelihood of occurrence The evaluation of our portfolio is inherently subjective as it requires estimates including the amount

and timing of future cash flows expected to be received on impaired finance receivables and the estimated fair value of the

underlying collateral which may differ from actual results While our analysis is specific to each individual account critical

factors included in this analysis for the Captive product line include industry valuation guides age and physical condition of the

collateral payment history and existence and financial strength of guarantors

We also establish an allowance for losses to cover probable but specifically unknown losses existing in the portfolio For the

Captive product line the allowance is established as percentage of non-recourse finance receivables which have not been

identified as requiring specific reserves The percentage is based on combination of factors including historical loss experience

current delinquency and default trends collateral values and both general economic and specific industry trends

Finance receivables held for investment are charged off at the earlier of the date the collateral is repossessed or when no payment

has been received for six months unless management deems the receivable collectible Repossessed assets are recorded at their

fair value less estimated cost to sell

Finance Receivables Held for Sale

Finance receivables are classified as held for sale based on the determination that we no longer intend to hold the receivables for

the foreseeable future until maturity or payoff or we no longer have the ability to hold to maturity Our decision to classify

certain finance receivables as held for sale is based on number of factors including but not limited to contractual duration type

of collateral credit strength of the borrowers interest rates and perceived marketability of the receivables

Finance receivables held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value At the time of transfer to the held for sale

classification we establish valuation allowance for any shortfall between the carrying value and fair value In addition any

allowance for loan losses previously allocated to these finance receivables is transferred to the valuation allowance account which

is netted with finance receivables held for sale on the balance sheet This valuation allowance is adjusted quarterly Fair value

changes can occur based on market interest rates market liquidity and changes in the credit quality of the borrower and value of

underlying loan collateral

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value We value our inventories generally using the first-in

first-out FIFO method or the last-in first-out LIFO method for certain qualifying inventories where LIFO provides better

matching of costs and revenues We determine costs for our commercial helicopters on an average cost basis by model considering

the expended and estimated costs for the current production release Inventoried costs related to long-term contracts are stated at

actual production costs including allocable operating overhead advances to suppliers and in the case of contracts with the U.S

Government allocable research and development and general and administrative expenses Since our inventoried costs include

amounts related to contracts with long production cycles portion of these costs is not expected to be realized within one year

Pursuant to contract provisions agencies of the U.S Government have title to or security interest in inventories related to such

contracts as result of advances performance-based payments and progress payments Such advances and payments are reflected

as an offset against the related inventory balances Customer deposits are recorded against inventory when the right of offset

exists All other customer deposits are recorded in accrued liabilities

Property Plant and Equipment

Property plant and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated primarily using the straight-line method We capitalize

expenditures for improvements that increase asset values and extend useful lives
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Intangible and Other Long-Lived Assets

At acquisition we estimate and record the fair value of purchased intangible assets primarily using discounted cash flow analysis

of anticipated cash flows reflecting incremental revenues and/or cost savings resulting from the acquired intangible asset using

market participant assumptions Amortization of intangible assets with finite lives is recognized over their estimated useful lives

using method of amortization that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed or

otherwise realized Approximately 37% of our gross intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method with the

remaining assets primarily customer agreements amortized based on the cash flow streams used to value the asset Long-lived

assets including intangible assets subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable If the carrying value of the asset held for use

exceeds the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows the carrying value of the asset generally is written down to fair

value Long-lived assets held for sale are stated at the lower of cost or fair value less cost to sell Fair value is determined using

pertinent market information including estimated future discounted cash flows

Goodwill

We evaluate the recoverability of goodwill annually in the fourth quarter or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances

such as declines in sales earnings or cash flows or material adverse changes in the business climate indicate that the carrying

value of reporting unit might be impaired The reporting unit represents the operating segment unless discrete financial

information is prepared and reviewed by segment management for businesses one level below that operating segment in which

case such component is the reporting unit In certain instances we have aggregated components of an operating segment into

single reporting unit based on similareconomic characteristics

We may perform qualitative assessment based on economic industry and company-specific factors as the initial step in our

annual goodwill impairment test for selected reporting units If we determine that it is more likely than not that reporting units

fair value exceeds its carrying value we do not perform quantitative assessment For all other reporting units we calculate the

fair value of each reporting unit primarily using discounted cash flows The discounted cash flows incorporate assumptions for

the units short- and long-term revenue growth rates operating margins and discount rates which represent our best estimates of

current and forecasted market conditions cost structure anticipated net cost reductions and the implied rate of return that we

believe market participant would require for an investment in business having similar risks and business characteristics to the

reporting unit being assessed If the reporting units estimated fair value exceeds its carrying value the reporting unit is not

impaired and no further analysis is performed Otherwise the amount of the impairment must be determined by comparing the

carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill to the implied fair value of that goodwill The implied fair value of goodwill is

determined by assigning fair value to all of the reporting units assets and liabilities including any unrecognized intangible

assets as if the reporting unit had been acquired in business combination at fair value If the carrying amount of the reporting

unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value an impairment loss would be recognized in an amount equal to that excess

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Obligations

We maintain various pension and postretirement plans for our employees globally These plans include significant pension and

postretirement benefit obligations which are calculated based on actuarial valuations Key assumptions used in determining these

obligations and related expenses include expected long-term rates of return on plan assets discount rates and healthcare cost

projections We evaluate and update these assumptions annually in consultation with third-party actuaries and investment

advisors We also make assumptions regarding employee demographic factors such as retirement patterns mortality turnover and

rate of compensation increases We recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of our pension and postretirement plans in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets and recognize changes in the funded status of our defined benefit plans in comprehensive income in

the year
in which they occur Actuarial gains and losses that are not immediately recognized as net periodic pension cost are

recognized as component of other comprehensive loss income OCI and are amortized into net periodic pension cost in future

periods

Derivative Financial Instruments

We are exposed to market risk primarily from changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates We do not hold or issue

derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes To manage the volatility relating to our exposures we net

these exposures on consolidated basis to take advantage of natural offsets For the residual portion we enter into various

derivative transactions pursuant to our policies in areas such as counterparty exposure and hedging practices All derivative

instruments are reported at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets Designation to support hedge accounting is performed

on specific exposure basis For financial instruments qualifying as fair value hedges we record changes in fair value in earnings

offset in part or in whole by corresponding changes in the fair value of the underlying exposures being hedged For cash flow

hedges we record changes in the fair value of derivatives to the extent they are effective as hedges in OCI net of deferred taxes

Changes in fair value of derivatives not qualifying as hedges are recorded in earnings
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Foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities are translated into U.s dollars Adjustments from currency rate changes are

recorded in the cumulative translation adjustment account in shareholders equity until the related foreign entity is sold or

substantially liquidated We use foreign currency financing transactions to effectively hedge long-term investments in foreign

operations with the same corresponding currency Foreign currency gains and losses on the hedge of the long-term investments

are recorded in the cumulative translation adjustment account with the offset recorded as an adjustment to debt

Product Liabilities

We accrue for product liability claims and related defense costs when loss is probable and reasonably estimable Our estimates

are generally based on the specifics of each claim or incident and our best estimate of the probable loss using historical experience

Environmental Liabilities and Asset Retirement Obligations

Liabilities for environmental matters are recorded on site-by-site basis when it is probable that an obligation has been incurred

and the cost can be reasonably estimated We estimate our accrued environmental liabilities using currently available facts

existing technology and presently enacted laws and regulations all of which are subject to number of factors and uncertainties

Our environmental liabilities are not discounted and do not take into consideration possible future insurance proceeds or

significant amounts from claims against other third parties

We have incurred asset retirement obligations primarily related to costs to remove and dispose of underground storage tanks and

asbestos materials used in insulation adhesive fillers and floor tiles There is no legal requirement to remove these items and

there currently is no plan to remodel the related facilities or otherwise cause the impacted items to require disposal Since these

asset retirement obligations are not estimable there is no related liability recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

Warranty and Product Maintenance Contracts

We provide limited warranty and product maintenance programs including parts and labor for certain products for periods

ranging from one to five years We estimate the costs that may be incurred under warranty programs and record liability in the

amount of such costs at the time product revenues are recognized Factors that affect this liability include the number of products

sold historical and anticipated rates of warranty claims and cost per claim We assess the adequacy of our recorded warranty and

product maintenance liabilities periodically and adjust the amounts as necessary Additionally we may establish warranty

liabilities related to the issuance of aircraft service bulletins for aircraft no longer covered under the limited warranty programs

Research and Development Costs

Our customer-funded research and development costs are charged directly to the related contracts which primarily consist of U.S

Government contracts In accordance with government regulations we recover portion of company-funded research and

development costs through overhead rate charges on our U.S Government contracts Research and development costs that are not

reimbursable under contract with the U.S Government or another customer are charged to expense as incurred Company-

funded research and development costs were $584 million $525 million and $403 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

and are included in cost of sales

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax balances reflect the effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities and their tax bases as well as from net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards and are stated at enacted

tax rates in effect for the year taxes are expected to be paid or recovered Deferred income tax assets represent amounts available

to reduce income taxes payable on taxable income in future years We evaluate the recoverability of these future tax deductions

and credits by assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income from all sources including the future reversal of existing

taxable temporary differences taxable income in carryback years available tax planning strategies and estimated future taxable

income We recognize net tax-related interest and penalties for continuing operations in income tax expense

Note Discontinued Operations

In pursuing our business strategies we have periodically divested certain non-core businesses For several previously-disposed

businesses we have retained certain assets and liabilities All residual activity relating to our previously-disposed businesses that

meet the appropriate criteria is included in discontinued operations

In connection with the 2008 sale of the Fluid Power business unit we received six-year note with face value of $28 million

and five-year note with face value of $30 million which were both recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet net of

valuation allowance In the fourth quarter of 2011 we received full payment of both of these notes plus interest resulting in gain

of $52 million that was recorded in Other losses net
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Note Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment are as follows

Textron

Systems

958

In millions Cessna Bell Industrial Total

Balance at January 2010 322 30 312 1622

Acquisitions 16 22

Foreign currency translation 12 12
BalanceatJanuary 2011 322 31 974 305 1632

Acquisitions

Foreign currency
translation

Balance at December 312011 322 31 974 308 1635

Acquisitions
10

Foreign currency translation

Balance at December 29 2012 326 31 974 318 1649

Our intangible assets are summarized below

December 29 2012 December 31 2011

Weighted-Average Gross Gross

Amortization Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

Dollars in millions Period in years Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net

Customer agreements and

contractual relationships 15 330 139 191 330 112 218

Patents and technology 10 84 55 29 95 59 36

Trademarks 18 36 22 14 36 19 17

Other 20 16 22 16
Total 470 232 238 483 206 277

In the fourth quarter of 2011 we recorded $41 million impairment charge to write down $37 million in customer agreements and

contractual relationships and $4 million in patents and technology See Note for more information on this charge

Amortization
expense

totaled $40 million $51 million and $52 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Amortization

expense is estimated to be approximately $36 million $35 million $34 million $28 million and $24 million in 2013 2014 2015

2016 and 2017 respectively

Note Accounts Receivable and Finance Receivables

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable is composed of the following

December 29 December 31

In millions 2012 2011

Commercial 534 528

U.S Government contracts 314 346

848 874

Allowance for doubtful accounts 19 18
Total 829 856

We have unbillable receivables primarily on U.S Government contracts that arise when the revenues we have appropriately

recognized based on performance cannot be billed yet under terms of the contract Unbillable receivables within accounts

receivable totaled $149 million at December 29 2012 and $192 million at December 31 2011
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Finance Receivables

Finance receivables by product line which includes both finance receivables held for investment and finance receivables held for

sale are presented in the following table

December 29 December 31

In millions 2012 2011

Captive 1704 1945

Non-captive

Golf Mortgage 140 381

Structured Capital 122 208

Timeshare 100 318

Other liquidating
43

Total finance receivables 2074 2895

Less Allowance for losses 84 156

Less Finance receivables held for sale 140 418

Total finance receivables held for investment net 1850 2321

Captive primarily includes loans and finance leases provided to purchasers of new and used Cessna aircraft and Bell helicopters

and also includes loans and finance leases secured by used aircraft produced by other manufacturers These agreements typically

have initial terms ranging from five to ten years and amortization terms ranging from eight to fifteen years The average balance

of loans and finance leases in Captive was $1 million at December 29 2012 Loans generally require the customer to pay

significant down payment along with periodic scheduled principal payments that reduce the outstanding balance through the term

of the loan Finance leases with no significant residual value at the end of the contractual term are classified as loans as their legal

and economic substance is more equivalent to secured borrowing than finance lease with significant residual value Captive

also includes to limited extent finance leases provided to purchasers of new E-Z-GO and Jacobsen golf and turf-care equipment

Golf Mortgage primarily includes golf course mortgages and also includes mortgages secured by hotels and marinas which are

secured by real property and are generally limited to 75% or less of the propertys appraised market value at loan origination

These mortgages typically have initial terms ranging from five to ten years with amortization periods from twenty to thirty years

As of December 29 2012 loans in Golf Mortgage had an average
balance of $7 million and weighted-average contractual

maturity of two years All loans in this portfolio are classified as held for sale Structured Capital primarily includes leveraged

leases secured by the ownership of the leased equipment and real property Timeshare includes pools of timeshare interval resort

notes that typically have terms of ten to twenty years as well as term loans secured by timeshare interval inventory

Our finance receivables are diversified across geographic region and borrower industry At December 29 2012 45% of our

finance receivables were distributed throughout the U.S compared with 54% at the end of 2011 Finance receivables held for

investment are composed primarily of loans At December 29 2012 and December 31 2011 these finance receivables included

$341 million and $559 million respectively of receivables primarily in the Captive product line that have been legally sold to

special purpose entities SPEs which are consolidated subsidiaries of TFC The assets of the SPEs are pledged as collateral for

their debt which is reflected as securitized on-balance sheet debt in Note Third-party investors have no legal recourse to TFC

beyond the credit enhancement provided by the assets of the SPEs

We received total proceeds of $116 million and $476 million from the sale of finance receivables in 2012 and 2011 respectively

Total gains resulting from these sales were not material for 2012 and 2011

Credit Quality Indicators and Nonaccrual Finance Receivables

We internally assess the quality of our finance receivables held for investment portfolio based on number of key credit quality

indicators and statistics such as delinquency loan balance to estimated collateral value and the financial strength of individual

borrowers and guarantors Because many of these indicators are difficult to apply across an entire class of receivables we evaluate

individual loans on quarterly basis and classify these loans into three categories based on the key credit quality indicators for the

individual loan These three categories are performing watchlist and nonaccrual

We classify finance receivables held for investment as nonaccrual if credit quality indicators suggest full collection of principal

and interest is doubtful In addition we automatically classify accounts as nonaccrual once they are contractually delinquent by

more than three months unless collection of principal and interest is not doubtful Cash payments on nonaccrual accounts

including finance charges generally are applied to reduce the net investment balance We resume the accrual of interest when the
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loan becomes contractually current through payment according to the original terms of the loan or if loan has been modified

following period of performance under the terms of the modification provided we conclude that collection of all principal and

interest is no longer doubtful Previously suspended interest income is recognized at that time

Accounts are classified as watchlist when credit quality indicators have deteriorated as compared with typical underwriting

criteria and we believe collection of full principal and interest is probable but not certain All other finance receivables held for

investment that do not meet the watchlist or nonaccrual categories are classified as performing

summary of finance receivables held for investment categorized based on the credit quality indicators discussed above is as

follows

December 29 2012 December 31 2011

In millions Performing Watchlist Nonaccrual Total Performing Watchlist Nonaccrual Total

Captive 1476 130 98 1704 1558 251 136 1945

Noncaptive 185 45 230 317 30 185 532

Total 1661 130 143 1934 1875 281 321 2477

%ofTotal 85.9% 6.7% 7.4% 75.7% 11.3% 13.0%

Noncaptive nonaccrualfinance receivables are primarily related to the Timeshare portfolio

We measure delinquency based on the contractual payment terms of our loans and leases In determining the delinquency aging

category of an account any/all principal and interest received is applied to the most past-due principal andlor interest amounts due

If significant portion of the contractually due payment is delinquent the entire finance receivable balance is reported in

accordance with the most past-due delinquency aging category

Finance receivables held for investment by delinquency aging category is summarized in the table below

December 29 2012 December 31 2011

Less Than 31-60 61-90 Over Less Than 31-60 61-90 Over

31 Days Days Days 90 Days 31 Days Days Days 90 Days

In millions Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due Total Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due Total

Captive 1531 87 55 31 1704 1758 69 43 75 1945

Non-captive 226 230 481 48 532

Total 1757 87 56 34 1934 2239 72 43 123 2477

We had no accrual status loans that were greater than 90 days past due at December 29 2012 or December 31 2011 At

December 29 2012 and December 31 2011 60 days contractual delinquency as percentage of finance receivables held for

investment was 4.65% and 6.70% respectively

Loan Modfications

Troubled debt restructurings occur when we have either modified the contract terms of finance receivables held for investment for

borrowers experiencing financial difficulties or accepted transfer of assets in full or partial satisfaction of the loan balance The

types of modifications we typically make include extensions of the original maturity date of the contract extensions of revolving

borrowing periods delays in the timing of required principal payments deferrals of interest payments advances to protect the

value of our collateral and principal reductions contingent on full repayment prior to the maturity date The changes effected by

modifications made during 2012 and 2011 to finance receivables held for investment were not material

Impaired Loans

We evaluate individual finance receivables held for investment in non-homogeneous portfolios and larger accounts in

homogeneous loan portfolios for impairment on quarterly basis Finance receivables classified as held for sale are reflected at

the lower of cost or fair value and are excluded from these evaluations finance receivable is considered impaired when it is

probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement based on our

review of the credit quality indicators discussed above Impaired finance receivables include both nonaccrual accounts and

accounts for which full collection of principal and interest remains probable but the accounts original terms have been or are

expected to be significantly modified If the modification specifies an interest rate equal to or greater than market rate for

finance receivable with comparable risk the account is not considered impaired in years subsequent to the modification There

was no significant interest income recognized on impaired loans in 2012 or 2011
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summary of impaired finance receivables excluding leveraged leases at year end and the average recorded investment for the

year
is provided below

Recorded Investment

Impaired Impaired

Loans with Loans with

No Related Related Total Unpaid Allowance Average

Allowance for Allowance for Impaired Principal For Losses On Recorded

In millions Credit Losses Credit Losses Loans Balance Impaired Loans Investment

December 29 2012

Captive 61 66 127 128 15 121

Non-captive 11 33 44 59 12 149

Total 72 99 171 187 27 270

December 31 2011

Captive 47 94 141 144 40 149

Non-captive 173 69 242 347 47 577

Total 220 163 383 491 87 726

Noncaptive impaired loans are primarily related to the Timeshare portfolio

summary of the allowance for losses on finance receivables that are evaluated on an individual and on collective basis is

provided below The finance receivables reported in this table specifically exclude $122 million and $208 million of leveraged

leases at December 29 2012 and December 31 2011 respectively in accordance with authoritative accounting standards

December 29 2012 December 31 2011

Allowance Allowance Allowance Allowance

Finance Based on Based on Finance Based on Based on

Receivables Evaluated Individual Collective Receivables Evaluated Individual Collective

In millions Individually Collectively Evaluation Evaluation Individually Collectively Evaluation Evaluation

Captive 127 1577 15 55 141 1804 40 61

Non-captive 44 64 12 242 82 47

Total 171 1641 27 57 383 1886 87 69

Ilowance for Losses

roilforward of the allowance for losses on finance receivables held for investment is provided below

Golf Other

In millions Captive Mortgage Timeshare Liquidating Total

Balance at January 12011 123 79 106 34 342

Provision for losses 15 25 26 12

Charge-offs 43 27 40 14 124
Recoveries 10 22

Transfers 80 13 96
Balance at December31 2011 101 40 15 156

Provision for losses

Charge-offs 42 32 10 84
Recoveries 10 15

Balance at December 29 2012 70 84
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Captive and Other Intercompany Financing

Our Finance group provides financing for retail purchases and leases for new and used aircraft and equipment manufactured by our

Manufacturing group The captive finance receivables for these inventory sales that are included in the Finance groups balance

sheets are summarized below

December 29 December 31

In millions 2012 2011

Loans 1389 1496

Finance leases 107 121

Total 1496 1617

In 2012 2011 and 2010 our Finance group paid our Manufacturing group $309 million $284 million and $416 million

respectively related to the sale of Textron-manufactured products to third parties that were financed by the Finance group Our

Cessna and Industrial segments also received proceeds in those years of $19 million $2 million and $10 million respectively

from the sale of equipment from their manufacturing operations to our Finance group for use under operating lease agreements

Operating agreements specify that our Finance group has recourse to our Manufacturing group for certain uncollected amounts

related to these transactions At December 29 2012 and December 31 2011 finance receivables and operating leases subject to

recourse to the Manufacturing group totaled $83 million and $88 million respectively Our Manufacturing group
has established

reserves for losses on its balance sheet within accrued and other liabilities for the amounts it guarantees

Textron lends TFC funds to pay down maturing debt The
average

interest rate on these borrowings was 4.3% and 5.0% during

2012 and 2011 respectively At December 29 2012 there was no outstanding balance due to Textron under this arrangement and

at December 31 2011 the outstanding balance due to Textron was $490 million These amounts are included in other current

assets for the Manufacturing group and Due to Manufacturing group for the Finance group in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

Finance Receivables Held for Sale

At the end of 2012 and 2011 $140 million and $418 million of finance receivables were classified as held for sale At December

29 2012 finance receivables held for sale included the entire Golf Mortgage portfolio In 2011 we transferred $458 million of

the remaining Golf Mortgage portfolio net of an $80 million allowance for loan losses from the held for investment classification

to the held for sale classification These finance receivables were recorded at fair value at the time of the transfer resulting in

$186 million charge recorded to Valuation allowance on transfer of Golf Mortgage portfolio to held for sale Also in 2011 we

transferred total of $125 million of Timeshare finance receivables to the held for sale classification based on an agreement to sell

portion of the portfolio that was sold in the fourth quarter of 2011 and interest in other portions of the portfolio We received

proceeds of $109 million and $383 million in 2012 and 2011 respectively from the sale of finance receivables held for sale and

$207 million and $10 million respectively from payoffs and collections

Note Inventories

Inventories are composed of the following

December 29 December 31

In millions 2012 2011

Finished goods 1329 1012

Work in process 2247 2202

Raw materials and components 437 399

4013 3613

Progress/milestone payments 1301 1211
Total 2712 2402

Inventories valued by the LIFO method totaled $1.1 billion and $1.0 billion at the end of 2012 and 2011 respectively and the

carrying values of these inventories would have been higher by approximately $435 million and $422 million respectively had

our LIFO inventories been valued at current costs Inventories related to long-term contracts net of progress/milestone payments

were $382 million and $414 million at the end of 2012 and 2011 respectively
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Note Property Plant and Equipment Net

Our Manufacturing groups property plant and equipment net are composed of the following

Useful Lives December 29 December 31

Dollars in millions in years 2012 2011

Land and buildings 40 1604 1502

Machinery and equipment 15 3822 3591

5426 5093

Accumulated depreciation and amortization 3277 3097
Total 2149 1996

At the end of 2012 and 2011 assets under capital leases totaled $251 million and had accumulated amortization of $51 million and

$47 million respectively The Manufacturing groups depreciation expense which included amortization expense on capital

leases totaled $315 million $317 million and $308 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Note Accrued Liabilities

The accrued liabilities of our Manufacturing group are summarized below

December 29 December 31

In millions 2012 2011

Customer deposits 725 729

Salaries wages and employer taxes 282 282

Current portion of warranty and product maintenance contracts 180 198

Deferred revenues 115 169

Retirement plans 80 80

Other 574 494

Total 1956 1952

Changes in our warranty and product maintenance contract liability are as follows

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Accrual at beginning of year
224 242 263

Provision 255 223 189

Settlements 250 223 231
Adjustments to prior accrual estimates 18 21

Accrual at end of year
222 224 242

Adjustments include changes to prioryear estimates new issues on prioryear sales and currency translation adjustments
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Note Debt and Credit Facilities

Our debt is summarized in the table below

December 31
2011

Textron Inc has senior unsecured revolving credit facility that expires in March 2015 for an aggregate principal amount of $1.0

billion up to $200 million of which is available for the issuance of letters of credit At December 29 2012 there were no amounts

borrowed against the facility and there were $37 million of letters of credits issued against it

The following table shows required payments during the next five years on debt outstanding at December 29 2012

In millions 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Manufacturing group 535 357 257 357

Finance
group 637 228 159 104 94

Total 1172 235 516 361 451

4.50% Convertible Senior Notes and Related Transactions

On May 2009 we issued $600 million of convertible senior notes with maturity date of May 2013 and interest payable

semiannually The convertible notes are accounted for in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles which require

us to separately account for the liability debt and the equity conversion option components of the convertible notes in manner

that reflected our non-convertible debt borrowing rate at time of issuance Accordingly we recorded debt discount and

corresponding increase to additional paid-in capital of $134 million at the issuance date We are amortizing the debt discount

utilizing the effective interest method over the life of the notes which increases the effective interest rate of the convertible notes

from its coupon rate of 4.50% to 11.72% We incurred cash and non-cash interest expense of $25 million in 2012 $58 million in

2011 and $60 million in 2010 for these notes

December 29
2012In millions

Manufacturing group

Long-term senior debt

6.50% due 2012 139

3.875%due2Ol3 318 308

4.50% convertible senior notes due 2013 210 195

6.20% due 2015 350 350

4.625% due 2016 250 250

5.60%due2Ol7 350 350

7.25%due2Ol9 250 250

6.625% due 2020 242 231

5.95% due 2021 250 250

Other weighted-average rate of 1.52% and 3.72% respectively 81 136

2301 2459
Less Current portion of long-term debt 535 146
Total Long-term debt 1766 2313

Total Manufacturing group debt 2301 2459

Finance group

Fixed-rate notes due 2013 weighted-average rate of 5.28% 400 400

Variable-rate note due 2013 weighted-average rate of 1.21% and 1.41% respectively 48 100

Fixed-rate note due 20145.13% 100 100

Fixed-rate notes due 20122017 weighted-average rate of 4.88% and 4.48% respectively 102 147

Fixed-rate notes due 20l52022 weighted-average rate of 2.70% and 2.76% respectively 382 364

Variable-rate notes due 201 52020 weighted-average rate of 1.09% and 1.12% respectively 64 62

Securitized debt weighted-average rate of 1.55% and 2.08% respectively 282 469

6% Fixed-to-Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Notes 300 300

Fixed-rate note due 2037 6.20% 10

Fair value adjustments and unamortized discount 22

Total Finance
group debt 1686 1974

Notes amortize on quarterly or semi-annual basis
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At December 29 2012 the face value of our convertible notes outstanding was $215 million and the unamortized discount totaled

$5 million Under the terms of the Indenture that governs the notes the notes are currently convertible at the holders option

through April 29 2013 the second day preceding their May 2013 maturity The notes are convertible into shares of our

common stock at an initial conversion rate of 76.1905 shares of common stock
per $1000 principal amount of convertible notes

which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $13.1 25 per share Upon conversion we have the right to settle

the conversion of each $1000 principal amount of convertible notes with any of the three following alternatives cash

shares of our common stock or combination of cash and shares of our common stock We intend to settle the face value of

the convertible notes in cash Based on December 29 2012 stock price of $24.12 the if converted value exceeded the face

amount of the notes by $180 million however after giving effect to the exercise of the call options and warrants described below

the incremental cash or share settlement in excess of the face amount would result in either cash payment of $137 million 5.7

million net share issuance or combination of cash and stock at our option

At December 31 2011 the face value of the notes totaled $216 million and the unamortized discount totaled $21 million In

September 2011 we announced cash tender offer for any and all of the outstanding convertible notes In the aggregate the

holders validly tendered $225 million principal amount of the convertible notes Subsequent to the tender offer we also purchased

$151 million principal amount of the convertible notes in small number of privately negotiated transactions and retired another

$8 million related to holder-initiated conversion in 2011 We paid approximately $580 million in cash related to these

transactions In accordance with the applicable authoritative accounting guidance we determined the fair value of the liability

component of the convertible notes purchased in the tender offer and subsequent transactions to be $398 million with the balance

of $182 million representing the equity component The carrying value of these convertible notes including unamortized issuance

costs was $343 million which resulted in pretax loss of $55 million that was recorded in Other losses net in 2011 along with

$182 million reduction to shareholders equity

Call Option and Warrant Transactions

Concurrently with the pricing of the convertible notes in May 2009 we entered into transactions with two counterparties including

an underwriter and an affiliate of an underwriter of the convertible notes pursuant to which we purchased from the counterparties

call options to acquire our common stock and sold to the counterparties warrants to purchase our common stock We entered into

these transactions for the purposes of reducing the cash outflow and/or the potential dilutive effect to our shareholders upon the

conversion of the convertible notes

On October 25 2011 we entered into separate agreements
with each of the counterparties to the call option and warrant

transactions to adjust the number of shares of common stock covered by these instruments to reflect the results of the tender offer

Accordingly we reduced the number of common shares covered under the call options from 45.7 million shares to 28.6 million

shares In addition the warrants were amended to reduce the number of shares covered by the warrants to 28.0 million and to

change the expiration dates specified in the original agreement to correspond with the final settlement period for the call options

Pursuant to these amendments we received $135 million for the call option transaction and paid $133 million for the warrant

transaction and the net amount was recorded within shareholders equity Subsequently due to the additional repurchases of

convertible notes we entered into amendments with each of the counterparties to further reduce the number of shares of common

stock covered by these instruments Accordingly we reduced the number of common shares covered under the call options from

28.6 million shares to 16.5 million shares and reduced the number of shares covered by the warrants from 28.0 million shares to

16.5 million shares The net value of $20 million related to these amendments was used to increase our capped call position as

discussed further below In the aggregate the reductions in the number of shares subject to the call options and warrants equated

to the number of shares of common stock into which the principal amount of all the notes repurchased in the fourth quarter of 2011

would have been convertible

At the end of 2012 the outstanding purchased call options gave us the right to acquire from the counterparties 16.4 million shares

of our common stock the number of shares into which all of the remaining notes are convertible at an exercise price of $13.1 25

per share the same as the initial conversion price of the notes subject to adjustments that mirror the terms of the convertible

notes The call options will terminate at the earlier of the maturity date of the related convertible notes or the last day on which

any of the related notes remain outstanding The warrants give the counterparties the right to acquire subject to anti-dilution

adjustments an aggregate of 16.4 million shares of common stock at an exercise price of $15.75 per
share We may settle these

transactions in cash shares or combination of cash and shares at our option When evaluated in aggregate the call options and

warrants have the effect of increasing the effective conversion price of the convertible notes from $13.1 25 to $15.75 Accordingly

we will not incur the cash outflow or the dilution that would be experienced due to the increase of the share price from $13.1 25 per

share to $15.75 per share because we are entitled to receive from the counterparties the difference between our sale to the

counterparties of 16.4 million shares at $15.75 per
share and our purchase of shares from the counterparties at $l3.l25 per share
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Based on the structure of the call options and warrants these contracts meet all of the applicable accounting criteria for equity

classification under the applicable accounting standards and as such are classified in shareholders equity in the Consolidated

Balance Sheet In addition since these contracts are classified in shareholders equity and indexed to our common stock they are

not accounted for as derivatives and accordingly we do not recognize changes in their fair value

Capped Call Transactions

On October 25 2011 we entered into capped call transactions with the counterparties for cost of $32 million which covered

17.1 million shares of our common stock We subsequently amended the capped call transactions to cover an additional 11.5

million shares of our common stock in lieu of $20 million we would have received from the counterparties related to the

amendment of the option and warrant transactions discussed above At December 29 2012 the capped calls covered an aggregate

of 28.7 million shares of our common stock the number of shares into which all of the repurchased notes would have been

convertible We purchased the capped calls in order to retain the potential value of the original call option and warrant

transactions which we would otherwise have given up upon the downsizing of those instruments The capped calls have strike

price of $13.125 per share and cap price of $15.75 per share which entitles us to receive at the May 2013 expiration date the per

share value of our stock price in excess of $13.1 25 up to maximum stock price of $15.75 If the market price of our common
stock at the expiration date is less than $13.125 the capped call will expire with no value The maximum value of the capped

calls in the event that our stock price is at least $15.75 at the expiration date is approximately $75 million We may elect for the

settlement of the capped call transactions if any to be paid to us in shares of our common stock or cash or in combination of

cash and shares of common stock Based on the structure of the capped call the transactions meet all of the applicable accounting

criteria for equity classification and will be classified within shareholders equity

6% Fixed-to-Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Notes

The Finance groups $300 million of 6% Fixed-to-Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Notes are unsecured and rank junior to all of

its existing and future senior debt The notes mature on February 15 2067 however we have the right to redeem the notes at par

on or after February 15 2017 and are obligated to redeem the notes beginning on February 15 2042 The Finance group has

agreed in replacement capital covenant that it will not redeem the notes on or before February 15 2047 unless it receives

capital contribution from the Manufacturing group and/or net proceeds from the sale of certain replacement capital securities at

specified amounts Interest on the notes is fixed at 6% until February 15 2017 and floats at the three-month London Interbank

Offered Rate 1.735% thereafter

Support Agreement

Under Support Agreement Textron Inc is required to ensure that TFC maintains fixed charge coverage of no less than 125% and

consolidated shareholders equity of no less than $200 million In 2012 2011 and 2010 cash payments of $240 million $182

million and $383 million respectively were paid to TFC to maintain compliance with the fixed charge coverage ratio

Note Derivative Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

We measure fair value at the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction

between market participants at the measurement date We prioritize the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing

the asset or liability into three-tier fair value hierarchy This fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority Level to quoted

prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority Level to unobservable inputs in which little or

no market data exist requiring companies to develop their own assumptions Observable inputs that do not meet the criteria of

Level which include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or quoted prices for identical assets and

liabilities in markets that are not active are categorized as Level Level inputs are those that reflect our estimates about the

assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available in the

circumstances Valuation techniques for assets and liabilities measured using Level inputs may include methodologies such as

the market approach the income approach or the cost approach and may use unobservable inputs such as projections estimates

and managements interpretation of current market data These unobservable inputs are utilized only to the extent that observable

inputs are not available or cost-effective to obtain
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on Recurring Basis

The assets and liabilities that are recorded at fair value on recurring basis consist primarily of our derivative financial

instruments which are categorized as Level in the fair value hierarchy The fair value amounts of these instruments that are

designated as hedging instruments are provided below

Asset Liability

December 29 December 31

In millions Borrowing Group Balance Sheet Location 2012 2011

Assets

Interest rate exchange contracts Finance Other assets 22

Foreign currency exchange contracts Manufacturing Other current assets

Total
17 31

Liabilities

Interest rate exchange contracts Finance Other liabilities

Foreign currency exchange contracts Manufacturing Accrued liabilities

Total 13 12

Interest rate exchange contracts represent fair value hedges

The Finance groups interest rate exchange contracts are not exchange traded and are measured at fair value utilizing widely

accepted third-party developed valuation models The actual terms of each individual contract are entered into valuation model

along with interest rate and foreign exchange rate data which is based on readily observable market data published by third-party

leading financial news and data providers Credit risk is factored into the fair value of these assets and liabilities based on the

differential between both our credit default swap spread for liabilities and the counterpartys credit default swap spread for assets

as compared with standard AA-rated counterparty however this had no significant impact on the valuation at December 29

2012 At December 29 2012 and December 31 2011 we had interest rate exchange contracts with notional amounts upon which

the contracts were based of $671 million and $848 million respectively

Foreign currency exchange contracts are measured at fair value using the market method valuation technique The inputs to this

technique utilize current foreign currency exchange forward market rates published by third-party leading financial news and data

providers These are observable data that represent the rates that the financial institution uses for contracts entered into at that

date however they are not based on actual transactions so they are classified as Level At December 29 2012 and December

31 2011 we had foreign currency exchange contracts with notional amounts upon which the contracts were based of $664 million

and $645 million respectively

Fair Value Hedges

Our Finance group enters into interest rate exchange contracts to mitigate exposure to changes in the fair value of its fixed-rate

receivables and debt due to fluctuations in interest rates By using these contracts we are able to convert our fixed-rate cash flows

to floating-rate cash flows The amount of ineffectiveness on our fair value hedges and the gain loss recorded in the

Consolidated Statements of Operations were both insignificant in 2012 and 2011

Cash Flow Hedges

We manufacture and sell our products in number of countries throughout the world and therefore we are exposed to

movements in foreign currency exchange rates The primary purpose
of our foreign currency hedging activities is to manage the

volatility associated with foreign currency purchases of materials foreign currency sales of products and other assets and

liabilities in the normal course of business We primarily utilize forward exchange contracts and purchased options with maturities

of no more than three years that qualify as cash flow hedges and are intended to offset the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on

forecasted sales inventory purchases and overhead expenses At December 29 2012 we had net deferred gain of $5 million in

Accumulated other comprehensive loss related to these cash flow hedges Net gains and losses recognized in earnings and

Accumulated other comprehensive loss on these cash flow hedges including gains and losses related to hedge ineffectiveness

were not material in 2012 and 2011 We do not expect the amount of gains and losses in Accumulated other comprehensive loss

that will be reclassified to earnings in the next twelve months to be material
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We hedge our net investment position in major currencies and generate foreign currency interest payments that offset other

transactional exposures
in these currencies To accomplish this we borrow directly in foreign currency and designate portion of

foreign currency debt as hedge of net investments We also may utilize currency
forwards as hedges of our related foreign net

investments We record changes in the fair value of these contracts in other comprehensive income to the extent they are effective

as cash flow hedges If contract does not qualify for hedge accounting or is designated as fair value hedge changes in the fair

value of the contract are recorded in earnings Currency effects on the effective portion of these hedges which are reflected in the

foreign currency translation adjustment account within other comprehensive income produced $14 million after-tax loss in 2012

resulting in an accumulated net gain balance of $4 million at December 29 2012 The ineffective portion of these hedges was

insignificant

Counterparty Credit Risk

Our exposure to loss from nonperformance by the counterparties to our derivative agreements at the end of 2012 was minimal We

do not anticipate nonperformance by counterparties in the periodic settlements of amounts due We historically have minimized

this potential for risk by entering into contracts exclusively with major financially sound counterparties having no less than long-

term bond rating of The credit risk generally is limited to the amount by which the counterparties contractual obligations

exceed our obligations to the counterparty We continuously monitor our exposures to ensure that we limit our risks

Assets Recorded at Fair Value on Nonrecurring Basis

During 2012 and 2011 certain assets were measured at fair value on nonrecurring basis using significant unobservable inputs

Level The table below sets forth the balance of those assets at the end of the year in which fair value adjustment was taken

December 29 December 31
2012 2011

In millions

Finance group

Finance receivables held for sale 140 418

Impaired finance receivables 72 81

Other assets 76 128

Manufacturing Group

Intangible assets

The following table provides the fair value adjustments recorded for the assets measured at fair value on non-recurring basis

during 2012 and 2011

Gain Loss

In millions
2012 2011

Finance group

Finance receivables held for sale 76 206
Impaired finance receivables 11 82
Other assets 51 49
Manufacturing Group

Intangible assets 41

Finance receivables held for sale Finance receivables held for sale are recorded at fair value on nonrecurring basis during

periods in which the fair value is lower than the cost value There are no active quoted market prices for these finance

receivables At December 29 2012 our finance receivables held for sale included the entire Golf Mortgage portfolio Fair value

of this portfolio was determined based on the use of discounted cash flow models to estimate the price we expect to receive in the

principal market for each pool of similar loans in an orderly transaction The discount rates utilized in these models are derived

from prevailing interest rate indices and are based on the nature of the assets discussions with market participants and our

experience in the actual disposition of similar assets The cash flow models also include the use of qualitative assumptions

regarding the borrowers ability to pay and the period of time that will likely be required to restructure and/or exit the account

through acquisition of the underlying collateral We utilize revenue and earnings multiples to determine the expected value of the

loan collateral The
range

of multiples used is based on bids from prospective buyers inputs from market participants and prices at

which sales have been transacted for similar properties The gains on finance receivables held for sale during 2012 were primarily

the result of the payoff of loans in amounts and sale of loans at prices in excess of the values established in previous periods

Based on our qualitative assumptions we separate the loans into three categories for the cash flow models In the first category

we include loans that we assume will be paid in accordance with the contractual terms of the loan In the second category we

include loans where we perceive that the borrower has less of an ability to pay and we assume that the loan will be restructured

and resolved typically over period of one to four years For the third category we assume that the borrower will default on the

loan and that it will be resolved within an average of 24 months The fair values of these finance receivables are sensitive to
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variability in both the quantitative and qualitative assumptions Changes in the borrowers ability to pay or the period of time

required to restructure and/or exit accounts may significantly increase or decrease the fair value of these finance receivables and
to lesser extent fluctuations in discount rates and/or revenue and earnings multiples could also change the fair value of these

finance receivables

Impaired finance receivables Impaired nonaccrual finance receivables represent assets recorded at fair value on nonrecurring

basis since the measurement of required reserves on our impaired finance receivables is significantly dependent on the fair value of

the underlying collateral For Captive impaired nonaccrual finance receivables the fair values of collateral are determined

primarily based on the use of industry pricing guides Timeshare impaired nonaccrual finance receivables largely consist of pools

of timeshare interval resort notes receivable Fair values of collateral are estimated using cash flow models incorporating

estimates of credit losses in the consumer notes pools Fair value measurements recorded on impaired finance receivables resulted

in charges to provision for loan losses and primarily related to initial fair value adjustments

Other assets Other assets in the table above primarily include repossessed golf and hotel properties and aviation assets The fair

value of our golf and hotel properties is determined based on the use of discounted cash flow models bids from prospective buyers

or inputs from market participants The fair value of our aviation assets is largely determined based on the use of industry pricing

guides If the carrying amount of these assets is higher than their estimated fair value we record corresponding charge to income

for the difference

Intangible assets In 2011 we recorded $41 million pre-tax impairment charge to write down intangible assets in our Systems

segment primarily related to customer agreements and contractual relationships associated with AM-Logistics Technical Services and

AAI-Test Training businesses We determined the fair value of these assets using discounted cash flows related to each asset group
and

weighted-average cost of capital of approximately 10% The impairment charge was recorded in cost of sales within segment profit

Assets and Liabilities Not Recorded at Fair Value

The carrying value and estimated fair values of our financial instruments that are not reflected in the financial statements at fair

value are as follows

December 29 2012 December 31 2011

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated

In millions Value Fair Value Value Fair Value

Manufacturing group

Long-term debt excluding leases 2225 2636 2328 2561
Finance group

Finance receivables held for investment excluding leases 1625 1653 1997 1848

Debt 1686 1678 1974 1854

Fair value for the Manufacturing group debt is determined using market observable data for similar transactions or Level inputs

At December 29 2012 and December 31 2011 approximately 46% and 53% respectively of the fair value of term debt for the

Finance group was determined based on observable market transactions Level The remaining Finance group debt was

determined based on discounted cash flow analyses using observable market inputs from debt with similar duration subordination

and credit default expectations Level Fair value estimates for finance receivables held for investment were determined based

on internally developed discounted cash flow models primarily utilizing significant unobservable inputs Level which include

estimates of the rate of return financing cost capital structure and/or discount rate expectations of current market participants

combined with estimated loan cash flows based on credit losses payment rates and expectations of borrowers ability to make

payments on timely basis
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Note 10 Shareholders Equity

Capital Stock

We have authorization for 15 million shares of preferred stock with par value of $0.01 and 500 million shares of common stock

with par value of $0.125 Outstanding common stock activity for the three years ended December 29 2012 is presented below

In thousands 2012 2011 2010

Beginning balance 278873 275739 272272

Exercise of stock options 1159 177 336

Issued to Textron Savings Plan 2159 2686 2682

Stock repurchases 11103
Other 175 271 449

Ending balance 271263 278873 275739

Reserved Shares of Common Stock

At the end of 2012 common stock reserved for the conversion of convertible notes the exercise of outstanding stock options and

warrants and the issuance of shares upon vesting of outstanding restricted stock units totaled 63 million shares See the

Convertible Senior Notes and Related Transactions section in Note for information on our convertible debt

Income per Common Share

We calculate basic and diluted earnings per share EPS based on net income which approximates income available to common

shareholders for each period Basic EPS is calculated using the two-class method which includes the weighted-average number of

common shares outstanding during the period and restricted stock units to be paid in stock that are deemed participating securities

as they provide nonforfeitable rights to dividends Diluted EPS considers the dilutive effect of all potential future common stock

including stock options restricted stock units and the shares that could be issued upon the conversion of our convertible notes as

discussed below and upon the exercise of the related warrants The convertible note call options purchased in connection with the

issuance of the convertible notes and the capped call transaction entered into in 2011 are excluded from the calculation of diluted

EPS as their impact is always anti-dilutive Upon conversion of our convertible notes as described in Note the principal amount

would be settled in cash and the excess of the conversion value as defined over the principal amount may be settled in cash

and/or shares of our common stock Therefore only the shares of our common stock potentially issuable with respect to the excess

of the notes conversion value over the principal amount if any are considered as dilutive potential common shares for purposes

of calculating diluted EPS

The weighted-average shares outstanding for basic and diluted EPS are as follows

In thousands 2012 2011 2010

Basic weighted-average shares outstanding 280182 277684 274452

Dilutive effect of

Convertible notes and warrants 14053 28869 27450

Stock options and restricted stock units 428 702 653

Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding 294663 307255 302555

In 2012 2011 and 2010 stock options to purchase million million and million shares respectively of common stock

outstanding are excluded from our calculation of diluted weighted-average shares outstanding as the exercise prices were greater

than the average market price of our common stock for those periods These securities could potentially dilute EPS in the future
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Other Comprehensive Income Loss
The before and after-tax components of other comprehensive income loss are presented below

Pre-Tax Tax Expense After-Tax

Amount Benefit AmountIn millions

2012

Pension adjustments

Recognition of prior service cost

Unrealized losses 417 186 231
Amortization of prior service costlunrealized losses included

in net periodic pension cost 129 45 84

Pension adjustments net 286 140 146
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contracts

Current deferrals 14

Reclassification adjustments included in net income 15 12
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contracts net

Foreign currency
translation adjustment

Total 293 148 145
2011

Pension adjustments

Recognition of prior service cost 15 10

Unrealized losses 542 182 360
Amortization of prior service cost/unrealized losses included

in net periodic pension cost 97 33 64

Pension adjustments net 430 144 286
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contracts

Current deferrals

Reclassification adjustments included in net income 22 15
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contracts net 29 20
Foreign currency translation adjustment

Total 460 151 309
2010

Pension adjustments

Recognition of prior service cost 11

Unrealized losses 197 78 119
Amortization of prior service cost/unrealized losses included

in net periodic pension cost 63 22 41

Pension adjustments net 123 52 71
Deferred gains on hedge contracts

Current deferrals 17 14

Reclassification adjustments included in net income 14 10
Deferred gains/losses on hedge contracts net

Recognition of foreign currency
translation loss see Note Il 91 17 74

Foreign currency translation adjustment 44 46
Total 15 10

Components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Foreign Pension and Post Deferred Gains Accumulated

Currency Retirement Losses on Other

Translation Benefit Hedge Comprehensive

In millions Adjustment Adjustments Contracts Loss

Balance at January 2011 82 1425 27 1316
Current period other comprehensive loss 286 20 309
Balance at December 312011 79 1711 1625
Current period other comprehensive income loss 146 145
Balance at December 29 2012 81 1857 1770
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Note 11 Special Charges

There were no amounts recorded within special charges in 2012 and 2011 In 2010 special charges included restructuring charges

related to global restructuring program that totaled $99 million including $76 million of severance costs In 2008 we initiated

global restructuring program to reduce overhead costs and improve productivity across the company and announced the exit of

portions of our commercial finance business We record restructuring costs in special charges as these costs are generally of

nonrecurring nature and are not included in segment profit which is our measure used for evaluating performance and for

decision-making purposes

In 2010 we substantially liquidated the assets held by Canadian entity within the Finance segment Accordingly we recorded

non-cash charge of $91 million $74 million after-tax within special charges to reclassify the entitys cumulative currency

translation adjustment amount within other comprehensive income to the Statement of Operations The reclassification of this

amount had no impact on shareholders equity

An analysis of our restructuring reserve activity is summarized below

Severance Asset Contract

In millions Costs Impairment Terminations Total

Balance at January 2010 48 51

Provision in 2010 79 16 102

Reversals

Non-cash settlement 16 16
Cash paid 67 72
Balance at January 201 57 62

Cash paid 42 44
Balance at December 31 201 15 18

Cash paid 10 11
Balance at December 29 2012

Note 12 Share-Based Compensation

Our 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan Plan supersedes the 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan and authorizes awards to our key

employees in the form of options to purchase our shares restricted stock restricted stock units stock appreciation rights

performance stock awards and other awards maximum of 12 million shares is authorized for issuance for all purposes under the

Plan plus any shares that become available upon cancellation forfeiture or expiration of awards granted under the 1999 Long-

Term Incentive Plan No more than 12 million shares may be awarded pursuant to incentive stock options and no more than

million shares may be awarded pursuant to restricted stock units or other awards intended to be paid in shares The Plan also

authorizes performance share units to be paid in cash based upon the value of our common stock

Through our Deferred Income Plan for Textron Executives DIP we provide certain executives the opportunity to voluntarily

defer up to 25% of their base salary and up to 80% of annual long-term incentive and other compensation Elective deferrals may

be put into either stock unit account or an interest-bearing account We generally contribute 10% premium on amounts

deferred into the stock unit account Executives who are eligible to participate in the DIP and have not achieved andlor maintained

the required minimum stock ownership level are required to defer part of each subsequent long-term incentive compensation cash

payout into the DIP stock unit account until the ownership requirements are satisfied these deferrals are not entitled to the 10%

premium contribution on the amount deferred Participants cannot move amounts between the two accounts while actively

employed by us and cannot receive distributions until termination of employment The intrinsic value of amounts paid under the

DIP in 2012 2011 and 2010 totaled to $1 million $1 million and $9 million respectively

Share-based compensation costs are reflected primarily in selling and administrative expenses The compensation expense that has

been recorded in net income for our share-based compensation plans is as follows

In millions
2012 2011 2010

Compensation expense
71 50 85

Income tax benefit 26 18 32
Total net compensation cost included in net income 45 32 53
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Compensation expense included approximately $23 million $17 million and $7 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

representing the attribution of the fair value of options issued and the portion of previously granted options for which the requisite

service has been rendered

Compensation cost for awards subject only to service conditions that vest ratably are recognized on straight-line basis over the

requisite service period for each separately vesting portion of the award As of December 29 2012 we had not recognized $62

million of total compensation costs associated with unvested awards subject only to service conditions We expect to recognize

compensation expense for these awards over weighted-average period of approximately years

Stock Options

Options to purchase our shares have maximum term of 10
years

and generally vest ratably over three-year period The stock

option compensation cost calculated under the fair value approach is recognized over the vesting period of the stock options We
estimate the fair value of options granted on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model Expected volatilities

are based on implied volatilities from traded options on our common stock historical volatilities and other factors The expected

term is based on historical option exercise data which is adjusted to reflect any anticipated changes in expected behavior

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during the past three years and the assumptions used in our option-pricing

model for such grants are as follows

2012 2011 2010

Fair value of options at grant date 10.19 9.84 7.39

Dividend yield 0.3% 0.3% 0.4%

Expected volatility 40.0% 38.0% 37.0%

Risk-free interest rate 0.9% 2.4% 2.6%

Expected term in years 5.5 5.5 5.5

The stock option activity under the Plan in 2012 is provided below

Weighted-

Average

Number of Exercise

Options in thousands Options Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 8860 27.68

Granted 3016 27.75

Exercised 1159 16.03
Canceled expired or forfeited 1233 36.49

Outstanding at end of year 9484 27.98

Exercisable at end of year 4475 29.12

At December 29 2012 our outstanding options had an aggregate intrinsic value of $12 million and weighted-average remaining

contractual life of years Our exercisable options had an aggregate intrinsic value of $10 million and weighted-average

remaining contractual life of years at December 29 2012 The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2012 2011 and

2010 amounted to $11 million $2 million and $1 million respectively

Restricted Stock Units

In 2012 we issued restricted stock units settled in both cash and stock vesting one-third each in the third fourth and fifth year

following the year of the grant which included the right to receive dividend equivalents The fair value of these units is based

solely on the trading price of our common stock on the grant date and is recognized ratably over the vesting period During 2009

through 2011 we issued restricted stock units settled in cash that vested in equal installments over five years In 2008 restricted

stock unit awards generally were payable in shares of common stock vesting one-third each in the third fourth and fifth year

following the year of the grant The 2012 activity for restricted stock units is provided below
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Units Payable in Stock Units Payable in Cash

Weighted- Weighted-
Number of Average Grant Number of Average Grant

Shares/Units in thousands Shares Date Fair Value Units Date Fair Value

Outstanding at beginning of year nonvested 638 35.53 2927 17.33

Granted 386 27.44 837 27.65

Vested 275 39.02 913 15.76
Forfeited 39 32.56 311 21.45
Outstanding at end of year nonvested 710 29.94 2540 20.79

The fair value of the restricted stock awards that vested and/or amounts paid under these awards during the respective periods is as

follows

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Fair value of awards vested 35 41 31

Cash paid 25 23 13

Performance Share Units

The fair value of share-based compensation awards accounted for as liabilities includes performance share units which are paid in

cash in the first quarter of the year following vesting Payouts under performance share units vary based on certain performance
criteria generally set for each year of three-year performance period The performance share units vest at the end of three years

The fair value of these awards is based on the trading price of our common stock and is remeasured at each reporting period date

The 2012 activity for our performance share units is as follows

Weighted-

Average

Number of Grant Date

Units in thousands Units Fair Value

Outstanding at beginning of year nonvested 859 22.98

Granted 535 27.76

Vested 429 20.21
Forfeited 90 24.18
Outstanding at end of year nonvested 875 27.14

The fair value of the performance share units that vested and/or amounts paid under these awards during the respective periods is

as follows

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Fair value of awards vested 10 33 11

Cash paid 52

Note 13 Retirement Plans

Our defined benefit and defined contribution plans cover substantially all of our employees significant number of our U.S.-

based employees participate in the Textron Retirement Plan which is designed to be floor-offset arrangement with both

defined benefit component and defined contribution component The defined benefit component of the
arrangement includes the

Textron Master Retirement Plan TMRP and the Bell Helicopter Textron Master Retirement Plan BHTMRP and the defined

contribution component is the Retirement Account Plan RAP The defined benefit component provides minimum guaranteed

benefit or floor benefit Under the RAP participants are eligible to receive contributions from Textron of 2% of their eligible

compensation but may not make contributions to the plan Upon retirement participants receive the greater of the floor benefit or

the value of the RAP Both the TMRP and the BHTMRP are subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income

Security Act of 1974 ERISA Effective on January 2010 the Textron Retirement Plan was closed to new participants and

employees hired after that date receive an additional 4% annual cash contribution to their Textron Savings Plan account based on
their eligible compensation
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We also have domestic and foreign funded and unfunded defined benefit pension plans that cover certain of our U.S and foreign

employees In addition several defined contribution plans are sponsored by our various businesses The largest such plan is the

Textron Savings Plan which is qualified 401k plan subject to ERISA in which significant number of our U.S-based

employees participate Our defined contribution plans cost approximately $88 million $85 million and $88 million in 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively these amounts include $21 million $23 million and $25 million respectively in contributions to the RAP

We also provide postretirement benefits other than pensions for certain retired employees in the U.S which include healthcare

dental care Medicare Part reimbursement and life insurance benefits

Periodic Benefit Cost

The components of our net periodic benefit cost and other amounts recognized in OCl are as follows

Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits Other than Pensions

In millions
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010

Net periodic benefit cost

Service cost 119 129 124

Interest cost 305 327 328 25 33 34

Expected return on plan assets 407 393 385
Amortization of prior service cost credit 16 16 16 11
Amortization of net actuarial loss 118 75 41 11 11

Curtailment and special termination charges

Net periodic benefit cost 151 153 126 27 44 49

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations

recognized in OCI including foreign exchange

Current year actuarial loss gain 402 556 171 15 17
Current year prior service cost credit 23 16
Amortization of net actuarial loss 118 75 41 11 11
Amortization of prior service credit cost 16 16 16 11

Curtailments and settlements

Total recognized in OCI before taxes 268 473 118 17 43 23
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and OCI 419 626 244 44 26

The estimated amount that will be amortized from Accumulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic pension costs in 2013

is as follows

Postretirement

Benefits

Other than

Pensions
In millions

Net actuarial loss

15 11Prior service cost credit
199

Pension

Benefits

184
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Postretirement Benefits

Other than Pensions

2012

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $6.6 billion and $6.0 billion at December 29 2012

and December 31 2011 respectively which included $388 million and $360 million respectively in accumulated benefit

obligations for unfunded plans where funding is not permitted or in foreign environments where funding is not feasible

Pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations exceeding the fair value of plan assets are as follows

In millions 2012 2011

Projected benefit obligation 6869 6153
Accumulated benefit obligation 6404 5784
Fair value of plan assets 5470 4786
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Obligations and Funded Status

All of our plans are measured as of our fiscal year-end The changes in the projected benefit obligation and in the fair value of

plan assets along with our funded status are as follows

Pension Benefits

In millions 2012 2011 2011

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 6325 5877 561 614

Service cost 119 129

Interest cost 305 327 25 33

Amendments 23
Plan participants contributions

Actuarial losses gains 644 331 15 17
Benefits paid 360 339 52 59
Foreign exchange rate changes 29

Other

Benefit obligation at end of year 7053 6325 564 561

Change in fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 5013 4559
Actual return on plan assets 649 167

Employer contributions 389 628

Benefits paid 360 339
Foreign exchange rate changes 24

Settlements and disbursements

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 5715 5013

Funded status at end of year 1338 1312 564 561

Amounts recognized in our balance sheets are as follows

Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits Other than Pensions

In millions 2012 2011 2012 2011

Non-current assets 61 54

Current liabilities 26 23 52 56
Non-current liabilities 1373 1343 512 505
Recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive loss pre-tax

Net loss 2750 2455 99 91

Prior service cost credit 113 129 41 50



Assumptions

The weighted-average assumptions we use for our pension and postretirement plans are as follows

Postretirement Benefits

Other than PensionsPension Benefits

2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010

Net periodic benefit cost

Discount rate 4.94% 5.71% 6.20% 4.75% 5.50% 5.50%

Expected long-term rate of return on assets 7.58% 7.84% 8.26%

Rate of compensation increase 3.49% 3.99% 4.00%

Benefit obligations at year-end

Discount rate 4.23% 4.95% 5.71% 3.75% 4.75% 5.50%

Rate of compensation increases 3.48% 3.49% 3.99%

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates are as follows

2012 2011

Medical cost trend rate 8.4% 9.0%

Prescription drug cost trend rate 8.4% 9.0%

Rate to which medical and prescription drug cost trend rates will gradually decline 5.0% 5.0%

Year that the rates reach the rate where we assume they will remain 2021 2021

These assumed healthcare cost trend rates have significant effect on the amounts reported for the postretirement benefits other

than pensions one-percentage-point change in these assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects

One-

Percentage-

Point

Decrease

36

Pension Assets

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is determined based on variety of considerations including the established

asset allocation targets and expectations for those asset classes historical returns of the plans assets and other market

considerations We invest our pension assets with the objective of achieving total rate of return over the long term sufficient to

fund future pension obligations and to minimize future pension contributions We are willing to tolerate commensurate level of

risk to achieve this objective based on the funded status of the plans and the long-term nature of our pension liability Risk is

controlled by maintaining portfolio of assets that is diversified across variety of asset classes investment styles and investment

managers All of the assets are managed by external investment managers and the majority of the assets are actively managed

Where possible investment managers are prohibited from owning our stock in the portfolios that they manage on our behalf

For U.S plan assets which represent the majority of our plan assets asset allocation target ranges are established consistent with

our investment objectives and the assets are rebalanced periodically For foreign plan assets allocations are based on expected

cash flow needs and assessments of the local practices and markets Our target allocation ranges are as follows

U.S Plan Assets

Domestic equity securities 26% to 40%

International equity securities 1% to 22%

Debt securities
26% to 34%

Private equity partnerships
5% to 1%

Real estate
7% to 13%

Hedge funds 0% to 5%

Foreign Plan Assets

Equity securities 36% to 70%

Debt securities 30% to 60%

Real estate
3% to 17%

In millions

Effect on total of service and interest cost components

Effect on postretirement benefit obligations other than pensions 41

One
Percentage-

Point

Increase

74 Textron Inc Annual Report 2012



The fair value of total pension plan assets by major category and level in the fair value hierarchy as defined in Note is as follows

December 31 2011

Level

Cash equivalents and equity and debt securities include comingled funds which represent investments in funds offered to

institutional investors that are similar to mutual funds in that they provide diversification by holding various equity and debt

securities Since these comingled funds are not quoted on any active market they are priced based on the relative value of the

underlying equity and debt investments and their individual prices at any given time accordingly they are classified as Level

Debt securities are valued based on same day actual trading prices if available If such prices are not available we use matrix

pricing model with historical prices trends and other factors

Private equity partnerships represent investments in funds which in turn invest in stocks and debt securities of companies that in

most cases are not publicly traded These partnerships are valued using income and market methods that include cash flow

projections and market multiples for various comparable companies Real estate includes owned properties and investments in

partnerships Owned properties are valued using certified appraisals at least every three years which then are updated at least

annually by the real estate investment manager who considers current market trends and other available information These

appraisals generally use the standard methods for valuing real estate including forecasting income and identifying current

transactions for comparable real estate to arrive at fair value Real estate partnerships are valued similar to private equity

partnerships with the general partner using standard real estate valuation methods to value the real estate properties and securities

held within their fund portfolios We believe these assumptions are consistent with assumptions that market participants would use

in valuing these investments

Hedge funds represent an investment in diversified fund of hedge funds of which we are the sole investor The fund invests in

portfolio funds that are not publicly traded and are managed by various portfolio managers Investments in portfolio funds are

typically valued on the basis of the most recent price or valuation provided by the relevant funds administrator The administrator

for the fund aggregates these valuations with the other assets and liabilities to calculate the net asset value of the fund

The table below presents reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for fair value measurements that use significant

unobservable inputs Level by major category

Private Equity

In millions Hedge Funds Partnerships Real Estate

Balance at beginning of
year 97 314 407

Actual return on plan assets

Related to assets still held at reporting date 26

Related to assets sold during the period 34

Purchases sales and settlements net 33 72

Balance at end of year 104 308 508

Estimated Future Cash Flow Impact

Defined benefits under salaried plans are based on salary and
years

of service Hourly plans generally provide benefits based on

stated amounts for each year of service Our funding policy is consistent with applicable laws and regulations In 2013 we expect

to contribute approximately $180 million to fund our qualified pension plans non-qualified plans and foreign plans Additionally

we expect to contribute $22 million to the RAP We do not expect to contribute to our other postretirement benefit plans Benefit

December 29 2012

In millions Level Level Level Level Level

Cash and equivalents 16 157 14 183

Equity securities

Domestic 1149 560 1017 482

International 981 268 777 233

Debt securities

National state and local governments 594 318 630 254

Corporate debt 13 647 34 494

Asset-backed securities 91 74

Private equity partnerships 308 314

Real estate 508 407

Hedge funds 104 97

Total 2754 2041 920 2475 1720 818
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payments provided below reflect expected future employee service as appropriate are expected to be paid net of estimated

participant contributions These payments are based on the same assumptions used to measure our benefit obligation at the end of

fiscal 2012 While pension benefit payments primarily will be paid out of qualified pension trusts we will pay postretirement

benefits other than pensions out of our general corporate assets Benefit payments that we expect to pay are as follows

In millions 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018-2022

Pension benefits 353 356 360 367 373 2003

Post-retirement benefits other than pensions 54 52 50 49 46 191

Note 14 Income Taxes

We conduct business globally and as result file numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns within and outside the

U.S For all of our U.S subsidiaries we file consolidated federal income tax return Income from continuing operations before

income taxes is as follows

In millions
2012 2011 2010

U.S 644 137 63
Non-U.S 197 200 149

Total income from continuing operations before income taxes 841 337 86

Income tax expense benefit for continuing operations is summarized as follows

In millions
2012 2011 2010

Current

Federal
40 23 79

State 15

Non-U.S 29 29 19

78 21 57
Deferred

Federal 169 67 59

State 23

Non-U.S 10
182 74 51

Income tax expense benefit 260 95

The current federal and state provisions for 2012 and 2011 included $25 million and $37 million respectively of tax related to the

sale of certain leveraged leases in the Finance segment for which we had previously recorded significant deferred tax liabilities

The following table reconciles the federal statutory income tax rate to our effective income tax rate for continuing operations

2012 2011 2010

Federal statutory income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Increase decrease in taxes resulting from

State income taxes
2.2 3.1 2.7

Non-U.S tax rate differential and foreign tax credits 5.4 9.4 60.5

Unrecognized tax benefits and interest 0.2 1.2 17.5

Cash surrender value of life insurance 0.5 1.5 5.1

Nondeductible healthcare claims 12.7

Change in status of subsidiaries 12.0

Research credit 2.5 5.4

Valuation allowance on contingent receipts 2.0

Other net 0.6 2.2 7.9

Effective rate
30.9% 28.1% 6.4%
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The amount of income taxes we pay is subject to ongoing audits by U.S federal state and non-U.S tax authorities which may

result in proposed assessments Our estimate for the potential outcome for any uncertain tax issue is highly judgmental We

assess our income tax positions and record tax benefits for all years subject to examination based upon managements evaluation

of the facts circumstances and information available at the reporting date For those tax positions for which it is more likely than

not that tax benefit will be sustained we record the largest amount of tax benefit with greater than 50% likelihood of being

realized upon settlement with taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information Interest and penalties are

accrued where applicable If we do not believe that it is not more likely than not that tax benefit will be sustained no tax benefit

is recognized

Our future results may include favorable or unfavorable adjustments to our estimated tax liabilities due to settlement of income tax

examinations new regulatory or judicial pronouncements expiration of statutes of limitations or other relevant events As result

our effective tax rate may fluctuate significantly on quarterly and annual basis

Our unrecognized tax benefits represent tax positions for which reserves have been established Unrecognized state tax benefits

and interest related to unrecognized tax benefits are reflected net of applicable tax benefits reconciliation of our unrecognized

tax benefits excluding accrued interest is as follows

December 29 December 31

In millions 2012 2011

Balance at beginning of
year

294 285

Additions for tax positions related to current year

Additions for tax positions of prior years

Reductions for tax positions of prior years

Reductions for expiration of statute of limitations and settlements

Balance at end of year
290 294

At December 29 2012 and December 31 2011 approximately $204 million and $206 million respectively of these unrecognized

tax benefits if recognized would favorably affect our effective tax rate in future period The remaining $86 million in

unrecognized tax benefits were related to discontinued operations Based on the outcome of appeals proceedings and the

expiration of statutes of limitations it is possible that certain audit cycles for U.S and foreign jurisdictions could be completed

during the next 12 months which could result in change in our balance of unrecognized tax benefits with the aggregate tax effect

of the differences between tax return positions and the benefits being recognized in our financial statements Although the

outcome of these matters cannot be determined we believe adequate provision has been made for any potential unfavorable

financial statement impact

In the normal course of business we are subject to examination by taxing authorities throughout the world including major

jurisdictions such as Canada China Germany Japan and the U.S With few exceptions we no longer are subject to U.S federal

state and local income tax examinations for years before 1997 We are no longer subject to non-U.S income tax examinations in

our major jurisdictions for years before 2005

During 2012 2011 and 2010 we recognized net tax-related interest expense totaling approximately $9 million $10 million and

$19 million respectively in the Consolidated Statements of Operations At December 29 2012 and December 31 2011 we had

total of$134 million and $132 million respectively of net accrued interest expense included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of our net deferred tax assets and liabilities are as

follows

December 29 December 31

In millions 2012 2011

Deferred tax assets

Obligation for pension and postretirement benefits 643 635

Accrued expenses 205 193

Deferred compensation 180 196

Loss carryforwards 81 74

Valuation allowance on finance receivables held for sale 40 130

Allowance for credit losses 39 68

Inventory 30 38

Deferred income 29 52

Other net 168 172

Total deferred tax assets 1415 1558

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 165 189
1250 1369

Deferred tax liabilities

Leasing transactions 217 285
Property plant and equipment principally depreciation 138 145
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles 110 111
Total deferred tax liabilities 465 541

Net deferred tax asset 785 828

Accrued expenses includes warranty and product maintenance reserves self-insured liabilities interest and restructuring reserves

We believe that our earnings during the periods when the temporary differences become deductible will be sufficient to realize the

related future income tax benefits For those jurisdictions where the expiration date of tax carryforwards or the projected operating

results indicate that realization is not more than likely valuation allowance is provided

The following table presents the breakdown between current and long-term net deferred tax assets

December 29 December 31

In millions 2012 2011

Current 256 288

Non-current 591 532

847 820

Finance groups net deferred tax asset liability 62
Net deferred tax asset 785 828

Our net operating loss and credit carryforwards at December 29 2012 are as follows

In millions

Non-U.S net operating loss with no expiration
94

Non-U.S net operating loss expiring through 2032 50

State net operating loss and tax credits net of tax benefits expiring through 2032 49

U.S federal tax credits beginning to expire in 2021 19

The undistributed earnings of our non-U.S subsidiaries approximated $604 million at December 29 2012 We consider the

undistributed earnings to be indefinitely reinvested therefore we have not provided deferred tax liability for any residual U.S

tax that may be due upon repatriation of these earnings Because of the effect of U.S foreign tax credits it is not practicable to

estimate the amount of tax that might be payable on these earnings in the event they no longer are indefinitely reinvested
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Note 15 Contingencies and Commitments

We are subject to legal proceedings and other claims arising out of the conduct of our business including proceedings and claims

relating to commercial and financial transactions government contracts compliance with applicable laws and regulations

production partners product liability employment and environmental safety and health matters Some of these legal proceedings

and claims seek damages fines or penalties in substantial amounts or remediation of environmental contamination As

government contractor we are subject to audits reviews and investigations to determine whether our operations are being

conducted in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements Under federal government procurement regulations certain

claims brought by the U.S Government could result in our being suspended or debarred from U.S Government contracting for

period of time On the basis of information presently available we do not believe that existing proceedings and claims will have

material effect on our financial position or results of operations

In the ordinary course of business we enter into standby letter of credit agreements and surety bonds with financial institutions to

meet various performance and other obligations These outstanding letter of credit arrangements and surety bonds aggregated to

approximately $323 million and $260 million at the end of 2012 and 2011 respectively

Environmental Remediation

As with other industrial enterprises engaged in similar businesses we are involved in number of remedial actions under various

federal and state laws and regulations relating to the environment that impose liability on companies to clean up or contribute to

the cost of cleaning up sites on which hazardous wastes or materials were disposed or released Our accrued environmental

liabilities relate to installation of remediation systems disposal costs U.S Environmental Protection Agency oversight costs legal

fees and operating and maintenance costs for both currently and formerly owned or operated facilities Circumstances that can

affect the reliability and precision of the accruals include the identification of additional sites environmental regulations level of

cleanup required technologies available number and financial condition of other contributors to remediation and the time period

over which remediation may occur We believe that any changes to the accruals that may result from these factors and

uncertainties will not have material effect on our financial position or results of operations

Based upon information currently available we estimate that our potential environmental liabilities are within the range of $44

million to $188 million At December 29 2012 environmental reserves of approximately $73 million have been established to

address these specific estimated liabilities We estimate that we will likely pay our accrued environmental remediation liabilities

over the next five to 10
years

and have classified $20 million as current liabilities Expenditures to evaluate and remediate

contaminated sites approximated $15 million $9 million and $10 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Leases

Rental expense approximated $97 million in 2012 $93 million in 2011 and $92 million in 2010 Future minimum rental

commitments for noncancelable operating leases in effect at December 29 2012 approximated $58 million for 2013 $46 million

for 2014 $37 million for 2015 $31 million for 2016 $22 million for 2017 and total of $150 million thereafter

Note 16 Supplemental Cash Flow Information

We have made the following cash payments

In millions 2012 2011 2010

Interest paid

Manufacturing group
135 135 145

Finance group 64 89 127

Taxes paid net of refunds received

Manufacturing group 30 59

Finance group
43 65 101

Cash paid for interest by the Finance group included amounts paid to the Manufacturing group
of $11 million $26 million and $32

million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

In 2012 and 2010 net taxes paid by the Finance
group

included payments of $111 million and $103 million primarily from

settlements related to the IRSs challenge of tax deductions claimed in prior years for certain leveraged lease transactions
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Note 17 Segment and Geographic Data

We operate in and report financial information for the following five business segments Cessna Bell Textron Systems

Industrial and Finance The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note

Cessna products include Citation business jets Caravan turboprops single-engine piston aircraft and aftermarket services sold to

diverse base of corporate and individual buyers

Bell products include military and commercial helicopters tiltrotor aircraft and related
spare parts and services for U.S and non

U.S governments in the defense and aerospace industries and general aviation markets

Textron Systems products include armored security vehicles advanced marine craft precision weapons airborne and ground-

based surveillance systems and services Unmanned Aircraft Systems training and simulation systems and countersniper devices

and intelligence and situational awareness software for U.S and non-U.S governments in the defense and aerospace industries and

general aviation markets

Industrial products and markets include the following

Kautex products include blow-molded plastic fuel systems windshield and headlamp washer systems selective catalytic

reduction systems engine camshafts and other parts that are marketed primarily to automobile original equipment

manufacturers as well as plastic bottles and containers for various uses

Greenlee products include powered equipment electrical test and measurement instruments hand and hydraulic powered

tools and electrical and fiber optic assemblies principally used in the electrical construction and maintenance plumbing

wiring telecommunications and data communications industries and

E-Z-GO and Jacobsen products include golf cars professional turf-maintenance equipment and off-road utility light

transportation and specialized turf-care vehicles that are marketed primarily to golf courses resort communities

municipalities sporting venues and commercial and industrial users

The Finance segment provides commercial loans and leases for new Cessna aircraft and Bell helicopters and to limited extent

for new E-Z-GO and Jacobsen equipment through our captive finance business

Segment profit is an important measure used for evaluating performance and for decision-making purposes Segment profit for the

manufacturing segments excludes interest expense certain corporate expenses and special charges The measurement for the

Finance segment excludes special charges and includes interest income and
expense along with intercompany interest expense

Provisions for losses on finance receivables involving the sale or lease of our products are recorded by the selling manufacturing

division when our Finance group has recourse to the Manufacturing group

Our revenues by segment along with reconciliation of segment profit loss to income from continuing operations before income

taxes are as follows

Revenues Segment Profit Loss

In millions 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010

Cessna 3111 2990 2563 82 60 29
Bell 4274 3525 3241 639 521 427

Textron Systems 1737 1872 1979 132 141 230

Industrial 2900 2785 2524 215 202 162

Finance 215 103 218 64 333 237
Total 12237 11275 10525 1132 591 553

Special charges 190
Corporate expenses and other net 148 114 137
Interest expense net for Manufacturing group 143 140 140
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 841 337 86
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Revenues by major product type are summarized below

Revenues

In millions
2012 2011 2010

Rotor aircraft 4274 3525 3241

Fixed-wing aircraft 311 2990 2563

Unmanned aircraft systems armored security vehicles precision weapons and other 1737 1872 1979

Fuel systems and functional components 1842 1823 1640

Powered tools testing and measurement equipment 398 402 330

Golf turf-care and light transportation vehicles 660 560 554

Finance 215 103 218

Total 12237 11275 10525

Our revenues included sales to the U.S Government of approximately $3.6 billion $3.5 billion and $3.6 billion in 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively primarily in the Bell and Textron Systems segments

Other information by segment is provided below

Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of the customer

Property plant and equipment net are based on the location of the asset

Assets Capital Expenditures Depreciation and Amortization

December 29 December 31

In millions 2012 2011 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010

Cessna 2224 2078 93 101 47 102 109 106

Bell 2399 2247 172 184 123 102 95 92

Textron Systems 1987 1948 108 37 41 75 85 81

Industrial 1755 1664 97 94 51 70 72 72

Finance 2322 3213 25 32 31

Corporate 2346 2465 10 10

Total 13033 13615 480 423 270 383 403 393

Geographic Data

Presented below is selected financial information of our continuing operations by geographic area

Property Plant and Equipment

Revenues net
December 29 December 31

In millions 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011

United States 7586 7138 6688 1644 1557

Europe 1655 1577 1448 275 236

Canada 447 289 347 106 100

Latin America and Mexico 893 820 815 43 36

Asia and Australia 1264 1032 776 82 76

Middle East and Africa 392 419 451

Total 12237 1275 10525 2150 2005
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Quarterly Data

Unaudited 2012 2011

Dollars in millions except per share amounts QI Q2 Q3 Q4 Qi Q2 Q3 Q4

Revenues

Cessna 669 763 778 901 556 652 771 1011

Bell 994 1056 1075 1149 749 872 894 1010

Textron Systems 377 389 400 571 445 452 462 513

Industrial 755 756 683 706 703 719 655 708

Finance 61 55 64 35 26 33 32 12

Total revenues 2856 3019 3000 3362 2479 2728 2814 3254

Segment profit

Cessna 35 30 23 38 33 60

Bell 145 152 165 177 91 120 143 167

Textron Systems 35 40 21 36 53 49 47

Industrial 73 61 38 43 61 55 37 49

Finance 12 22 28 44 33 24 232

Total segment profit 259 310 282 281 123 196 236 36

Corporate expenses and other net 47 20 38 43 39 23 13 39
Interest expense net for Manufacturing group 35 35 35 38 38 38 37 27
Income tax expense benefit 57 82 67 54 15 43 50 13

Income loss from continuing operations 120 173 142 146 31 92 136 17
Income loss from discontinued operations net of income taxes

Net income loss 118 172 151 148 29 90 142 19

Basic earnings per share

Continuing operations 0.43 0.61 0.51 0.52 0.11 0.33 0.49 0.06

Discontinued operations 0.0 0.03 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01

Basic earnings per share 0.42 0.61 0.54 0.53 0.10 0.32 0.51 0.07

Basic average shares outstanding In thousands 280022 281114 281813 277780 276358 277406 278090 278881

Diluted earnings per share

Continuing operations 0.41 0.58 0.48 0.50 0.10 0.29 0.45 0.06

Discontinued operations 0.01 0.03 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.01

Diluted earnings per share 0.40 0.58 0.51 0.51 0.09 0.29 0.47 0.07

Diluted average shares outstanding In thousands 294632 295547 296920 291562 319119 315208 300866 278881

Segment profit margins

Cessna 0.9% 4.6% 3.9% 2.6% 6.8% 0.8% 4.3% 5.9%

Bell 14.6 14.4 15.3 15.4 12.1 13.8 16.0 16.5

Textron Systems 9.3 10.3 5.3 6.3 11.9 10.8 10.2 1.6

Industrial 9.7 8.1 5.6 6.1 8.7 7.6 5.6 6.9

Finance 19.7 40.0 43.8 5.7 169.2 100.0 75.0 1933.3

Segmentprofitmargin 9.1% 10.3% 9.4% 8.4% 5.0% 7.2% 8.4% 1.1%

Common stock information

Price range High 28.29 29.18 28.80 26.75 28.87 28.65 25.17 20.4

Low 18.37 21.97 22.15 22.84 23.50 20.86 14.66 16.37

Dividends declared per share 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02

The fourth quarter of 2012 included $27 million charge related to an award against Cessna in an arbitration proceeding

The fourth quarter of 2011 included $41 million impairment charge to write down certain intangible assets and approximately $19 million

in severance costs related to workforce reduction

The fourth quarter of 2011 included $186 million initial mark-to-market adjustment for remaining finance receivables in the Golf

Mortgage portfolio that were transferred to the held for sale class/ication

For the fourth quarter of 2011 the potential dilutive effect of stock options restricted stock units and the shares that could be issued upon

the conversion of our convertible senior notes and upon the exercise of the related warrants was excluded from the computation of diluted

weighted-average shares outstanding as the shares would have an anti-dilutive effect on the loss from continuing operations
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Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

In millions
2012 2011 2010

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Balance at beginning of year 18 20 23

Charged to costs and expenses

Deductions from reserves

Balance at end of
year

19 18 20

Inventory FIFO reserves

Balance at beginning of year
134 133 158

Charged to costs and expenses 42 35 54

Deductions from reserves 40 34 79
Balance at end of year

136 134 133

Deductions primarily include amounts written off on uncollectable accounts less recoveries inventory disposals and

currency
translation adjustments
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Item Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures We have carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our

management including our Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer CEO and our Executive Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer CFO of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in

Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Act as of the end of the fiscal year

covered by this report Based upon that evaluation our CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are

effective in providing reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or

submit under the Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and

Exchange Commissions rules and forms and such information is accumulated and communicated to our management

including our CEO and CFO as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Report of Management See page 41

Report ofIn dependent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting See page 42

Changes in Internal Controls There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth

quarter of the fiscal year
covered by this report that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our

internal control over financial reporting

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information appearing under ELECTION OF DIRECTORS Nominees for Director The Board of Directors

Corporate Governance The Board of Directors Code of Ethics Board Committees Audit Committee and

SECTION 16a BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE in the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of

Shareholders to be held on April 24 2013 is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Information regarding our executive officers is contained in Part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information appearing under ELECTION OF DIRECTORS The Board of Directors-- Compensation of Directors

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS Board Committees-- Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS and EXECUTIVE

COMPENSATION in the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 24 2013 is incorporated

by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information appearing under SECURITY OWNERSHIP and EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION Equity Compensation

Plan Information in the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 24 2013 is incorporated by

reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information appearing under ELECTION OF DIRECTORS The Board of Directors--Director Independence and

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION Transactions with Related Persons in the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of

Shareholders to be held on April 24 2013 is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information appearing under RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC

ACCOUNTING FIRM Fees to Independent Auditors in the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be

held on April 24 2013 is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements and Schedules See Index on Page 40

Exhibits

3.IA Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Textron as filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware on April 29 2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended

April 2010

3.1 Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Textron Inc filed with the Secretary of State

of Delaware on April 27 2011 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-

for the fiscal quarter
ended April 2011

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Textron Inc effective April 28 2010 and as further amended April 27 2011

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended

April 22011

4.1 Support Agreement dated as of May 25 1994 between Textron Inc and Textron Financial Corporation

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended

December 31 2011

NOTE Instruments defining the rights of holders of certain issues of long-term debt of Textron have not been filed as

exhibits because the authorized principal amount of any one of such issues does not exceed 10% of the total assets

of Textron and its subsidiaries on consolidated basis Textron agrees to furnish copy of each such instrument to

the Commission upon request

NOTE Exhibits 10.1 through 10.19 below are management contracts or compensatory plans contracts or agreements

lOlA Textron Inc 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan Amended and Restated as of April 28 2010 Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31 2012

l0.1B Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Textrons Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended June 30 2007

10.1C Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Textrons Quarterly

Report on Form I0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30 2007

l0.lD Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Textrons Quarterly

Report on Form l0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30 2007

l0.IE Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement with Dividend Equivalents Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.2 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended March 29 2008

10.1 Form of Cash-Settled Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement with Dividend Equivalents Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit biG to Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 32009

biG Form of Performance Share Unit Grant Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.lH to Textrons

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year

ended January 2009
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10.1H Form of Performance Cash Unit Grant Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Textrons Quarterly

Report on Form 0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 2009

10.2 Textron Inc Short-Term Incentive Plan As amended and restated effective January 2010 Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 2010

10.3A Textron Inc 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Textron Employees Amended and Restated Effective April 28

2010 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the fiscal quarter

ended July 32010

10.3B Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 2004 SEC File No 00 1-05480

l0.3C Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Textrons Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 2004 SEC File No 00 1-05480

10.4A Textron Spillover Savings Plan effective January 2010 including Appendix Defined Contribution Provisions

of the Supplemental Benefits Plan for Textron Key Executives As in effect before January 2008 Incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 2010

10.4B Second Amendment to the Textron Spillover Savings Plan dated December 21 2012

l0.5A Textron Spillover Pension Plan As Amended and Restated Effective January 2010 including Appendix as
amended and restated effective January 2010 Defined Benefit Provisions of the Supplemental Benefits Plan for

Textron Key Executives As in effect before January 2007 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to

Textrons Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 2010

0.5B Amendments to the Textron Spillover Pension Plan dated October 12 2011 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

0.5B to Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011

10.6 Supplemental Retirement Plan for Textron Key Executives As Amended and Restated Effective January 2010

including Appendix Provisions of the Supplemental Retirement Plan for Textron Key Executives As in effect

before January 2008 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form I0-Q for

the fiscal quarter ended April 2010

10.7 Deferred Income Plan for Textron Executives Effective January 2010 including Appendix Provisions of the

Deferred Income Plan for Textron Key Executives As in effect before January 2008 Incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.2 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 2010

10.8A Deferred Income Plan for Non-Employee Directors As Amended and Restated Effective January 2009

including Appendix Prior Plan Provisions As in effect before January 2008 Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.9 to Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2009

0.8B Amendment No to Deferred Income Plan for Non-Employee Directors as Amended and Restated Effective

January 2009 dated as of November 2012

10.9 Survivor Benefit Plan for Textron Key Executives As amended and restated effective January 2010
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended

April 2010

l0.1OA Severance Plan for Textron Key Executives As Amended and Restated Effective January 2010 Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year

ended January 2010

10.1 OB First Amendment to the Severance Plan for Textron Key Executives dated October 26 2010 Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 OB to Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year

ended January 2011

10 11 Form of Indemnity Agreement between Textron and its executive officers Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

to Textrons Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Shareholders on April 29 1987 SEC File No 001-05480
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10.12 Form of Indemnity Agreement between Textron and its non-employee directors approved by the Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors on July 21 2009 and entered into with all non-

employee directors effective as of August 2009 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 2009

10.1 3A Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Textron and John Butler dated as of February

26 2008 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Textrons Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 28

2008

10.1 3B Letter Agreement between Textron and John Butler dated June 2012 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.1 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended June 30 2012

10.14A Letter Agreement between Textron and Scott Donnelly dated June 26 2008 Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 28 2008

10.1 4B Amendment to Letter Agreement between Textron and Scott Donnelly dated December 16 2008 together with

Addendum No thereto dated December 23 2008 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15B to Textrons

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2009

10.l4C Agreement between Textron and Scott Donnelly dated May 2009 related to Mr Donnellys personal use of

portion of hangar space at T.F Green Airport which is leased by Textron Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1

to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 2009

l0.4D Hangar License and Services Agreement made and entered into on April 25 2011 to be effective as of December

2010 between Textron Inc and Mr Donnellys limited liability company Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 20

10.1 5A Letter Agreement between Textron and Frank Connor dated July 27 2009 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.2 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 2009

l0.5B Hangar License and Services Agreement made and entered into on April 25 2011 to be effective as of December

2010 between Textron Inc and Mr Connors limited liability company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2

to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 2011

10.16 Letter Agreement between Textron and Cheryl Johnson dated June 12 2012 Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30 2012

10.1 7A Letter Agreement between Textron and Robert Lupone dated December 22 2011 Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.17 to Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011

10.1 7B Amendment to letter agreement between Textron and Robert Lupone dated July 27 2012 Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 29

2012

10.18 Director Compensation Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year
ended December 29 2007 SEC File No 001-05480

10 19 Form of Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement between Textron and its executive officers Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.3 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 27 2008

lO.20A Credit Agreement dated as of March 23 2011 among Textron the Lenders listed therein JPMorgan Chase Bank

N.A as Administrative Agent Citibank N.A and Bank of America N.A as Syndication Agents and Deutsche

Bank Securities Inc and The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ Ltd as Documentation Agents Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 28 2011

0.20B Amendment No dated as of April 13 2011 to Credit Agreement dated as of March 23 2011 among Textron

the Lenders listed therein JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as Administrative Agent Citibank N.A and Bank of

America N.A as Syndication Agents and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc and The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi
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UFJ Ltd as Documentation Agents Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Current Report on

Form 8-K filed on April 15 2011

10.2 IA Master Services Agreement between Textron Inc and Computer Sciences Corporation dated October 27 2004

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Textrons Annual Report ott Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

January 2005 SEC File No 00 1-05480

10.21 Amendment No to Master Services Agreement between Textron Inc and Computer Sciences Corporation dated

July 2007 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal

quarter ended September 29 2007

10.21 Amendment No to Master Services Agreement between Textron Inc and Computer Sciences Corporation dated

as of March 13 2008 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit l0.22C to Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended January 2011

10.21 Amendment No to Master Services Agreement between Textron Inc and Computer Sciences Corporation dated

as of June 17 2009 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22D to Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

fiscal year ended January 12011

10.21E Amendment No to Master Services Agreement between Textron Inc and Computer Sciences Corporation dated

as of September 30 2010 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22E to Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the fiscal
year

ended January 12011

10.22A Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Confirmation dated April 29 2009 between Goldman Sachs Co and

Textron Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 52009

10.22B Issuer Warrant Transaction Confirmation dated April 29 2009 between Goldman Sachs Co and Textron

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Textrons Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 2009

10.22C Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Confirmation dated April 29 2009 between JPMorgan Chase Bank
National Association and Textron Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Textrons Current Report on Form

8-K filed May 2009

0.22D Issuer Warrant Transaction Confirmation dated April 29 2009 between JPMorgan Chase Bank National

Association and Textron Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Textrons Current Report on Form 8-K filed

May 2009

10.22E Bond Hedge Amendment and Termination Agreement dated October 25 2011 with respect to each of the

Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Confirmations dated April 29 2009 and April 30 2009 between Textron

and Goldman Sachs Co Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Current Report on Form 8-K

filed October 25 2011

l0.22F Warrant Amendment and Termination Agreement dated October25 2011 with respect to each of the Issuer

Warrant Transaction Confirmations dated April 29 2009 and April 30 2009 as reformed between Textron and

Goldman Sachs Co Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Textrons Current Report on Form 8-K filed

October25 2011

10.22G Bond Hedge Amendment and Termination Agreement dated October 25 2011 to each of the Convertible Bond

Hedge Transaction Confirmations dated April 29 2009 and April 30 2009 between Textron and JPMorgan Chase

Bank National Association Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Textrons Current Report on Form 8-K

filed October 25 2011

l0.22H Warrant Amendment and Termination Agreement dated October 25 2011 to each of the Issuer Warrant

Transaction Confirmations dated April 29 2009 and April 30 2009 as reformed between Textron and JPMorgan

Chase Bank National Association Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Textrons Current Report on Form

8-K filed October 25 2011

10.221 Issuer Warrant Transaction Reformation Agreement dated May 2009 between Goldman Sachs Co and

Textron Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Textrons Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 2009
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0.22J Issuer Warrant Transaction Reformation Agreement dated May 2009 between JPMorgan Chase Bank National

Association and Textron Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Textrons Current Report on Form 8-K

filed May 2009

10.22K Amendment to Base Bond Hedge Transaction dated June 29 2012 between Goldman Sachs Co and Textron

Inc Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter

ended September 29 2012

l0.22L Amendment to Base Warrant Transaction dated June 29 2012 between Goldman Sachs Co and Textron Inc

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended

September 29 2012

10.22M Amendment to Base Bond Hedge Transaction dated June 29 2012 between JPMorgan Chase Bank National

Association and Textron Inc Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-

for the fiscal quarter ended September 29 2012

0.22N Amendment to Base Warrant Transaction dated June 29 2012 between JPMorgan Chase Bank National

Association and Textron Inc Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Textrons Quarterly Report on Form 10-

for the fiscal quarter ended September 29 2012

12.1 Computation of ratio of income to fixed charges of Textron Inc.s Manufacturing group

12.2 Computation of ratio of income to fixed charges of Textron Inc including all majority-owned subsidiaries

21 Certain subsidiaries of Textron Other subsidiaries which considered in the aggregate do not constitute significant

subsidiary are omitted from such list

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

24 Power of attorney

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following materials from Textron Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29 2012
formatted in XBRL eXtensible Business Reporting Language the Consolidated Statements of Operations ii
the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Loss iii the Consolidated Balance Sheets iv the

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows vi the Notes to

the Consolidated Financial Statements and vii Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Confidential Treatment has been requested for portions of this document

Textron Inc Annual Report 2012 89



Signatures

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this

Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on this 15th day of February

20 13

TEXTRON INC

Registrant

By Is Frank Connor

Frank Connor

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below on

this 15th day of February 2013 by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated

Name Title

Is Scott Donnelly Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer

Scott Donnelly principal executive officer

Kathleen Bader Director

Kerry Clark Director

James Conway Director

Ivor Evans Director

Lawrence Fish Director

Joe Ford Director

Paul GagnØ Director

Dam Hancock Director

Lord Powell of Bayswater KCMG Director

Lloyd Trotter Director

James Zierner Director

Is Frank Connor

Frank Connor Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

principal financial officer

Is Richard Yates

Richard Yates Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller

principal accounting officer

By Is Jayne Donegan

Jayne Donegan Attorney-in-fact
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CORPORATE INFORHATION

Corporate Headquarters

Textron Inc

40 Westminster Street

Providence RI 02903

401 421-2800

www.textron.com

Annual Meeting

Textrons annual meeting of shareholders will be held

on Wednesday April 24 2013 at 11 a.m EDT at the

Providence Biltmore Hotel Providence Rhode Island

Transfer Agent Registrar and Dividend Paying Agent

For shareholder services such as change of address

lost certificates or dividend checks change in registered

ownership or the Dividend Reinvestment Plan

write or call

American Stock Transfer Trust Company LLC

Operations Center

6201 15th Avenue

Brooklyn NY 11219

phone 866 621-2790

email info@amstock.com

Stock Exchange Information

Symbol TXT

Textron common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange

Investor Relations

Textron Inc

Investor Relations

40 Westminster Street

Providence RI 02903

Investor Relations line

phone 401 457-2288

News media phone line

phone 401 457-2362

For more information visit our web site at www.textron.com

Company Publications and General Information

To receive copy of Textrons Forms 10-K and 10-Q Proxy

Statement or Annual Report without charge visit our web site

at www.textron.com call 888 TXT-LINE or send written

request to Textron Investor Relations at the address listed above

For the most recent company news and earnings press releases

visit our web site at www.textron.com or call 888 TXT-LINE

Textron is an Equal Opportunity Employer

Textron Board of Directors

To contact the Textron Board of Directors or to report concerns

or complaints about accounting internal accounting controls

or auditing matters you may write to Board of Directors

Textron Inc 40 Westminster Street Providence RI 02903

call 866 698-6655 or 401 457-2269 or send an email

to textrondirectors@textron.com
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TEXTRON
NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING SEC

Mali Process ing
Section

To the Shareholders of Textron Inc

The 2013 annual meeting of shareholders of Textron Inc will be held on Wedne at

1100 a.m at the Providence Biltmore Hotel 11 Dorrance Street Providence Rhode Is an

purposes

To elect the eleven director nominees named in the proxy statement to hold office until the next

annual shareholders meeting

To approve Textrons executive compensation on an advisory basis

To ratify the appointment by the Audit Committee of Ernst Young LLP as Textrons independent

registered public accounting firm for 2013

If properly presented at the meeting to consider and act upon shareholder proposal set forth at

page 52 in the accompanying proxy statement which is opposed by the Board of Directors and

To transact any other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or

postponement of the meeting

You are entitled to vote all shares of common stock registered in your name at the close of business on

March 2013 if your shares are held in the name of your broker or bank and you wish to attend the meeting in

person
and vote your shares your broker or bank must issue to you proxy covering your shares

Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting we urge you to complete sign and date the enclosed

proxy card and return it in the accompanying postage-paid envelope as soon as possible so that your

shares may be represented at the meeting Shareholders of record also have the option of voting their

shares via the Internet or by using toll-free telephone number Instructions on how to vote either via the

Internet or by telephone are included on the proxy card

list of shareholders entitled to vote at the 2013 annual meeting will be open to examination by any

shareholder for any purpose germane to the meeting for ten days prior to the meeting at Textrons principal

executive office 40 Westminster Street Providence Rhode Island 02903

By order of the Board of Directors

Robert Lupone

Executive Vice President

General Counsel and Secretary

Providence Rhode Island

March 2013



YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

UNDER RECENT RULE CHANGES BROKERS ARE NOT PERMITTED TO VOTE ON THE

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS OR ON CERTAIN OTHER PROPOSALS WITHOUT
INSTRUCTIONS FROM THE BENEFICIAL OWNER THEREFORE IF YOUR SHARES ARE

HELD IN THE NAME OF YOUR BROKER OR BANK IT IS IMPORTANT THAT YOU VOTE
WE ENCOURAGE YOU TO VOTE PROMPTLY EVEN IF YOU INTEND TO ATTEND THE

ANNUAL MEETING

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON APRIL 242013

The Companys Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders the Annual Report to

Shareholders for the fiscal year ended December 29 2012 and the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29 2012 are available at www.textron.com under

Investor Relations Annual Report Proxy Materials The Company will provide by mail

without charge copy of its Annual Report on Form 10-K at the request of registered shareholders

Please direct all inquiries to the Company at 401 457-2353 or by submitting written request to the

Secretary at Textron Inc 40 Westminster Street Providence Rhode Island 02903
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TEXTRON INC

PROXY STATEMENT

General

This proxy statement which is being mailed on or about March 2013 to each person entitled to receive

the accompanying notice of annual meeting is furnished in connection with the solicitation by the Board of

Directors of Textron Inc of proxies to be voted at the annual meeting of shareholders to be held on April 24

2013 at 1100a.m and at any adjoumments or postponements thereof Textrons principal executive office is

located at 40 Westminster Street Providence Rhode Island 02903

Shareholders Who May Vote

All shareholders of record at the close of business on March 2013 will be entitled to vote As of March

2013 Textron had outstanding 272319709 shares of common stock each of which is entitled to one vote with

respect to each matter to be voted upon at the meeting Proxies are solicited to give all shareholders who are

entitled to vote on the matters that come before the meeting the opportunity to do so whether or not they attend

the meeting in person

Voting

All shareholders may vote by mail Shareholders of record may also vote via the internet or by using the

toll-free telephone number listed on the proxy card Internet and telephone voting information is provided on the

proxy card control number located on the lower right portion of the proxy card is designated to verify

shareholders identity and allow the shareholder to vote the shares and confirm that the voting instructions have

been recorded properly If you vote via the Internet or by telephone please do not return signed proxy card

Shareholders who hold their shares through bank or broker can vote via the Internet or by telephone if these

options are offered by the bank or broker

If voting by mail please complete sign date and return your proxy card enclosed with the proxy statement

in the accompanying postage-paid envelope You can specify how you want your shares voted on each proposal

by marking the appropriate boxes on the
proxy

card If your proxy card is signed and returned without specifying

vote or an abstention on any proposal it will be voted according to the recommendation of the Board of

Directors on that proposal That recommendation is shown for each proposal on the proxy card

You also may vote in person at the meeting If your shares are held in the name of your broker or bank

and you wish to vote in person at the meeting you must request your broker or bank to issue you proxy

covering your shares

Savings Plan Participants

If you are participant in Textron savings plan with Textron stock fund as an investment option the

accompanying proxy card shows the number of shares allocated to your account under the plan When you vote

via the Internet or by telephone or your proxy card is returned properly signed the plan trustee will vote your

proportionate interest in the plan shares in the manner you direct or if you vote by mail and make no direction in

proportion to directions received from the other plan participants except for any shares allocated to your Tax

Credit Account under the Textron Savings Plan which will be voted only as you direct All directions will be

held in confidence

Changing or Revoking Proxy

Whether voting by mail via the Internet or by telephone if you are shareholder of record you may change

or revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted by submitting new proxy with later date voting via the

Internet or by telephone at later time delivering written notice of revocation to Textrons secretary or voting



in person at the meeting If your shares are held in the name of your broker or bank you may change or revoke

your voting instructions by contacting the bank or brokerage firm or other nominee holding the shares or by

obtaining legal proxy from such institution and voting in person at the annual meeting

Required Vote

quorum is required to conduct business at the meeting quorum requires the presence in person or by

proxy of the holders of majority of the issued and outstanding shares entitled to vote at the meeting

Abstentions and broker non-votes are counted as present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining

quorum broker non-vote occurs when you fail to provide voting instructions to your broker for shares owned

by you but held in the name of your broker and your broker does not have authority to vote without instructions

from you Under those circumstances your broker may be authorized to vote for you without your instructions on

routine matters but is prohibited from voting without your instructions on non-routine matters The ratification of

independent public accountants is routine matter on which your broker may vote your shares without your

instructions Non-routine matters include the election of directors the advisory vote to approve Textrons

executive compensation and the shareholder proposal Those items for which
your

broker cannot vote result in

broker non-votes

Election of each of the nominees for director requires vote of the majority of the votes cast at the meeting

which means that the number of shares voted for nominee for director must exceed the number of shares

voted against that nominee Abstentions and broker non-votes are not counted for this purpose and will have no

effect on the outcome of the election

Approval of all other matters to be voted on at the meeting requires the affirmative vote of majority of the

shares present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote on the matter Abstentions will have the

same effect as votes against the proposal and broker non-votes when applicable will have no effect on the

outcome of the vote

Costs of Proxy Solicitation

Textron pays the cost of this solicitation of proxies Textron will request that persons who hold shares for

others such as banks and brokers solicit the owners of those shares and will reimburse them for their reasonable

out-of-pocket expenses for those solicitations In addition to solicitation by mail Textron employees may solicit

proxies by telephone by electronic means and in person without additional compensation for these services

Textron has hired Alliance Advisors LLC of Bloomfield New Jersey proxy solicitation organization to assist

in this solicitation process for fee of $15000 plus reasonable out-of-pocket expenses

Confidential Voting Policy

Under Textrons policy on confidential voting individual votes of shareholders are kept confidential from

Textrons directors officers and employees except
for certain specific and limited exceptions Comments of

shareholders written on proxies or ballots are transcribed and provided to Textrons Secretary Votes are counted

by employees of American Stock Transfer Trust Company LLC AST Textrons independent transfer

agent and registrar and certified by Inspectors of Election who are employees of AST

Attending the Meeting

If your shares are held in the name of your bank or broker and you plan to attend the meeting please bring

proof of ownership with you to the meeting bank or brokerage account statement showing that you owned

voting stock of Textron on March 2013 is acceptable proof to obtain admittance to the meeting If you are

shareholder of record no proof of ownership is required All shareholders or their proxies should be prepared to

present government-issued photo identification upon request for admission to the meeting



ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

At the 2013 annual meeting eleven directors are to be elected to hold office until the 2014 annual meeting

and until their successors have been elected and qualified All eleven nominees are currently Textron directors It

is the intention of the persons named on the accompanying proxy card unless otherwise instructed to vote For
each of the directors who have been nominated for election If any director nominee is unable or unwilling to

serve as nominee at the time of the annual meeting the persons named as proxies will vote for the balance of

the nominees and may vote for substitute nominee designated by the present Board Information is furnished

below with respect to each nominee for election The Board of Directors recommends vote FOR each of

the director nominees Items 01 through 111 on the proxy card

Nominees for Director

Scott Donnelly Director Since 2009

Mr Donnelly 51 is Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer of Textron

Mr Donnelly joined Textron in June 2008 as Executive Vice President and Chief

Operating Officer and was promoted to President and Chief Operating Officer in

January 2009 He was appointed to the Board of Directors in October 2009 became

Chief Executive Officer of Textron in December 2009 and Chairman of the Board in

September 2010 Previously Mr Donnelly was the President and CEO of General

Electric Companys Aviation business unit position he had held since July 2005

GEs Aviation business unit is leading maker of commercial and military jet engines

and components as well as integrated digital electric power and mechanical systems for

aircraft Prior to July 2005 Mr Donnelly served as Senior Vice President of GE Global

Research one of the worlds largest and most diversified industrial research

organizations with facilities in the U.S India China and Germany and held various

other management positions since joining General Electric in 1989

Kathleen Bader Director Since 2004

Ms Bader 62 was President and Chief Executive Officer of NatureWorks LLC which

makes proprietary plastic resins and was formerly known as Cargill Dow LLC until her

retirement in January 2006 Formerly she was Business President of $4.2 billion

plastics portfolio at the Dow Chemical Company diversified chemical company She

joined Dow in 1973 and held various management positions in Dows global and North

American operations before becoming Chairman President and Chief Executive

Officer of Cargill Dow LLC at the time an equal joint venture between Dow and

Cargill Incorporated in February 2004 She assumed the position of President and

Chief Executive Officer of NatureWorks in February 2005 following Cargills

acquisition of Dows interest in Cargill Dow In 2011 Ms Bader became director of

Tyson Foods Inc She previously served as director of Halliburton Company from

2007 to 2008 and served for seven years on President Bushs Homeland Security

Advisory Council

.4



Kerry Clark Director Since 2003

Mr Clark 60 is the retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Cardinal Health

Inc leading provider of services supporting the health care industry He joined

Cardinal Health in April 2006 as President and Chief Executive Officer became

Chairman in November 2007 and retired in September 2009 Prior to joining Cardinal

Health he was Vice Chairman of the Board PG Family Health and director of The

Procter and Gamble Company which markets consumer products in over 140

countries from 2002-2006 He joined Procter and Gamble in 1974 and served in

various key executive positions before becoming Vice Chairman of the Board in 2002

and held that position until leaving the company in April 2006 Mr Clark became

director of General Mills Inc in 2009 and director of Avnet Inc in 2012 and is also

partner and director of Hauser Capital Partners LLC an investment firm and director

of Bausch Lomb Inc

James Conway Director Since 2011

Mr Conway 65 is retired General in the United States Marine Corps who served as

the 34th Commandant of the Marine Corps from 2006 through his retirement in 2010

and concurrently as member of the Joint Chiefs of Staff Prior to being named

Commandant Mr Conway served as Director of Operations J-3 on the Joint Chiefs of

Staff Among his previous postings were Commanding General of Marine

Expeditionary Force from 2002 through 2006 which involved two combat tours in Iraq

Commanding General of the 1St Marine Division and President of the Marine Corps

University

Ivor Evans Director Since 2003

Mr Evans 70 has been an Operating Partner at HCI Equity Partners formerly

Thayer Hidden Creek private equity firm since April 2005 Mr Evans served as

Vice Chairman of Union Pacific Corporation one of Americas leading transportation

companies until his retirement in March 2005 He joined Union Pacific in 1998 as

President and Chief Operating Officer of the Union Pacific Railroad and became Vice

Chairman in January 2004 From 1989 to 1998 he served in various executive positions

at Emerson Electric Company including Senior Vice President Industrial Components

and Equipment Mr Evans is director of Mentor Inc since 2005 Spirit

AeroSystems since 2005 and Roadrunner Transportation Systems Inc since 2005

He previously served as director of Cooper Industries from 2003 to 2012

Lawrence Fish Director Since 1999

Mr Fish 68 is the retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Citizens Financial

Group Inc multi-state bank holding company He was named Chairman President

and Chief Executive Officer upon joining the bank in 1992 and held that position until

relinquishing the title of President in 2005 and the title of Chief Executive Officer in

2007 and retiring in March 2009 Mr Fish also serves as Chairman of the Board of

Directors of Houghton Mifflin Harcourt since 2010 and as director of Tiffany Co

since 2008 and National Bank Holdings Corporation since 2010



Paul GagnØ Director Since 1995

Mr Gagnd 66 is Chairman of Wajax Corporation leading Canadian distributor and

support service provider of mobile equipment industrial components and power

systems position he has held since May 2006 He previously was President and Chief

Executive Officer of Avenor Inc publicly-traded Canadian forest products company

serving in that capacity from 1991 until November 1997 when he left the company In

1998 Mr GagnØ joined Kruger Inc Canadian privately held producer of paper and

tissue as consultant in corporate strategic planning serving in that capacity until

December 2002 He has been on the Board of Wajax Corporation since 1996 and he is

also director of CAE Inc since 2006 and Inmet Mining Corporation since 1996

In 2011 Mr GagnØ became director of Ainsworth Lumber Co Ltd He also

previously served as director of Fraser Papers Inc from 2005 through 2011

Dam Hancock Director Since 2005

Mr Hancock 71 was Executive Vice President of Lockheed Martin Corporation and

President of Lockheed Martins Aeronautics Company until his retirement in January

2005 Lockheed Martin is principally engaged in the research design development

manufacture and integration of advanced technology systems products and services He

joined Lockheed Martin in 1993 as Vice President when Lockheed acquired General

Iynamics Corporations military aircraft business with which Mr Hancock began his

industrial career Mr Hancock served in various key executive positions before

becoming President of Lockheed Martin Tactical Aircraft Systems in 1995 and

Executive Vice President of Lockheed Martin Corporation and President of the

Aeronautics Company in 2000

Lord Powell of Bayswater KCMG Director Since 2001

Lord Powell 71 previously served as Private Secretary and advisor on foreign affairs

and defense to British Prime Ministers Margaret Thatcher and John Major from 1983 to

1991 He is director of LVMH Moºt Hennessy-Louis Vuitton since 1996

Caterpillar Inc since 2000 Mandarin Oriental Hotel Group since 1992 Schindler

Holding Ltd since 2003 and Hong Kong Land Holdings Limited since 2008 and

was director of Yell Group from 2002-2009

Lloyd Trotter Director Since 2008

Mr Trotter 67 is managing partner of GenNx 360 Capital Partners private equity

huyout firm focused on industrial business-to-business companies Mr Trotter was

Vice Chairman of General Electric Company diversified technology media and

financial services company and President and Chief Executive Officer of GE

Industrial one of GEs principal businesses role he assumed in 2006 and held until

his retirement in February 2008 Mr Trotter previously was Executive Vice President

of Operations of GE and from 2004 to 2006 he served as President and Chief

Executive Officer of GE Consumer and Industrial role he assumed following the

2004 merger of GEs Consumer Products Industrial Systems and Supply businesses

He began his GE career in 1970 and held various production technology and

management positions in several GE businesses before being named GE Senior Vice

President and President and Chief Executive Officer of Industrial Systems in 1998

Mr Trotter also serves as director of PepsiCo Inc since 2008 and of Daimler A.G

since 2009



James Ziemer Director Since 2007

Mr Ziemer 63 was the President and Chief Executive Officer and director of

Harley-Davidson Inc until his retirement in April 2009 Harley-Davidson Inc is the

parent company for the group of companies doing business as Harley-Davidson Motor

Company which manufacture and sell motorcycles and related parts and

accessories and Harley-Davidson Financial Services which provides related financing

and insurance Mr Ziemer had been director of Harley-Davidson Inc since

December 2004 and was named President and Chief Executive Officer in April 2005

He previously served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Harley-Davidson

from December 1990 to April 2005 and President of The Harley-Davidson Foundation

Inc from 1993 to 2006 Mr Ziemer is also director of Thor Industries Inc since

2010

The Board of Directors

Experience Qualifications Attributes and Skills

The Board of Directors believes that the Board as whole should possess combination of skills

professional experience and diversity of backgrounds necessary to oversee the Companys business In addition

the Board believes that there are certain attributes that every director should
possess as reflected in the Boards

membership criteria Accordingly the Board and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee consider

the qualifications of directors and director candidates individually and in the broader context of the Boards

overall composition and the Companys current and future needs

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for developing and recommending

criteria for director nominees to the Board for approval All of our current Board members share certain

qualifications and attributes consistent with these criteria which are set forth in the Companys Corporate

Governance Guidelines and Policies and are summarized below under Board Committees Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee These criteria include possessing specific skills and experience aligned with

Textrons strategic direction and operating challenges and that complement the overall composition of the Board

In addition each Board member has demonstrated core business competencies including high achievement and

record of success All of our Board members are enthusiastic about Textron and devote sufficient time to be fully

engaged in their role as Textron Board member Finally all of our directors other than our current CEO satisfy

the independence standards established by the New York Stock Exchange

As discussed below Textrons directors have experience with businesses that operate in industries in which

Textron operates such as the defense aviation manufacturing and finance industries or that involve skills such

as marketing or product branding that are integral to Textrons operations The following highlights the specific

experience qualifications attributes and skills of our individual Board members that have led the Nominating

and Corporate Governance Committee to conclude that these individuals should continue to serve on our Board

Mr Donnelly Textrons current Chairman President and CEO has significant experience gained in

variety of positions at General Electric and Textron in the aerospace
and defense sector innovation

manufacturing sales and marketing portfolio management talent development and business
processes

Mr Donnelly brings to the Board first-hand real-time experience in and understanding of Textron

operations gained through his service with the Company as Chief Operating Officer and now Chairman

President and CEO

Ms Bader has significant experience in strategic planning and change management acquired through her

leadership roles at Dow Chemical Company and NatureWorks LLC she has expertise in managing

strategic business process implementation and its attendant cultural transformation within global

industrial business environments he also brings to Textron extensive experience in managing

turnarounds Six Sigma customer loyalty and employee satisfaction and the expansion of international

business



Mr Clark provides the Board with extensive expertise in establishing brand equity worldwide and

extending strategic initiatives globally developed through his 30-year career at Procter and Gamble as

well as leadership in enhancing customer service and advancing customer relationships His experience as

CEO of Cardinal Health provides additional insight and value in corporate governance talent

development change management marketing and business development

Mr Conway managed significant operating budgets and addressed complex operational and strategic

issues in his roles as senior Marine Corps officer and his positions as Commandant and as member of

the Joint Chiefs of Staff Mr Conways deep understanding of the U.S military and broad knowledge of

the defense industry and international security issues combined with his demonstrated leadership and

management skills make him valuable strategic advisor especially with respect to our defense

businesses

Mr Evans has extensive experience in several industries in which Textron operates including the

transportation and manufacturing industries His considerable experience in restructuring and cost

containment developed through his work with Emerson and Union Pacific contributes to the Boards

evaluation of the Companys long-term strategic plans and actions to improve cost productivity His work

at HCI Equity Partners brings to the Textron Board valuable experience and insight in portfolio

management mergers and acquisitions corporate finance and operations management

Mr Fish has significant experience in the highest levels of leadership in the financial sector and brings to

Textron considerable expertise in banking and commercial finance corporate governance corporate

finance and the domestic and international financial markets This experience assists the Board in its

oversight of the Companys finance business and other financial matters of importance to the Company

Mr GagnØ has significant executive management and financial management experience as well as

expertise in corporate strategic planning and risk management gained through his service and leadership

roles in number of business enterprises including as CEO of Avenor Inc Canadian public company
Mr GagnØ provides Textron with seasoned assessment of Canadian business opportunities and practices

and other international business opportunities He is also an audit committee financial expert under the

criteria adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission and brings to the Audit Committee

exceptional experience and understanding in the auditing and accounting fields

Mr Hancocks extensive expertise in driving and growing business within the highly competitive

aerospace and defense arena developed through his 39-year career at Lockheed Martin and General

Dynamics provides insight to the Board in overseeing Textrons defense and aerospace businesses He

brings to Textron deep understanding of working with the Department of Defense i.e program

management contracting international defense markets as well as aerospace manufacturing and general

management

Lord Powell has extensive international business and national security experience garnered through

distinguished high-level government service and service in the private sector He is an expert on many

global regions where Textron does business and has keen insight into geopolitical considerations that

affect Textrons efforts to increase its worldwide footprint He also has deep understanding of two

significant Textron markets international defense industries and the requirements of governments for

equipment and services and has developed significant experience in matters relevant to executive

compensation

Mr Trotter has significant experience through his leadership roles within General Electric diversified

company with financial services component in variety of fields of importance to Textron He has

broad expertise in building powerful brands worldwide implementing world-class processes and

developing talented people He also has deep knowledge of manufacturing operations supply chain

management and the development of international business opportunities each of which is important to

Textrons operations

Mr Ziemer provides the Board with extensive expertise in establishing brand equity worldwide and

leadership in fostering outstanding customer satisfaction and loyalty developed through his 40-year



career at Harley-Davidson Mr Zierners significant experience with the captive finance business model

assists the Board in its oversight of cur Textron Financial business and he is an audit committee

financial expert under the criteria adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission

Meetings and Organization

During 2012 the Board of Directors held six regular meetings and two special meetings The Board has

standing Audit Nominating and Corporate Governance and Organization and Compensation committees

Directors are expected to regularly attend Board meetings and meetings of committees on which they serve and

also the annual meeting of shareholders Each director attended at least 75% of the total number of Board and

applicable committee meetings All directors except for Mr Ziemer attended the 2012 annual meeting of

shareholders

Corporate Governance

Textrons Corporate Governance Guidelines and Policies originally adopted in 1996 and most recently

revised in September 2010 meet or exceed the listing standards adopted by the New York Stock Exchange and

are posted on Textron website www corn under Investor Relations Corporate Governance

Governance Guidelines and Policies and are also available in print upon request to Textrons Secretary

Code of Ethics

Textrons Business Conduct Guidelines originally adopted in 1979 and most recently revised in September

2010 are applicable to all employees of Textron including the principal executive officer the principal financial

officer and the principal accounting officer The Business Conduct Guidelines are also applicable to directors

with respect to their responsibilities as members of the Board of Directors The Business Conduct Guidelines are

posted on Textrons website www.textron.com under About Textron Our Commitment/Code of Ethics and

are also available in print upon request to Textrons Secretary We intend to post on our website at the address

specified above any amendments to the Business Conduct Guidelines or the grant of waiver from provision

of the Business Conduct Guidelines requiring disclosure under applicable Securities and Exchange Commission

rules

Director Independence

The Board of Directors has determinedL that Ms Bader Messrs Clark Conway Evans Fish GagnØ

Hancock Trotter and Ziemer and Lord Powell are independent as defined under the listing standards of the New

York Stock Exchange based on the criteria set forth in the Textron Corporate Governance Guidelines and

Policies which are posted on Textrons website as described above The Board previously determined that Joe

Ford who retired from the Board at the 2012 annual meeting was also independent In making its determination

the Board examined relationships between directors or their affiliates with Textron and its affiliates and

determined that each such relationship did not impair the directors independence Specifically the Board

considered the fact that in 2007 Mr Fords company Wooster Capital LLC purchased 6.25% interest in

business jet from CitationAir formerly CitationShares Textron company as described under Transactions

with Related Persons on page 48 ii in each of the years from 2009 through 2012 the Textron Charitable Trust

made $10000 donation to Friends of Atlantic Partnership Inc the sister organization to the Atlantic

Partnership for which Lord Powell serves as Chairman and iiiin 2012 the Textron Charitable Trust made

donations totalling $65000 to the Injured Marine Semper Fi Fund on which Mr Conways wife serves as Board

Vice President $50000 of which was pursuant to multi-year commitment made several years prior to

Mr Conway joining Textrons Board The Board determined that these donations have not compromised Lord

Powells or Mr Conways independence as Textron director and that the agreement with Mr Fords company

did not compromise his independence as Textron director

Other Directorships

Textrons Corporate Governance Guidelines and Policies limit the number of other public company boards

on which non-management directors may serve to five in the case of director who is not public company chief

executive officer and three in the case of director who is chief executive officer of public company



Leadership Structure

Historically as reflected in Textrons Corporate Governance Guidelines and Policies the Board has

determined that the practice of combining the positions of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

serves the best interests of Textron and its shareholders This is because the Board believes that the CEO with

his extensive knowledge of the Companys businesses and full time focus on the business affairs of the

Company makes more effective Chairman than an independent director especially given the size and multi-

industry nature of the Companys business The Board has committed to review at least once every two years

whether combining these positions serves the best interests of Textron and its shareholders

The functions of the Board are carried out by the full Board and when delegated by the Board committees

with each director being full and equal participant The Board is committed to high standards of corporate

governance and its Corporate Governance Guidelines and Policies were designed in part to ensure the

independence of the Board and include formal process for the evaluation of CEO performance by all non-

management Board members The evaluation is used by the Organization and Compensation Committee as

basis to recommend the compensation of the CEO In addition the Audit Committee the Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee and the Organization and Compensation Committee are composed entirely of

independent directors Each of these committees charters provides that the committee may seek the counsel of

independent advisors and each routinely meets in an executive session without management present The Board

and each of its three principal committees perform an annual self-evaluation

The independent directors annually designate director from among the chairs of the Audit Committee the

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the Organization and Compensation Committee to serve

as Lead Director The Lead Director is assigned clearly defined and expansive duties including presiding at

all meetings of the Board at which the Chairman is not present including all executive sessions of the Board

ii serving when needed as liaison between the CEO and the independent directors iii identifying together

with the CEO key strategic direction and operational issues upon which the Boards annual core agenda is based

iv discussing agenda items and time allocated for agenda items with the CEO prior to each Board meeting

including the authority to make changes and approve the agenda for the meeting determining the type of

information to be provided to the directors for each scheduled Board meeting vi convening additional

executive sessions of the Board vii determining to meet with Textron shareholders as appropriate after

consultation with the CEO and General Counsel and viii such other functions as the Board may direct

Textrons Corporate Governance Guidelines and Policies also require that the Board meet in executive session

for independent directors without management present at each regularly scheduled Board meeting Textrons

Lead Director presides at such sessions Additional executive sessions may be convened at any time at the

request of director and in such event the Lead Director presides During 2012 the independent directors met

in executive session without management present during six of the Boards eight meetings Currently

Mr Ziemer serves as Lead Director The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reassesses on an

annual basis the continuing effectiveness of the role of Lead Director

Risk Oversight

The Board oversees the Companys enterprise risk management process Management reviews the process

including identification of key risks and steps taken to address them with the full Board on periodic basis

These reviews occur at an annual dedicated risk management session and as part of the Boards annual review of

the Companys strategy Although the full Board is responsible for this oversight function the Organization and

Compensation Committee the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the Audit Committee

assist the Board in discharging its oversight duties

The Organization and Compensation Committee reviews risks related to the subject matters enumerated in

its charter including risks associated with the Companys compensation programs to provide incentive

compensation arrangements for senior executives that do not encourage inappropriate risk taking The

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers risks related to the subject matters for which it is

responsible as identified in its charter including risks associated with corporate governance Similarly the Audit

Committee discusses with management and the independent auditor as appropriate risks related to its duties



and responsibilities as described in its charter ii managements policies and processes for risk assessment and

risk management and iii in the period between the Boards risk oversight reviews managements evaluation of

the Companys major risks and the steps management has taken or proposes to take to monitor and mitigate such

risks

Accordingly while each of the three committees contributes to the risk management oversight function by

assisting the Board in the manner outlined above the Board itself remains responsible for the oversight of the

Companys risk management program

Shareholder Communications to the Board

Shareholders or other interested parties wishing to communicate with the Board of Directors the Lead

Director the non-management directors as group or with any individual director may do so by calling

866 698-6655 toll-free or 401 457-2269 writing to Board of Directors at Textron Inc 40 Westminster

Street Providence Rhode Island 02903 or by e-mail to textrondirectors@textron.com The telephone numbers

and addresses are also listed on the Textron website All communications received via the above methods will be

sent to the Board of Directors the Lead Director the non-management directors or the specified director

Compensation of Directors

During 2012 for their service on the Board non-employee directors were paid an annual retainer of

$215000 $100000 of which must be deferred and paid in the form of stock units as discussed below The

annual retainer is prorated for directors who join the Board during the year Non-employee directors who served

on the Executive Committee or one of the standing committees other than the Audit Committee received $1500

for each committee meeting attended Non-employee directors who served on the Audit Committee received

$2500 for each committee meeting attended Textron reimburses each director for his or her expenses
in

attending Board or committee meetings The chairmen of the Audit Committee the Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committee and the Organization and Compensation Committee received respectively an additional

$15000 $10000 and $12500 and the Lead Director an additional $15000

Textron maintains Deferred Income Plan for Non-Employee Directors the Directors Deferred Income

Plan under which they can defer all or part of their cash compensation until retirement from the Board

Deferrals are made either into an interest bearing account which bears interest at monthly rate that is one-

twelfth of the greater of 8% and the average for the month of the Moodys Corporate Bond Yield Index but in

either case not to exceed monthly rate equal to 120% of the Applicable Federal Rate as provided under

Section 1274d of the Internal Revenue Code or into an account consisting of Textron stock units which are

equivalent in value to Textron common stock Textron credits dividend equivalents to the stock unit account

Each year directors are required to defer minimum of $100000 of their annual retainer into the stock unit

account

Textron sponsors
Directors Charitable Award Program that was closed to new participants in 2004 Under

the program Textron contributes up to $1000000 to the Textron Charitable Trust on behalf of each participating

director upon his or her death and the Trust donates 50% of that amount in accordance with the directors

recommendation among up to five charitable organizations Payment of the contributions ultimately is

recoverable from life insurance policies that Textron maintains on the lives of directors for this purpose In 2012

Textron paid total of $57809 in premiums on the policies insuring our current directors The directors do not

receive any direct financial benefit from this program since the insurance proceeds and charitable deductions

accrue solely to Textron Non-employee directors also are eligible to participate in the Textron Matching Gift

Program under which Textron will match contributions of directors and full-time employees to eligible charitable

organizations at 11 ratio up to maximum of $7500 per year

During 2012 non-employee directors had access to personal use of Textron aircraft through program

operated by CitationAir Under this program non-employee directors reimbursed Textron
per flight hour based

upon the direct and indirect operating expenses of Textron Citation multiplied by ratio factor assigned to

the various aircraft in the CitationAir fleet This program has been discontinued effective January 2013 and

non-employee directors will have access only to CitationAir standard charter program with no preferential

availability or pricing
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Non-employee directors are eligible to receive awards granted under the Textron Inc 2007 Long-Term

Incentive Plan Other than one-time grant of restricted stock received upon joining the Board they currently do

not receive any such awards This grant of restricted stock in the amount of 2000 shares does not vest until the

director has completed at least five years of Board service and all successive terms of Board service to which he

or she is nominated and elected or in the event of death or disability or change in control of Textron

In order to align the financial interests of our directors with the interests of our shareholders we require that

our directors maintain specified level of stock ownership equal to eight times the portion of their annual

retainer payable in cash toward this end we require all non-employee directors to defer minimum of $100000

of their annual retainer into the stock unit account of the Directors Deferred Income Plan All directors currently

meet the stock ownership requirement which allows them to achieve the required level of ownership over time in

the case of directors who have more recently joined the Board We also have stock retention policy restricting

non-employee directors from transferring stock units or restricted stock while they serve on the Board In

addition our directors are prohibited from pledging Textron securities as collateral for any loan or holding

Textron securities in margin account

In December 2012 following review of the non-employee directors compensation and benefits program

by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee on recommendation of the committee the Board

determined not to make any modifications to the program for 2013

Employee directors do not receive fees or other compensation for their service on the Board or its

committees

Director Compensation Table

The following table provides 2012 compensation information for our directors other than Mr Donnelly

whose compensation is reported in the Summary Compensation Table on page 33

Fees Earned All Other

or Paid in Stock Compensation
Name Cash $1 Awards $2 $3 Total

Kathleen Bader 144500 100000 20652 265152

Kerry Clark 128500 100000 26135 254635

James Conway 144500 100000 2500 247000

IvorJ Evans 144500 100000 25122 269622

Lawrence Fish 132780 100000 2500 235280

Joe Ford4 30250 39766 70016

Paul GagnØ 149000 100000 249000

Dam Hancock 149000 100000 249000

Lord Powell of Bayswater KCMG 144000 100000 244000

Lloyd Trotter 128500 100000 228500

James Ziemer 162720 100000 262720

The fees disclosed in this column do not include $100000 of annual retainer for each director and prorated amount for Mr Ford

required to be deferred into the stock unit account under the Directors Deferred Income Plan

The amounts in this column represent the grant date fair value in accordance with financial accounting standards of the portion of the

directors annual retainer deferred into the stock unit account under the Directors Deferred Income Plan The grant date fair values have

been determined based on the assumptions and methodologies set forth in Note 12 Share-Based Compensation in Textrons Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29 2012

The amounts in this column represent the cost of life insurance premiums relating to the Directors Charitable Award Program described

above for Ms Bader Mr Clark and Mr Evans the premiums for Mr Fish Mr Ford Mr Gagnd and Lord Powell have been
fully paid

and the other directors do not participate
in the program because they joined the Board after the program was closed to new participants

ii the amount of matching contributions made by the Company on behalf of
participating

directors pursuant to the Textron Matching Gift

Program which was $7500 for Ms Bader $6600 for Mr Clark $2500 for Mr Conway and $2500 for Mr Fish

Mr Ford retired from the Board in April 2012

11



Board Committees

Executive Committee

Textrons Board maintains an Executive Committee which has the power between meetings of the Board of

Directors to exercise all of the powers of the full Board except as specifically limited by Textrons Amended

and Restated By-Laws and Delaware law Currently Mr Donnelly Mr Fish Lord Powell and Mr Ziemer

comprise the Executive Committee which did not meet during 2012

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee pursuant to its charter as amended in December 2012 assists the Board of Directors

with its oversight of the integrity of Textrons financial statements iiTextrons compliance with legal and

regulatory requirements iiithe independent auditors qualifications and independence and iv the

performance of Textrons internal audit function and independent auditor The Audit Committee is directly

responsible for the appointment retention compensation and oversight of Textrons independent auditors

copy of the charter is posted on Textrons website www.textron.com under Investor Relations Corporate

Governance/Board Committees and Charters and is also available in print upon request to Textrons Secretary

The following six independent directors presently comprise the committee Mr Ziemer Chairman Ms Bader

Mr Conway Mr Evans Mr GagnØ and Mr Hancock The Board has determined that each member of the

committee is independent as independence is defined for audit committee members in the listing standards of the

New York Stock Exchange No member of the committee simultaneously serves on the audit committees of more

than three public companies except for Mr GagnØ who serves on three audit committees in addition to

Textrons The Board of Directors has determined that Mr Gagnd service on four audit committees does not

impair his ability to effectively serve on Textrons Audit Committee The Board of Directors has determined that

Mr GagnØ and Mr Ziemer each are audit committee financial experts under the criteria adopted by the

Securities and Exchange Commission During 2012 the committee met nine times and subcommittee of the

Audit Committee met once

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee pursuant to its charter as amended in December

2012 identifies individuals to become Board members and recommends that the Board select the director

nominees for the next annual meeting of shareholders ii develops and recommends to the Board set of

corporate governance principles applicable to Textron iii oversees the evaluation of the Board and its

committees and iv makes recommendations on compensation of the Board of Directors copy of the

committees charter is posted on Textrons website www.textron.com under Investor Relations Corporate

Governance/Board Committees and Charters and is also available in print upon request to Textrons Secretary

In making its recommendations on director nominees to the Board the committee will consider suggestions

regarding possible candidates from variety of sources including shareholders Nominees suggested by

shareholders will be communicated to the committee for consideration in the committees selection process

Shareholder-recommended candidates are evaluated using the same criteria used for other candidates The

committee also periodically retains third-party search firm to assist in the identification and evaluation of

candidates Though the committee does not have formal policy for considering diversity in identifying

nominees for director it seeks variety of occupational and personal backgrounds on the Board in order to obtain

range
of viewpoints and perspectives

Textrons Amended and Restated By-Laws contain provision which imposes certain requirements upon

nominations for directors made by shareholders at the annual meeting of shareholders or special meeting of

shareholders at which directors are to be elected Shareholders wishing to nominate an individual for director at

the annual meeting must submit timely notice of nomination within the time limits described below under the

heading Shareholder Proposals and Other Matters for 2014 Annual Meeting on page 54 to the committee

do Textrons Secretary along with the information described in our By-Laws
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The committee annually reviews the Board of Directors composition the appropriate size of the Board the

results of the review of the Boards overall performance and the strategy of the Company to determine future

requirements for Board members over the next year or two All candidates are evaluated against those

requirements and the criteria for membership to the Board set forth in the Corporate Governance Guidelines and

Policies including exemplary personal ethics and integrity ii specific skills and experience aligned with

Textrons strategic direction and operating challenges and that complement the overall composition of the Board

iiicore business competencies of high achievement and record of success iv financial literacy and history

of making good business decisions and exposure to best practices interpersonal skills that maximize group

dynamics including respect for others vi strong communications skills and confidence to ask tough questions

and vii enthusiasm for Textron and sufficient time to be fully engaged The committee must also take into

account our By-Laws which provide that no person shall be elected director who has attained the age of 72 In

addition the Guidelines and Policies provide that no more than three of the Companys directors will not be

independent under the standards of the New York Stock Exchange All recommendations of nominees to the

Board by the committee are made solely on the basis of merit

In making its recommendations on Board compensation the committee annually reviews the director

compensation and benefits program and consults with independent board compensation advisors as appropriate

The following six directors presently comprise the committee Mr Fish Chairman Ms Bader Mr Clark

Mr Conway Mr Evans and Mr Trotter The Board of Directors has determined that each member of the

committee is independent under the New York Stock Exchange listing standards During 2012 the committee

met three times

Organization and Compensation Committee

The Organization and Compensation Committee pursuant to its charter as amended in December 2012

approves compensation arrangements including merit salary increases and any annual and long-term

incentive compensation with respect to the Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers of the

Company ii oversees and where appropriate approves compensation arrangements applicable to other

corporate officers iiiamends any executive compensation plan or nonqualified deferred compensation plan of

the Company and its subsidiaries to the same extent that the plan may be amended by the Board iv administers

the executive compensation plans and nonqualified deferred compensation plans of the Company and its

subsidiaries approves the Chief Executive Officers and other executive officers responsibilities and

performance against pre-established performance goals and vi plans for the succession of the Companys

management copy of the committees charter is posted on Textrons website www.textron.com under

Investor Relations Corporate Governance/Board Committees and Charters and is also available in print

upon request to Textrons Secretary See the Compensation Discussion and Analysis CDA beginning on

page 18 for more information on the committees
processes and the role of management and consultants in

determining the form and amount of executive compensation The following five directors presently comprise the

committee Lord Powell Chairman Mr Clark Mr GagnØ Mr Hancock and Mr Trotter The Board of

Directors has determined that each member of the committee is independent under the New York Stock

Exchange listing standards During 2012 the committee met six times

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insi4er Participation

The members of the Organization and Compensation Committee during fiscal year 2012 consisted of Lord

Powell who served as the Chairman Mr Clark Mr GagnØ Mr Hancock and Mr Trotter No member of the

Organization and Compensation Committee is or has been an executive officer or employee of Textron or any of

its subsidiaries and no compensation committee interlocks existed during fiscal year 2012
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of

December 29 2012 unless otherwise noted by

Each person or group known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of our common stock

Each of our directors

Each of our named executive officers as defined under Securities and Exchange Commission rules

NEOs and

All of our directors and executive officers as of 2012 year end as group

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange

Commission and generally includes any
shares over which person exercises sole or shared voting or investment

power Shares of common stock subject to options that are exercisable or restricted stock units that will vest

within 60 days of December 29 2012 and shares held for the executive officers by the trustee under the Textron

Savings Plan are considered outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding the option or unit or

participating in the Plan but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership

of any other person

Each stockholder listed below has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares beneficially

owned except in those cases in which the voting or investment power is shared with the trustee or as otherwise

noted

Number of Shares of Percent of

Directors and Executive Officers Common Stock Class

Kathleen Bader 194071

John Butler 30714523

Kerry Clark 70001

Frank Connor 6430323

James Conway 20061

Scott Donnelly 54109523

Ivor Evans 70001

Lawrence Fish 390001

PaulE.GagnØ 51951

Dam Hancock 21391

Cheryl Johnson 407123

Robert Lupone 4903

Lord Powell of Bayswater KCMG 1331

Lloyd Trotter 20811

James L.Ziemer 21221

All directors and executive officers as group 14 persons 798042

Beneficial Holders of More than 5%

FMR LLC4 34236381 12.62%

Rowe Price Associates Inc.5 24302590 8.96

The Vanguard Group Inc.6 18756016 6.91

Less than of the outstanding shares of common stock

Excludes stock units held by our non-employee directors under the Directors Deferred Income Plan that are

paid in cash following termination of service as director based upon the value of Textron common stock as
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follows Ms Bader 42449 shares Mr Clark 61383 shares Mr Conway 6779 shares Mr Evans 44442

shares Mr Fish 79164 shares Mr Gagnd 83948 shares Mr Hancock 70702 shares Lord Powell

44240 shares Mr Trotter 56343 shares and Mr Ziemer 49519 shares

Includes the following shares obtainable within 60 days of December 29 2012 upon the exercise of stock

options Mr Butler 258155 shares Mr Connor 159145 shares Mr Donnelly 453737 shares

Ms Johnson 2031 shares and all directors and executive officers as of 2012 year end as group

614913 shares

Excludes stock units held under non-qualified deferred compensation plans that are paid in cash based

upon the value of Textron common stock as follows Mr Connor 2071 shares Mr Donnelly 6111 shares

ii RSUs payable in cash based upon the value of Textron common stock as follows Mr Connor

46676 shares Mr Donnelly 88376 shares and Ms Johnson 4779 shares iii unvested RSUs payable in

stock as follows Mr Connor 52923 shares Mr Donnelly 199281 shares Ms Johnson 15822 shares and

Mr Lupone 44931 shares iv unvested PSUs that are paid in cash when earned and valued based upon the

value of Textron common stock as follows Mr Butler 8985 shares Mr Connor 88205 shares

Mr Donnelly 288833 shares and Mr Lupone 26170 shares

Based on information disclosed in Amendment No to Schedule 13G filed by FMR LLC Edward

Johnson 3d and Fidelity Management Research Company on February 14 2013 According to this filing

Fidelity Management Research Company wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR LLC beneficially owns

34039988 shares of Textron common stock including 507429 shares resulting from the assumed

conversion of $6660000 principal amount of Textrons convertible notes as result of acting as investment

advisor to various investment companies the Funds with the power to direct the voting of those shares

held by the Boards of Trustees of the Funds Fidelity Management Trust Company wholly-owned

subsidiary of FMR LLC beneficially owns 88042 of these shares Strategic Advisers Inc wholly-owned

subsidiary of FMR LLC beneficially owns 7993 of these shares Pyramis Global Advisors Trust Company

wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR LLC beneficially owns 67276 of these shares Pyramis Global Advisors

LLC wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR LLC beneficially owns 32762 of these shares resulting from the

assumed conversion of $430000 principal amount of Textrons convertible notes and FIL Limited

beneficially owns 320 of these shares Edward Johnson 3d and FMR LLC through their control of the

subsidiaries of FMR LLC and related entities have the sole power to dispose of or direct the disposition of all

34236381 shares and the sole power to vote or direct the voting of 196716 of these shares The address for

FMR LLC is 82 Devonshire Street Boston MA 02109

Based on information disclosed in Amendment No to Schedule l3G filed by Rowe Price Associates

Inc on February 2013 According to this filing Rowe Price Associates Inc in its capacity as

investment adviser for various individual and institutional investors is deemed to beneficially own these

shares as to which it has sole dispositive power and with respect to 6051980 of these shares sole voting

power however Rowe Price Associates Inc expressly disclaims such beneficial ownership The address

for Rowe Price Associates Inc is 100 Pratt Street Baltimore MD 21202

Based on information disclosed in Amendment No to Schedule 13G filed by The Vanguard Group Inc on

February Il 2013 According to this filing The Vanguard Group Inc beneficially owns these shares and has

sole power to dispose of or direct the disposition of 18289034 of these shares Vanguard Fiduciary Trust

Company wholly-owned subsidiary of The Vanguard Group Inc is the beneficial owner of 388630

shares as result of its serving as investment manager of collective trust accounts Vanguard Investments

Australia Ltd wholly-owned subsidiary of The Vanguard Group Inc is the beneficial owner of 181210

shares as result of its serving as investment manager of Australian investment offerings The address for

The Vanguard Group Inc is 100 Vanguard Blvd Malvern PA 19355
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SECTION 16A BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended requires Textrons directors executive

officers and controller to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership on Forms and with the

Securities and Exchange Commission and to provide copies of such reports to Textron As an administrative

matter Textron assists its reporting persons in fulfilling their responsibilities to prepare
and file reports pursuant

to Section 16a including with respect to making determinations on the availability of exemptions from

reporting

Based solely upon review of copies of such reports and written representations of the reporting persons to

our knowledge during the 2012 fiscal year all such reporting persons timely filed all of the reports they were

required to file under Section 16a

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee of the Board of has furnished the following report on its activities

The committee reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated financial statements and the related

schedules in the Annual Report referred to below with management The committee also reviewed with

management and the independent registered public accounting firm the independent auditors the

reasonableness of significant judgments and the clarity of disclosures in the financial statements the quality

not just the acceptability of the Companys accounting principles and such other matters as are required to

be discussed with the committee by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board In addition the committee discussed with the independent auditors the auditors independence from

management and the Company including the matters in the written disclosures and the letter from the

independent auditors required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board regarding the independent accountants communication with the audit committee concerning

independence and considered the possible effect of non-audit services on the auditors independence

The committee discussed with the Companys internal and independent auditors the overall scope and

plans for their respective audits and met with the internal and independent auditors with and without

management present to discuss the results of their examinations their evaluations of the Companys

internal controls including internal controls over financial reporting and the overall quality of the

Companys financial reporting The committee also reviewed the Companys compliance program Nine

committee meetings were held during the year

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above the committee recommended to the Board

of Directors that the audited consolidated financial statements and the related schedules be included in the

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 29 2012 to be filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission The committee also reported to the Board that it had selected Ernst Young

LLP as the Companys independent auditors for 2013 and recommended that this selection be submitted to

the shareholders for ratification In determining whether to reappoint Ernst Young LLP as the Companys

independent auditor the committee took into consideration number of factors including the quality of the

committees ongoing discussions with Ernst Young LLP and an assessment of the professional

qualifications and past performance of the lead audit partner and Ernst Young LLP

JAMES ZIEMER CHAIRMAN
KATHLEEN BADER

JAMES CONWAY
IVOR EVANS

PAUL GAGNE
DAIN HANCOCK
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COMPENSATiON COMMITTEE REPORT

The Organization and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors has furnished the following

report

The committee reviewed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis to be included in Textrons 2013

proxy statement and discussed that Analysis with management

Based on its review and discussions with management the committee recommended to the Board of

Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in Textrons 2013 proxy statement

and Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29 2012

This report is submitted by the Organization and Compensation Committee

LORD POWELL OF BAYSWATER KCMG CHAIRMAN
KERRY CLARK

PAUL GAGNE
DAIN HANCOCK
LLOYD TROTTER
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2012 Highlights

No base salary or target incentive compensation increases for executive officers in 2012 other than for

newly appointed executive officers

Solid increases in revenue and segment profit led to 99% payout on annual incentive compensation for

2012

Long-term incentive compensation for 2010-2012 cycle resulted in 111.2% multiplier which the

Committee reduced by 20% based upon Textrons total shareholder return performance

Increased average vesting time for Restricted Stock Unit awards from 20% per year over years to one-

third per year after years and to encourage leadership stability and retention

Identified performance peer group and added total shareholder return measured against this group for

2012 performance awards

Revised talent peer group to help establish target pay for 2012

Since 2008 no new employment contracts providing individual termination protection despite high-level

recruitments

Robust stock ownership guidelines met by all covered executives

Executive Summary

Despite continuing economic uncertainties 2012 was good year for Textron with revenue growth of nine

percent 92% increase in segment profit and 149% increase in diluted earnings per share from continuing

operations Volume increased in most of our businesses led by higher commercial and military deliveries at Bell

We also capped four-year effort to exit Textron Financial Corporations TFC non-captive portfolio

liquidating $8.7 billion of finance receivables over the four years Finally the company generated strong cash

flow during the year allowing us to return $272 million to our shareholders through the repurchase of

11.1 million common shares

Revenue

Dollars in Millions

$13000

$11500 $800 $1.00

$10000 $400 $0.00

2011 2011 2012

Textrons compensation philosophy is to establish target compensation based on the median of talent
peer

group and to tie substantial portion of our executives compensation to performance against objective business

goals and stock price performance This approach helps us to recruit and retain talented executives incentivizes

our executives to achieve desired business goals and aligns their interests with the interests of our shareholders

Total compensation for Textron executives consists of base salary plus both an Annual Incentive Program

and Long-Term Incentive Program Our Annual Incentive Program is designed to reward performance against

annual business goals established by the Organization and Compensation Committee the Committee at the

beginning of each year and is payable in cash Our Long-Term Incentive Program is designed to reward both

Diluted Earnings

per Share
$1.97

$2.00

$11275

Segment Profit

Dollars in Millions

$1200 $1132

$591

2011 2012
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absolute and relative performance over multi-year period Absolute performance is based on achieving

objective performance goals set at the beginning of each
year

of the incentive period by the Committee plus

changes in stock price during the incentive period Relative performance is based on comparing Textrons

performance versus peers based on total shareholder return TSR The Long-Term Incentive Program payout

is entirely linked to stock price through compensation in the form of stock option awards restricted stock unit

awards and performance share units payable in cash based upon Textrons stock price Because substantial

portion of total target compensation for our executives is in the form of long-term incentives which are directly

linked to stock price 76% for our CEO and 55% for our other executive officers actual realized compensation

of our executives closely tracks Textrons TSR

The main two performance goals set by the Committee for 2012 applicable to annual incentives as well

as to long-term performance incentives focused on profitability and cash efficiency which were key business

priorities for Textron in 2012 The profitability target focused executives on delivery of segment profit in each of

our manufacturing segments plus net operating profit in our captive finance operations The cash efficiency target

focused executives on manufacturing cash flow with reduced emphasis on liquidation targets for TFC to

improve operational efficiency and strengthen the balance sheet Goals for 2012 required improvement in all

areas of measured performance from the prior year and were challenging in light of global economic and market

conditions

For 2012 the annual incentive compensation paid 99% of target for our executives reflecting targeted

performance Performance share units PSUs awarded for the 2010-2012 performance cycle were subject to

business goals set annually by the Committee during the three-year performance period These awards were also

subject to discretionary adjustment by the Committee based upon Textrons TSR performance relative to the

SP 500 over the same period Performance against these goals resulted in multiplier of 111.2% of the number

of PSUs granted however the Committee applied 20% discretionary reduction based on Textrons TSR

performance This adjustment resulted in final number of units paid of 89% of the initial number of 2010-2012

PSUs granted

The Committee also believes that Textrons executive compensation policies should keep pace
with

evolving best practices In this regard the Committee took several key executive compensation actions in 2012

and maintained existing key executive compensation governance practices as reflected in the table below

Key Executive Compensation Actions for 2012

No base salary or target incentive compensation

increases for named executives other than for newly

appointed executive officers

Increased average vesting time for Restricted Stock

Unit awards from 20%
per year over years to one-

third per year after years and

Revised the talent
peer group to help establish target

pay

Identified performance peer group and added TSR

versus this
group as metric for PSU grants

Key Executive Compensation Governance Practices

Since 2008 no new employment contracts providing

individual termination protection despite adding two

new executive officers

Robust stock ownership guidelines met by each

named executive

Prohibition on hedging company stock

Since 2009 no new agreements providing tax gross-

ups

Committee conducts full review of risks associated

with compensation programs each year

Committee retains independent consultant that

provides no other services to Textron

Overview and Objectives of Executive Compensation Program

The objectives of Textrons compensation program for executive officers are

Supporting world class performance

Attracting and retaining high-performing talent

Focusing executives on delivering balanced performance by providing both cash and equity incentives

and ii both short-term and long-term incentives
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Aligning executive compensation with shareholder value

To achieve these objectives the Committee uses the following five guidelines for designing and

implementing executive compensation programs at Textron

First target pay should be set in reference to the median target pay of talent peer group

Second incentive compensation should pay higher when Textron performs well and lower if Textron

performs poorly

Third peiformance goals should align interests of executives with long-term interests of shareholders

Fourth compensation programs should not put the Company at undue risk

Fifth indirect compensation should provide the same level of benefits given to other salaried employees

Target Pay

How Does the Committee Set Target Pay

Target pay consists of three elements base salary ii target annual incentive compensation and

iiitarget long-term incentive compensation In setting target pay the Committee addresses each element as

follows

Expressed as percentage of

salary aligned with median of

talent peer group data

Which Companies Does the Committee Use to Set Target Pay

Supporting Executive

Compensation

Program Objectives

Aligning executive

compensation with long-term

shareholder value and

improving long-term operating

and stock price performance

The Committee uses talent peer group of companies recommended by its independent compensation

consultant and approved by the Committee to set target pay for each named executive officer NEO The

Committee believes that complexity and size are the most important factors in establishing this group of

companies to provide appropriate references for target pay levels with industry playing secondary role In

addition to market cap and enterprise value as well as availability of information in the compensation survey

database selection criteria for the talent peer group for 2012 included

Publicly-traded companies that are headquartered in the U.S

Revenue between $5 billion and $35 billion with at least 10% from outside the U.S

Median revenue for peer group approximates Textrons revenue

Revenue in the aerospace/defense technology/engineering and/or general manufacturing sectors

Element of Target Pay Setting Target Pay

Base Salary Above or below talent peer Attracting and retaining high-

group median based on individual performing talent

responsibilities complexity of

position versus that of the market

benchmarks performance

experience and future potential

Target Annual Incentive Expressed as percentage of Focusing executives on

Compensation salary aligned with median of addressing short-term business

talent peer group data needs and improving results

from one year to the next

Target Long-Term Incentive

Compensation
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The table below lists the 2012 talent peer group companies and Textron showing fiscal 2011 revenues

2012 Talent Peer Group

in millions

Company Name Industry 2011 Revenue

Honeywell International Aerospace/Defense $36529

General Dynamics Corp Aerospace/Defense $32677

3M Company General Manufacturing $29611

Northrop Grumman Aerospace/Defense $26412

Emerson Electric Corp Technology/Engineering $24222

TRW Automotive Holdings Corp Automotive $16244

Eaton Corp General Manufacturing $16049

L-3 Communications Aerospace/Defense $15169

TE Connectivity Technology/Engineering $14312

Parker Hannifin Co General Manufacturing $12346

KBR Inc Technology/Engineering 9103

Visteon Corp Auto Automotive 8047

Oshkosh Corp General General Manufacturing 7585

Federal-Mogul Automotive 6910

Terex Corp General Manufacturing 6505

Rockwell Automation Technology/Engineering 6000

Exelis Inc Aerospace/Defense 5839

Cooper Industries Technology/Engineering 5409

Spirit AeroSystems Aerospace/Defense 4864

Rockwell Collins Aerospace/Defense 4806

75th Percentile $18239

Median $10724

25th Percentile 6379

Textron Inc Multi-Industry $11275

Textron Percentile Rank 51%

The 2011 talent peer group as disclosed in last years Proxy Statement was used to set target pay for 2012 Four

companies Xerox Corp ITT Corp Goodrich Corp and Pitney Bowes Inc were removed from that years talent

peer group to create the 2012 talent peer group used to determine target 2013 pay as recommended by the

Committees independent compensation consultant as result of corporate transactions and other business changes

Added to the 2012 talent peer group were Exelis Inc TRW Automotive Holdings Corp KBR Inc and Terex Corp

How Did the Committee Make Compensation Decisions

Prior to making decisions on compensation the Committee reviewed historical compensation data for each

NEO which reflect the potential share-derived wealth accumulated retirement benefits potential payouts of

stock-based compensation stock ownership and the proportion of cash versus non-cash compensation

Additionally the CEO provided input into compensation decisions for NEOs other than himself including his

assessment of each individuals responsibilities and performance the complexity of their position against market

benchmarks and their experience and future potential In setting 2012 target pay the Committee decided that the

executive officers would receive no increase in any target compensation for 2012

In 2012 Textron appointed two new executive officers to replace retiring executives Robert Lupone

joined Textron on February 2012 as Executive Vice President General Counsel and Secretary Mr Lupones

compensation package which was targeted to fall near the median for similar positions in the talent peer group

and was designed to attract Mr Lupone to Textron was approved by the Committee after review of relevant

market data and input from the Committees independent compensation consultant In setting target

compensation for Mr Lupone the Committee considered his extensive experience at Siemens and the broad

scope of responsibilities and high complexity of his position at Textron
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On July 2112 Cheryl Johnson was proinotud from her position as Iirector of Talent and

Or ganiianonal Dr velopment at extron Bell Heirt opter business to xecutrvr Vice President Human
Resources succeedir John Butler who retired In setting target compensation for Ms Johnson th

Committee br used on increasing her existing compensation package oportionately with iespcct to her

cxpericnc and scopt ot rcsponsibilrty

What is the Target layJr Our Executives

fIr following chart and table shows 2012 compensation targets for Fextrons CEO

target Annual

Compensation

24%

target Long Term

Compensation

Sec tt l5orinrlly

Mix of argct Pay

Position

CL
Basr

51000 000

1%

Short4erm irjcrntive

120% of Salary

91 200000

3%

ong term

incrntive

7005i of sa ary

97000000

76%

Target

total Pay

$9200000

l00

he tollowing chart and table shows 2012 conrpcnsaflon targets for extron other NEOs

Target Annual

ncentrve

13%

Base Salarys

11%

Target.L nnul

omper ration

41//s

Targr Annual

rrcenOve

19%

ise Salary15

Base

Frank Connor 10 $750 000

Robert uponc

he yl Johnson

John Butler

Short4erm Inrentive

85% ot salary

9037500

79c/ of salary

430000

Thrgat Long term

Compensitbon

LongTei larger

incentive Total Pay

285% of salary $3 529 000

9213/900

175% of salary 2100000

1050000

90Sf of salary 910000

450000

186% of salary 1965600

1041600

General 600000
Counsel

VP 300000 60% of salary

HR 180000

oriner

IRO
60 100 65% of salary

364000

Aver ige Mix of arg Pay 26% 19% 95 IOOc/



Incentive Compensation

How Does Our Incentive Compensation Work

Annual Incentive the target annual incentive or short-term incentive STI compensation and goals are set in

the first quarter of each year and the payout is determined after the end of the
year

based on Textrons level of

achievement against the performance goals The Committee believes
one-year performance goals are appropriate

for this annual incentive to focus executives on performance pertinent to current business needs The

performance goals for each of the business units are set to grow the businesses balanced with achieving

profitability and cash flow consistent with expected market conditions The performance goals for executive

officers are enterprise-wide goals and simply reflect the totals of the separate goals for all business units The

Committee also believes that some discretion should be used from time to time based on the Committees and

Boards judgment of managements performance it therefore reserves the ability to exercise discretion in

determining annual incentive compensation payouts

Long-Term Incentive long-term incentive LTI awards made on March consistent with prior years in

2012 included stock options 30% restricted stock units 30% and performance share units 40% The mix of

LTI awards helps to ensure balanced set of incentives focusing executives on increasing company stock price

remaining with Textron as awards vest and meeting performance goals established by the Committee The

number of shares underlying each type of award is based on the average closing price for the first ten trading

days of 2012 also consistent with prior years and aligned with the payout values for performance share units

While all award types pay out based on future performance each has its own characteristics and benefits for

incentivizing desired behaviors as follows

Stock Options 30% of LTI these awards which are granted with an exercise price equal to the

closing price of common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant provide value to

the executive only if the stock price goes up during the term of the option The Committee approved

three-year vesting schedule with ten-year term for options awarded in 2012 This award type delivers

value which reflects relative performance vs the Companys peers To illustrate if all
peer companies

awarded the same target value in options higher stock price performance than peers results in higher

realized pay than peers conversely lower stock price performance vs peers results in lower realized pay

than peers

Restricted Stock Units RSUs 30% of LTI these awards constitute the right to receive one share of

common stock for each RSU upon vesting RSUs have value on the date of grant subject to vesting

have the right to receive dividend equivalents prior to vesting and the final award value will be higher or

lower than the grant value depending on the change in stock price over the vesting period The Committee

approved five-year vesting schedule with vesting beginning after year three The Committee believes

this award type helps with retention of key executives because the RSUs have value upon vesting

regardless of stock price This award type also delivers value which reflects relative performance vs the

Companys peers As with stock options if all peer companies awarded the same target value in RSUs

higher stock price performance than peers results in higher realized pay than peers conversely lower

stock price performance vs peers results in lower realized pay than peers

Performance Share Units PSUs 40% of LTI these awards span three-year performance period

with vesting at the end of the third fiscal year NEOs may earn from 0% to 150% of the units originally

granted based upon the achievement of performance goals set by the Committee for each year of the

performance period Upon vesting all earned PSUs are valued based on the value of our common stock

and are paid in cash in the first quarter following the performance period These awards which do not

earn dividend equivalents provide value based on share price performance and ii achievement of

financial goals during three annual performance periods within the overall cycle giving additional

incentive to executives to execute and perform well over three-year period For 2010-2012 awards the

Committee also applied total shareholder return TSR metric to the final payout at the end of the three

year period which was based on Textrons performance vs the SP 500 At the beginning of 2011 the

Committee re-evaluated this approach and determined that the SP 500 was not an optimal measure for

evaluating comparative performance and eliminated this metric for the 2011-2013 PSUs After

considering the results of the Say-on-Pay vote obtained at the 2011 annual meeting the Committee

reinstituted TSR metric for the 2012-2014 PSU awards in order to link payout with performance versus
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performance peer group The Committee established performance peer group with more focus on

industry in order to measure performance against companies with whom Textron competes more directly

for capital The Committee may exercise negative discretion linked to TSR for the entire three-year

performance period by up to -40% The table below shows the list of performance peer group companies

checkmarks in the columns under Textrons manufacturing business units mean that the
peer company

competes in some way or operates in similar industries with that business unit

Performance Analysis

Which Companies Does the Committee Use to Compare Our Performance

2012 Performance Peer Group

Peer Company Fiscal 2011 Rev Bell Cessna Industrial Systems

The Boeing Company $68735

United Technologies 58190

Lockheed Martin 46499

Johnson Controls Inc 40833

Honeywell International 36529

General Dynamics Corp 32677

Deere Company 32013

Northrop Grumman 26412

Raytheon Company 24857

Eaton Corporation 16049

L-3 Communications 15169

Ingersoll-Rand PLC 14782

Kubota Corporation 12766

Exelis Inc 5839

Spirit AeroSystems 4864

Rockwell Collins 4806

Alliant Techsystems 4613

Textron Inc 11275

The 2011 performance peer group was used for the Committees annual incentive compensation and performance

analysis Three companies Cooper Industries Goodrich Corporation and ITT Corporation were removed from

the 2011 performance peer group to create the 2012 performance peer group which was used for the Committees

performance share unit payouts and performance analysis These companies were removed as result of

corporate transactions and other business changes Added for the 2012 performance peer group was Exelis Inc

Does Pay Reflect Performance

Performance goals apply to annual incentive compensation and long-term incentive compensation awards

granted in the form of PSUs The performance goals established for 2012 were balanced between profitability

cash efficiency and workiorce diversity The profitability target focused executives on delivery of segment profit

in each of our manufacturing segments plus net operating profit in our captive finance operations The cash

efficiency target focused executives on manufacturing cash flow with decreased emphasis on liquidation

targets for TFC which improved operational efficiency and strengthened the balance sheet The diversity metric

was maintained from prior years to continue the Companys focus on having diverse employee profile

Incentive compensation impacted by 2012 financial performance goals includes 2012 STI 2010-2012 PSUs

2011-2013 PSUs and 2012-2014 PSUs

The Company believes that incentive payouts
should be higher if Textron performs better than peers and

lower if Textron performs worse than peers pay for performance analysis of annual incentive compensation

should compare company performance vs peer performance over the year
for which the annual incentive is
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earned Likewise pay for performance analysis of PSUs should compare company performance vs peer

performance over the three-year period for which the units are earned

There are two principal ways to compare company performance vs peer performance compare

shareholder return as measured by change in stock price and reinvested dividends and ii compare operating

metrics The Committee believes that the appropriate way to compare performance among companies for annual

incentive compensation purposes
is to compare operating metrics because stock prices are too volatile over any

isolated 12-month period However the Committee believes that the appropriate way to compare performance

among companies for Textrons PSUs is using total shareholder return because changes in stock price over three

years
is enough time to reflect fundamental changes in performance

The Committee reviewed the Companys performance compared to the performance peer group described

above to assess the effectiveness of our annual incentive compensation plan design For this comparison the

Committee used year-over-year analysis of the operating metrics of net operating profit and cash flow as

reported under generally accepted accounting principles GAAP by the performance peer group companies in

their publicly-available financial statements These two metrics are similar to the performance metrics used by

the Committee and the Committees intention was to focus executives on year-over-year improvement in those

metrics The Committee determined that the payouts of annual incentive compensation were appropriately

aligned with performance in 2010 and 2011 as shown in the chart below The Committee will review the relative

performance for 2012 of Textron compared to its
peers as information becomes available during 2013

Annual Incentive Compensation Payouts and Performance Analysis

The Committee established the weighting for the 2012 annual incentive performance goals described above

as 60% earnings 35% cash efficiency and 5% workforce diversity Performance targets for 2012 required

improvement in all areas of measured performance from the prior year and were challenging in light of uncertain

global economic and market conditions Payouts for each individual could range from 0% to 200% of target

based on performance The formula for determining 2012 annual incentive compensation for executive officers

and the resulting percentage earned is detailed below

2012 Annual Incentive Compensation Calculation

in millions

Actual Component Component
Threshold Target Maximum Achievement Weighting Payout

Earnings Manufacturing and Captive

Finance Operations2 $843 $1148 $1606 $1097 60.0% 50.0%

Cash Efficiency Manufacturing3 415 707 1150 793 25.0 29.9

Cash Efficiency Finance Operations4

Earnings -15 15 35 3.3 6.6

Liquidation 328 428 528 937 3.4 6.8

Expense 48 38 28 45 3.3 1.1

Improvement in Workforce Diversity -1.0% 1.0% 3.0% 0.8% 5.0 4.5

Total Award Earned 98.9%

Results below threshold earn 0% results at target earn 100% results at maximum earn 200% and results between threshold and

target or target
and maximum earn prorated percentage

The earnings target was non-GAAP measure defined as segment profit of our manufacturing segments plus net operating profit of our

captive finance operations

The manufacturing cash efficiency metric was based upon achieving manufacturing cash flow before pension contributions of $707

million Our definition of manufacturing cash flow before pension contributions is non-GAAP measure that adjusts net cash from

operating activities of continuing operations for dividends received from and capital contributions made to TFC capital expenditures

proceeds from the sale of property plant and equipment and contributions to our pension plans

The cash efficiency metric for Finance Operations included three components an earnings component with
target

of break-even ii

liquidation component with target of reducing Finance segment receivables by $428 million and iii an expense component with

target of $38 million
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At its January 2013 meeting the Committee discussed the annual incentive compensation awards to be paid

to the NEOs for the 2012 performance period and considered input from the full Board The Committee concluded

that the calculated payouts appropriately awarded the Companys performance for 2012 and approved the payouts

as calculated above

Annual incentive compensation targets and payouts for 2010 2011 and 2012 for each NEO are shown below

Name

Scott Donnelly

Frank Connor

Robert Lupone

Cheryl Johnson..

John Butler

Position

CEO

CFO

General Counsel

EVP HR

CHRO

Target

$1200000

637500

450000

180000

182500

Payout

$1187000

630000

445000

178000

180491

Year Over Year

Change in Cash Flow

Textron

Year Over Year

Change in Net

Operating Profit

Year Over Year

Change in Cash Flow

Year Over Year

Change in Net

Operating Profit

Note year-over-year change in cash flow is the change in GAAP-reported cash from operating activities

year-over-year change in net operating profit is the change in GAAP-reported income from continuing operations

before income taxes Textrons income from continuing operations before income taxes has been adjusted for

certain nonrecurring and/or unusual items

The above chart demonstrates the directional link between annual incentive compensation payouts and

performance as follows

For 2010 one metric was between the 25th and 50th percentiles and one metric was significantly above the

75th percentile the payouts for 2010 were above target

For 2011 one metric was between the 50th and 75th percentiles and one metric was significantly above the

75th percentile the payouts for 2011 were above target

2010 2011 2012

Target Payout Target Payout

$1200000 $1767600 $1200000 $1402800

637500 939038 637500 745238

N/A N/A N/A N/A

N/A N/A N/A N/A

364000 536172 364000 425516

To validate the effectiveness of the annual incentive compensation plan the Committee examines historic

annual incentive payouts compared to Textrons annual operating performance relative to the performance of peer

companies While exactly comparable metrics are not available for
peer companies indicative comparisons can be

made using publicly-reported GAAP data The chart below shows how annual incentive payouts for 2010 and

2011 aligned with performance relative to Textrons performance peer group The Committee will perform

similarcomparison for 2012 when complete peer financial results become available

Fiscal Year Ending 2010 Fiscal Year Ending 2011

100%

50%

75th

75th %ile 50th 75th

50th %ile 25th
50th %ile

0%

25th %ile

-50%

25th %ile
25th %ile
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Performance Share Unit Payouts and Performance Analysis

Payouts for the 2010-2012 PSU cycle are based upon performance for each of the annual periods within the

2010-2012 cycle against performance goals which are consistent with those set for annual incentive compensation

purposes set for three one-year performance periods weighted equally with modifier based on TSR relative to the

SP 500 The calculation for determining the payout to executive officers for the 2010-2012 PSU cycle and the

resulting percentage earned is detailed below

2010-2012 Performance Share Unit Calculation

in millions except EPS

Metric Mm Tgt Max Result Payout

Earnings Mfg 208 417 833 515 55.9

CashEfficiencyMfg 514 642 770 692 29.9

Financing Ops Metrics 37.5

Earnings

Liquidation 1670 1945 2220 2429

Realized Loss

Loss Ratio 24% 20% 15.9% 14.3%

Total Earned for Year 123.3

Total Units Earned for Cycle Before applying TSR modifier 111.2%

Total Shareholder Return TSR modifier applied by OC Committee -20%

Final Payout as of Original Award 89.0%

For the first two years of the 2010-2012 performance cycle weightings for the metrics described above were

50% earnings-related and 50% cash efficiency-related weightings for the third year of the cycle were 60%

earnings-related and 40% cash efficiency-related The performance metrics for 2012 are described in more detail

above and for previous years are described in the proxy statement for the applicable year Payouts for each

individual could range
from 0% to 150% of target based on performance

As mentioned above for Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units the Committee believes the inherent design

of payouts directly related to change in stock price automatically results in appropriate pay for performance To

validate that the Companys PSU awards link pay to performance the Committee examined PSU payouts at Textron

for each of the last three performance cycles in light of Textrons TSR compared to its
peer companies Two

measures impact PSU payouts the number of units earned is based on Textrons performance against operating

metrics which included TSR component for 2009 and 2010 and ii the value of each unit earned is based on

Textrons stock price The tables below show the past three PSU awards and associated payouts by executive in

terms of both units and value The Committee has evaluated the results on the basis of both relative performance

TSR performance vs peers and absolute performance change in stock price

Units Awarded and Earned for Period

2010 2011 2012

Mm Target Max Result Payout

667 929 $1229 967 53.1Y

277 614 1042 750 29.0

28.1

-167 -139 -111 -144

674 843 1012 1336

290 242 194 245

110.23

Mm Target Max Result Payout

$843 $1148 $1606 $1097 55.0%

415 707 1150 793 32.9

12.3

-15 15 35

328 428 528 937

48 38 28 45

100.2%

2008-2010 Units 2009-2011 PSUIPCU Units 2010-2012 Units

Original Units Original

Name Position Award Paid Original Award Units Paid Award Units Paid

Scott Donnelly CEO 31497 2611 205975 /3703533 169394 /3045786 145623 129563

FrankT.Connor CFO n/a n/a 120000/n/a 98688/n/a 51878 46166

John Butler CHRO 11125 922 51494/ 791250 42349 /650724 21748 19660
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Value Awarded and Earn edfor Period

2008-2010 Value 2009-2011 Value 2010-2012 Value

Final Original Final Original Final

Name Position Original Award Payout Award2 Payout3 Award2 Payout

Scott Donnelly CEO $1506816 $63925 $4867292 $6443996 $2943000 $3379000

FrankT.Connor CFO n/a n/a 1720800 1979780 1048000 1204000

John Butler CHRO 602641 22573 1082191 1500281 440000 513000

Mr Lupone and Ms Johnson did not receive PSU award granted in 2008 2009 and 2010 and therefore were not eligible
for payout

Value on date of grant as reported in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards table in the proxy statement for the applicable year

Includes value of PSUs and PCUs performance-based long-term incentive award vesting over three years with each unit valued at $1

Mr Butlers 2010-2012 units earned and value paid have been pro-rated based on his July 2012 retirement

Relative Performance The table above entitled Units Awarded and Earned for Period shows that the

number of units earned by executives was significantly lower than the number originally awarded for the

2008-2010 cycle when Textrons TSR underperformed peers as shown in the chart below Likewise for the

2009-2011 and 2010-2012 PSU cycles the number of units earned was somewhat lower than the number

originally awarded which is directionally consistent with Textrons TSR performance between the 25th

percentile and the median of the performance peer group

Absolute Performance The table above entitled Value Awarded and Earn edfor Period above shows that

the value of the final payouts made to executives at the end of the performance period was significantly lower

than the value of the original awards for the 2008-2010 cycle when Textrons TSR was down

Correspondingly when Textrons TSR had increased for the 2009-2011 and 20 10-2012 cycles the value of the

final payouts was higher as is reflected in the chart below

The chart below shows that final payouts as percentage of original award value are appropriately linked to

Textrons TSR performance

3-year TSR Performance and PSU/PCU Payout Value Percentage

.2 $200 200%

75th Percentile

Median

$150 75th Percentile
150%

25th Percentile

Median

75th Percentile 25th Percentile

$100 100%
Median

25th Percentile _________________________________________

Textron TSR Performance

$50
on left axis 50%

Payout as of Original Award

Value on right axis

$0 0%

2008-2010 Cycle 2009-2011 Cycle 2010-2012 Cycle

Additional Compensation Information

Risks Related to Compensation

At each meeting the Committee discusses potential risks associated with the compensation programs at

Textron During 2012 the Committee addressed different elements of risk pursuant to calendar agreed at the
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beginning of the year The Committee strives to set compensation policies which do not encourage excessive

risk-taking by senior executives which could endanger the Company During 2012 the Committee completed

full review of managing risk within the compensation programs This annual review helps the Committee to

structure executive compensation programs that are designed to avoid exposing the Company to unwarranted

risk

Indirect Compensation

As mentioned above Textron provides certain indirect compensation programs such as retirement/death

benefits that are designed to provide to NEOs the same level of benefits provided to non-executive officers and

in most cases all salaried employees Certain of these programs provide benefits over any caps
mandated by

government regulations including

Textron Spillover Pension Plan Non-qualified benefit plan to make up for IRS limits to qualified

pension plans and in the case of Mr Donnelly to provide wrap-around pension benefit which takes

into account his final average compensation with Textron and his combined service with Textron and GE

and reduces this benefit by the amount of any other pension benefits which he is eligible to receive under

Textron and GE pension plans

Textron Spillover Savings Plan Non-qualified benefit plan to make up for IRS limits to qualified

savings plans

Textron provides program to executives which benefits them by allowing for tax planning and also

benefits the Company in that cash payments by the Company are delayed

Deferred Income Plan for Textron Executives Non-qualified plan that allows participants to defer

compensation

2012 Say-on-Pay Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation

At our 2012 annual meeting shareholders expressed substantial support for the compensation of our NEOs
with approximately 91 of the votes cast for approval of the say-on-pay advisory vote on executive

compensation The Committee evaluated the results of the 2012 advisory vote at its July meeting After

considering many other factors in evaluating Textrons executive compensation programs as discussed in this

Compensation Discussion and Analysis the Committee made no changes to our executive compensation

program and policies as result of the 2012 say-on-pay advisory vote

Role of Independent Compensation Consultant

Under its charter the Committee has the authority to retain outside consultants or advisors as it deems

necessary to provide desired expertise and counsel In 2012 the Committee engaged the services of Pay

Governance LLC as its compensation consultant Pay Governance reports directly and exclusively to the

Committee and provides advice regarding current and emerging best practices with regard to executive

compensation representative from Pay Governance attended each of the six Committee meetings in 2012 Pay

Governance LLC does not provide any
other services to the Committee or the Company The Committee has

determined that the work of Pay Governance LLC with the Committee for fiscal 2012 has not raised any conflict

of interest

Stock Ownership Requirements

One objective of our executive compensation program is to align the financial interests of our NEOs with

the interests of our shareholders As result we require that senior executives accumulate and maintain

minimum level of stock ownership in the Company which may be achieved through direct ownership of shares

Textron Savings Plan shares unvested restricted stock units and unvested share equivalents in Textron

compensation and benefit plans Minimum ownership levels are expressed as multiple of base salary as

follows five times for the CEO and three times for other NEOs New executive officers are given five years to

reach their required ownership level All NEOs currently meet their respective stock ownership requirements or

are within their initial five year period
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Certain Restrictions

Our executives including our NEOs are prohibited from engaging in short sales of Textron securities and

from engaging in transactions in publicly-traded options such as puts calls and other derivative securities based

on Textrons securities including any hedging monetization or similar transactions designed to decrease the risks

associated with holding Textron securities such as zero-cost collars and forward sales contracts In addition our

NEOs are prohibited from pledging Textron securities as collateral for any loan or holding Textron securities in

margin account

Clawback Policy

The Companys long-term incentive award agreements provide that an executive who violates the

noncompetition provisions of the award during employment or within two years
after termination of employment

with the Company forfeits future rights under the award and must repay the Company value received during the

period beginning 180 days prior to the earlier of termination or the date the violation occurred In addition the

Company is subject to the clawback provisions of Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 which

generally requires public company chief executive officers and chief financial officers to disgorge bonuses other

incentive- or equity-based compensation and profits on sales of company stock that they receive within the

12-month period following the public release of financial information if there is restatement because of material

noncompliance due to misconduct with financial reporting requirements under the federal securities laws

Retirement of Executive Officer

On July 2012 John Butler the Executive Vice President Administration and Chief Human Resources

Officer of Textron retired from the Company Because Mr Butler timed his retirement to accommodate the

Companys succession plan for his position in addition to receiving benefits provided under his employment

agreement the Company entered into letter agreement with Mr Butler pursuant to which the Company paid to

Mr Butler the value of certain benefits as if his retirement occurred on December 31 2012

The letter agreement provided that Mr Butlers annual incentive compensation and long-term incentive

awards be paid as if he retired at December 31 2012 provided that the calculation of the incremental value of

any such awards for the period following July 2012 were determined as follows for stock-based awards

the value was based upon the closing stock price on July 2012 ii for performance share units the value was

based upon performance through December 31 2011 and iiifor annual incentive awards the value was based

upon the target annual incentive compensation for 2012 These provisions resulted in payment to Mr Butler of

special one-time lump-sum amount of $631073 which was paid in January 2013 As disclosed in the table on

page 47 herein Mr Butler also received certain benefits provided under his employment agreement

Additional Compensation for New Executive Officers

In 2012 Textron appointed two new executive officers to replace retiring executives Robert Lupone

joined Textron on February 2012 as Executive Vice President General Counsel and Secretary succeeding

Terrence ODonnell who retired On July 2012 Cheryl Johnson was promoted from her position as Director

of Talent and Organizational Development at Textrons Bell Helicopter business to Executive Vice President

Human Resources succeeding John Butler who retired

To compensate Mr Lupone for retention award received at his prior employer Siemens which he

forfeited by joining Textron the Committee provided him with cash sign-on bonus of $325000 In addition in

order to compensate Mr Lupone for lost long-term incentive value and lost value provided by his previous

employers 401k plan Mr Lupone received an award of 29229 restricted stock units which will be settled in

stock will pay dividend equivalents until vesting and will vest in one-third annual installments beginning in

February 2015

Mr Lupone also received certain relocation benefits in connection with his move to Rhode Island The

relocation benefits were provided in accordance with Textrons standard executive relocation policy and are

described in more detail on page 34 herein In addition in July 2012 the Committee approved providing

Mr Lupone special loss on home sale benefit in the amount of $535000 the Special Payment reflecting the
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difference between the loss on home sale benefit payable to Mr Lupone under Textrons standard executive

relocation policy $100000 and the amount by which the relocation purchase price was below Mr Lupones

purchase price The Committee agreed to approve
the Special Payment due to the conditions of the real estate

market at the time of the home sale which resulted in valuation of the home by the relocation company at

substantially below its purchase price No tax gross-up was paid with respect to the Special Payment Mr Lupone

would be required to repay the Special Payment in the event that he voluntarily terminates employment with

Textron or his employment is terminated due to misconduct or violation of Company policies within two years

from the effective date of his employment with the Company

Upon her promotion the Committee provided Ms Johnson with an award of 15682 restricted stock units

which will be settled in stock will pay dividend equivalents until vesting and will vest in one-third annual

installments beginning in July 2015 Ms Johnson also received certain relocation benefits in connection with her

move from Texas to Rhode Island The relocation benefits were provided in accordance with Textrons standard

executive relocation policy and are described in more detail on page 34 herein

Consistent with the Committees philosophy on indirect compensation neither Mr Lupone nor Ms Johnson

have been provided any supplemental or enhanced pension benefits but are eligible to participate in Textrons

other benefit plans and programs for key executives all in manner and on terms and conditions substantially

similar to other senior officers at Textron Both Mr Lupone and Ms Johnsons employment with Textron are

terminable at will by Textron

Compensation Arrangements Relating to Termination of Employment

Mr Donnellys letter agreement with Textron provides for payment of varying benefits to him upon events

such as death disability retirement and termination under voluntary involuntary for cause involuntary not for

cause or for good reason or change in control circumstances Mr Donnellys termination benefits are consistent

with the terms of our previous CEO agreement and were approved by the Committee upon Mr Donnellys

initial hiring in 2008 in order to attract him to Textron Since hiring Mr Donnelly the Committee no longer

agrees to formal employment contracts which provide for individual termination protection Mr Connor

Mr Lupone and Ms Johnson are each eligible for termination benefits that are available to all corporate officers

as provided by the Textron Severance Plan for Key Executives

With regard to retirement benefits in order for Textron to attract Mr Donnelly to join the Company after his

19-year career at GE his pension benefits were designed to take into account his years of service at GE so that he

would not be disadvantaged by joining Textron This benefit has been effected through the adoption of an

amendment to the Textron Spillover Pension Plan adding an appendix which provides wrap-around pension

benefit to Mr Donnelly in order to compensate for pension benefits at GE that would otherwise not keep pace

with his increasing compensation over the course of his career upon joining Textron The benefit takes into

account his service with both GE and Textron and uses the definition of pensionable compensation and final

average compensation in the Textron Spillover Pension Plan This nonqualified pension benefit will become

100% vested upon the earlier of his completion of ten years
of service with Textron or his attainment of age 62

while employed by Textron and will be reduced by the combined value of any other benefit which he is eligible

to receive under tax-qualified defined benefit plan maintained by GE ii tax-qualified defined benefit plan

maintained by Textron and iii the Textron Spillover Pension Plan

Mr Connor letter agreement provides for an enhanced pension benefit which will give him an additional

three years of credited service under the Textron Spillover Pension Plan subject to the vesting terms of that Plan

Neither Mr Lupone nor Ms Johnson has been provided any supplemental or enhanced pension benefits

Tax Considerations

Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code provides that no U.S income tax deduction is allowable to

publicly held corporation for non-performance-based compensation in excess of $1 million paid to covered

employee generally the NEOs other than the chief financial officer Performance-based compensation

which is exempt from the $1 million limitation must be payable based upon meeting pre-established and

objective performance goals established by the Committee under plan that has been approved by shareholders

and meets other tax code requirements
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Our policy generally has been to maximize our tax deduction for compensation payable to executives while

preserving the Committees ability to structure our executive compensation program to meet the objectives

discussed above including to reward individual and team performance We intend to claim tax deduction for

stock options granted under the 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan In

addition annual incentive compensation awards and PSU awards each have financial components that are

intended to qualify as performance-based compensation Because there are uncertainties as to the application of

regulations under Section 162m as with most tax matters it is possible that our deductions may be challenged

or disallowed In addition annual incentive compensation awards and PSU awards typically also include

component based on achievement of other performance objectives that may not be intended to qualify as

performance-based compensation and other types of compensation awarded to the NEOs also may not be

intended to qualify as performance-based compensation

Textron allows executives including those whose income might otherwise be subject to the $1 million

limitation to defer compensation voluntarily into the Deferred Income Plan for Textron Executives

Compensation thus deferred is not intended to be subject to the $1 million limitation

portion of the
expenses

incurred by Textron related to non-business travel on Company aircraft which is

permitted only by the CEO may not be deductible as business expenses under the Internal Revenue Code As

result providing personal use of Company aircraft as perquisite to the CEO may result in an increased tax

expense to the Company
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following Summary Compensation Table sets forth information concerning compensation of our

principal executive officer principal financial officer each other individual who was serving as an executive

officer at the end of Textrons 2012 fiscal year and one former executive officer each an NEO and

collectively the NEO5

Summary Compensation Table

Change in

Pension

Value and

Nonqualifled

Non-Equity Deferred

Stock Incentive Plan Compensation All Other

Bonus Awards Option Compensation Earnings Compensation

Name and Principal Position Year Salary$ $1 $2 Awards $3 $4 $5 $6 Total

Scott Donnelly 2012 1000000 5982367 3057000 1187000 701119 104154 12031640

Chairman President and Chief 2011 1000000 5322686 2241217 1402800 1467676 84798 11519177

Executive Officer 2010 1000000 3836253 1741099 1767600 297737 71331 8714020

Frank Connor 2012 750000 1866743 933475 630000 290799 49100 4520117

Executive Vice President and 2011 750000 1837761 684529 745238 311045 45160 4373733

Chief Financial Officer 2010 750000 1473502 620265 939038 192971 52700 4028476

Cheryl Johnson 2012 246904 432817 45030 178000 94381 123514 1120646

Executive Vice President Human

Resources

Robert Lupone 2012 537692 325000 1379631 458550 445000 858669 4004542

Executive Vice President General

Counsel and Secretary

John Butler7 2012 290769 909530 454882 180491 1642730 2395379 5873.781

Executive Vice President 2011 560000 905774 333625 425516 2225393 71555 4521863

Administration and Chief Human 2010 560000 727896 301955 536172 1464623 71923 3662569

Resources Officer

Mr Lupone received cash sign-on bonus of $325000 as compensation for the forfeiture of retention award that would have been

payable by his prior employer

The numbers shown in this column represent the grant date fair values of equity awards granted during the fiscal year whether settled in

stock or cash These awards include PSUs granted in 2010 2011 and 2012 and RSUs granted in 2012 which are described in the

CDA The grant date fair values have been determined based on the assumptions and methodologies set forth in Note 12 Share-Based

Compensation in Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29 2012 For PSUs since performance

criteria are established on an annual basis the amounts shown are for the first year of the three-year performance period beginning in

2012 plus the second year of the three-year performance cycle beginning in 2011 plus the third year of the three-year performance cycle

beginning in 2010 The grant date fair value of each equity-based component for 2012 is detailed below

Mr Donnelly Mr Connor Ms Johnson Mr Lupone Mr Butler

Performance Share Units $3076450 979395 193728 $477140

Restricted Stock Units 2905917 887348 432817 1185903 432390

Total $5982367 $1866743 $432817 $1379631 $909530

The PSU values above represent target performance Assuming maximum performance is achieved then the grant date fair value of the

PSUs would be Mr Donnelly $4614675 Mr Connor $1469093 Mr Lupone $290592 and Mr Butler $715710

The amounts that appear in this column represent the grant date fair value of stock options granted during the fiscal year The grant date

fair values have been determined based on the assumptions and methodologies set forth in Note 12 Share-Based Compensation in

Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29 2012 The number of shares underlying the stock options

granted to each NEO during 2012 is detailed in the Grants of Plan Based Awards in Fiscal 2012 table on page 35

The amounts in this column reflect annual incentive compensation earned under Textrons Short-Term Incentive Plan

The amounts in this column are primarily attributable to the executives change in actuarial present value of accumulated pension benefits

under all defined benefit plans in which the NEOs
participate

from January 2012 to December 29 2012 For Mr Butler this column

also includes $174475 in above-market non-qualified deferred compensation NQDC earnings Earnings are considered above-market

if they were higher than 120% of the long-term applicable federal rate with compounding Deferred Income Plan participants may elect to

make their deferrals into either Moodys account or Textron stock Unit account The interest rates applicable to the Moodys Account

are either the Moodys rate or Moodys Plus rate depending upon when the deferral was made and the circumstances under which
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Textron employment ends For purposes of this table the Moodys rate has been used for deferrals after 2001 fixed Moodys Plus rate

of 10% has been used for deferrals made between 1988 and 2001 and fixed Moodys Plus rate of 11% has been used for deferrals made

prior to 1988 See footnote to the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation table on page 40

The amounts in this column include the value of other benefits and the incremental cost to Textron in 2012 of providing various

perquisites in 2012 as detailed below

Mr Donnelly Mr Connor Ms Johnson Mr Lupone Mr Butler

Spillover Savings Plan Contributiona 37500 $25000 25892

Contributions to Textron Savings Plan 12500 12500 6461 12500 12500

Contributions to Retirement Plans 5000 5000 5000 9800 5000

Termination Benefits 2343441b

Tax Gross-Up Paymentsc 24993 98407

Perquisitesd 49154 6600 87060 712070 34438

Total $104154 $49100 $123514 $858669 $2395379

These amounts represent the value of cash-settled Textron stock units credited to the NEDs Spillover Savings Plan account during

the year

This amount was paid in accordance with Mr Butlers separation letter and was intended to represent the difference between

Mr Butlers retirement occurring on July 2012 rather than on December 31 2012 including payment of $631073

representing annual incentive compensation and long term incentive compensation value that would have been earned if he had

retired six months later an additional $1646368 in pension value that would have accrued if his employment had continued for

those six months and iii $66000 of company contributions which would have been made to deferred compensation plans

These amounts represent tax gross-up payments received on the relocation benefits provided to Ms Johnson and Mr Lupone under

the terms of Textrons standard executive relocation policy These payments are consistent with the Committees policy prohibiting

any new agreements requiring the Company to pay tax gross-ups to executive officers because that policy excepts tax gross-ups that

are generally available to other employees such as under the Companys standard relocation policy

These amounts include the cost to Textron of personal benefits provided to executives including annual physical exams parking and

the incremental cost to Textron of the executives family members and friends occasionally accompanying them on business flights

Also included is amounts paid to Ms Johnson and Mr Lupone for relocation expenses which included $23414 and $16120 in

expenses for shipment of household goods and $17325 and $43860 in temporary living expenses for Ms Johnson and Mr Lupone

respectively $22651 in expenses incurred for the sale of Ms Johnsons home $100000 loss on home sale payment to

Mr Lupone pursuant to the standard executive relocation policy and special payment of $535000 to Mr Lupone related to loss on

home sale as described in the CDA and ii $42611 and $28522 for the incremental cost to Textron for use of corporate aircraft by

Mr Donnelly and Mr Butler respectively deemed reportable as perquisite under the proxy rules For proxy reporting purposes

Textron values the use of corporate aircraft by using an incremental cost method that takes into account variable factors such as cost

per flight hour by aircraft type landing fees and hangar fees The incremental cost of locating aircraft to the origin of trip or

retuming aircraft from the completion of trip known as deadhead flights are also included in the amount reported

Mr Butler retired from Textron on July 2012
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal 2012

The following table sets forth information on plan-based compensation awards granted to the NEOs during

Textrons 2012 fiscal year Annual awards were approved on January 20 2012 for grant on March 2012

Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal 2012

All Other

Stock All Other

Awards Option

Estimated Possible Payouts Estimated Future Payouts
Number of Awards Grant Date

Under Non-Equity Under Equity Incentive
Shares of Number of Exercise or Fair Value of

Incentive Plan Awards1 Plan Awards Stock or Securities Base Price of Stock and

Stock Underlying Option Option

Grant Target Maximum Target Maximum Units Options Awards$/sh Awards

Name Date Grant Type

Scott Donnelly Annual IC 1200000 2400000

3/1/2012 PSUs 4208168 6312252 1291528

3/1/2012 RSUs 104680 2905917

3/1/2012 Stock Options 300000 27.760 3057000

3/1/2012 PSUs 1784922

Frank Connor Annual IC 637500 1275000

3/1/2012 PSUs 1284993 1927490 394377

3/1/2012 RSUs 31965 887348

3/1/2012 Stock Options 91607 27.760 933475

3/1/2012 PSUs 585018

Cheryl Johnson Annual IC 180000 360000

3/1/2012 RSUs 1542 42806

3/1/2012 Stock Options 4419 27.760 45030

7/1/2012 RSUs 15682 390011

Robert Lupone Annual IC 450000 900000

2/1/2012 RSUs 29229 750016

3/1/2012 PSUs 631220 946831 193728

3/1/2012 RSUs 15702 435888

3/1/2012 Stock Options 45000 27.760 458550

John Butler Annual IC 182500 365000

3/1/2012 PSUs 626155 939233 192173

3/1/2012 RSU5 15576 432390

3/1/2012 Stock Options 44640 27.760 454882

3/1/2012 PSU5 284967

These amounts refer to awards of annual incentive compensation made under the Textron Inc Short-Term Incentive Plan.The performance

metrics and methodology for calculating payments are described in the CDA
These amounts refer to PSU

grants
made under the Textron Inc 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan which are performance-based long-term grants

of share units paid in cash designed to reward the achievement of specified goals over three distinct fiscal-year performance periods The

performance metrics and methodology for calculating payments are described in the CDA Grants of PSUs in 2012 vest following fiscal 2014

The target amount to be paid in 2015 assumes 100% earned and is based on the 2012 fiscal year-end share price of $24.12 The maximum
that can be paid per the plan design is 150% of the PSUs granted as described in the CDA
These amounts represent

the number of RSUs granted in 2012 pursuant to the Textron Inc 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan RSUs earn dividend

equivalents until vested and vest ratably over three years beginning on March 2015 three
years

after the
grant date and annually thereafter

These amounts represent the number of stock options granted in 2012 pursuant to the Textron Inc 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan All annual

grants of stock options vest ratably over three years beginning on March 2013 and annually thereafter

Reflects the exercise price for the stock options granted on March 12012 which is equal to the closing price on the grant date

Represents the grant date fair value of each equity award listed in the table as determined in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards

Codification 718 With respect to PSUs granted in 2012 the amounts in this column represent the value of only the 2012 portion of the 2012-

2014 grant since the grant is subject to three single-year performance periods 2012 2013 and 2014 With respect to PSUs granted in 2010 and

2011 the amounts in this column
represent

the value of only the 2012 portion of the grants since the grants are subject to three single-year

performance periods
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2012 Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth information with respect to the NEOs concerning unexercised options stock

awards that have not yet vested and equity incentive plan awards as of the end of our 2012 fiscal year

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2012 Fiscal Year-End

Stock option awards associated with each annual grant vest ratably over three years on each anniversary of the grant date

For grants beginning in 2007 the exercise price of stock options is equal to the closing price on the date of grant For grants prior to 2007

in accordance with the 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan the exercise price for these grants was equal to the average of the high and low

trading prices on the grant date

The following types of stock awards are shown in this table

PSU refers to performance share units These units reward achievement of long-term goals over three-year performance period

vesting at the end of the third fiscal year They are settled in cash and valued based on the average closing price
of Textron common

stock for the first ten trading days of the fiscal year following vesting Further information about these awards can be found in the

CDA
RSU refers to restricted stock units RSUs granted in 2008 and prior vest ratably over three years beginning on the third anniversary

of the date of grant Upon vesting common stock will be issued to the executive RSUs granted in 2009 and 2010 are payable in cash

and vest ratably over five years beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant RSUs granted in 2011 vest ratably over five

years beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant and upon vesting common stock will be issued to the executive Since

2008 all RSUs have been issued with the
right to receive dividend equivalents RSUs granted in 2012 vest ratably over three years

beginning on the third anniversary of the grant date Upon vesting common stock will be issued to the executive with the exception of

Ms Johnson who has 1542 RSUs granted in 2012 which are payable in cash

Option Awards Stock Awards

75922

157069

100746

120000

Frank Connor 3/1/2012

3/1/2011

3/ 1/20 10

8/5/2009

Equity

Equity Incentive

incentive Plan

Plan Awards

Awards Market or

Number of Payout

Unearned Vahie of

Shares Unearned

Number of Number of Number of Units or Shares

Securities Securities Shares or Market Value Other Units or

Underlying Underlying Units of of Shares or Rights Other

Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Type of Stock Units of Stock That Have Rights That

Grant Options if Options if Exercise Expiration Stock Grant That Have That Have Not Not Have Not

Name Datei Exercisable Unexercisable Price $2 Date Award3 Year Not Vested Vested $4 Vested if Vested SS
Scott Donnelly 3/1/2012 300000 27.7600 3/1/2022 RSU 2012 104680 2524882

3/1/2011 151844 26.2500 3/1/2021 PSU 2012 174468 3366535

3/1/2010 78533 20.2100 3/1/2020 PSU 2011 114365 2758484

2/27/2009 5.6500 2/27/2019 RSU 2011 68619 1655090

7/3/2008 80000 47.8400 7/3/2018 RSU 2010 52424 1264467

RSU 2009 35952 867162

RSU 2008 25982 626686

91607 27.7600 3/1/2022 RSU 2012 31965 770996

46377 26.2500 3/1/2023 PSU 2032 53275 1027994

27977 20.2100 3/1/2020 PSU 2011 34930 842512

14.3400 8/5/2019 RSU 2011 20958 505507

RSU 2010 18676 450465

RSU 2009 28000 675360

4419 27.7600 3/1/2022 RSU 2012 17224 415443

860 1718 26.2500 3/1/2021 RSU 2011 776 18717

548 20.7600 2/28/2018 RSU 2010 1274 30729

623 20.7600 3/1/2017 RSU 2009 1187 28630

RSU 2008 140 3377

45000 27.7600 3/1/2022 RSU 2012 44931 1083736

PSU 2012

PSU 2012

PSU 2011

23189

55956

80000

Cheryl Johnson 3/1/2012

3/1/2011

8/ 1/20 10

8/ 1/20 10

Robert Lupone 3/1/2012

John Butler 3/1/2012

3/1/2011

3/1/2010

2/27/2009

2/29/2008

3/1/2007

3/1/2006

2/23/2005

2/12/2004

29760

33905

40860

7488

28446

42746

33146

38260

3544

14880 27.7600 7/1/2015

26.2500 7/1/2015

20.2100 7/1/2015

5.6500 7/1/2015

54.1700 7/1/2015

45.8500 7/1/2015

43.9750 7/1/2015

38.2875 2/23/2015

28.2150 2/12/2014

26170 504976

4315 83262

8985 216718

36



The market value of RSUs that have not vested as of December 29 2012 was calculated using the fiscal year-end closing share
price

of

$24.12 multiplied by the number of unvested units as of that date

PSUs granted in 2011 and 2012 vest to the extent earned on December 28 2013 and December 27 2014 respectively The market value

of PSUs that have not vested as of year-end 2012 was calculated using the fiscal year-end closing share
price

of $24.12 multiplied by the

number of unvested units assuming that 100% prior to the TSR modifier for the 2012 units of the units are earned representing the

target performance level

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in Fiscal 2012

The following table provides information concerning option exercises and the vesting of stock including

PSUs and RSUs during Textrons 2012 fiscal year for each NEO

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in Fiscal 2012

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of Number of

shares Value Type of Shares or Units Value

acquired on Realized on Equity Acquired on Realized on

Name exercise Exercise Award Vesting i4 Vesting

Scott Donnelly PSU 129563 3379000

RSU 87789 2406364

5785364

Frankl Connor PSU 46166 1204000

RSU 25465 706908

1910908

Cheryl Johnson PSU

RSU 1528 42417

42417

Robert Lupone PSU

RSU

John Butler 17699 326901 PSU 19660 513000

4536 9435 RSU 35617 930650

1443650

PSU refers to performance share Units and RSU refers to restricted stock units PSUs and RSUs are described in more detail in the

footnotes to the previous table

Valuation methodology for the PSUs is described in footnote to the Outstanding Equity Awards at 2012 Fiscal Year-End table

19555 RSUs held by Mr Butler vested upon his retirement
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Pension Benefits in Fiscal 2012

The table below sets forth information on the pension benefits for the NEOs under each of the Companys

pension plans

Pension Benefits

Number of Years Present Value of Payments
of Credited Accumulated During Last

Name Plan Name Service Benefit$1 Fiscal Year$4

Scott Donnelly TRP 4.50 95392

Spillover 4.50 793243

Wrap Around 23 .502 3235495

Total 4124130

FrankT Connor TRP 3.42 80811

Spillover 3.42 420462

Additional Credited

Service 3.002 440142

Total 941415

Cheryl Johnson TRP Bell 3.50 75809

TRP Textron 11.25 250907

Spillover Bell 3.50 7491

Spillover Textron 11.25 26418

Total 360625

Robert Lupone TRP N/A N/A N/A

Spillover N/A N/A N/A

Total N/A N/A

John Butler TRP 15.00 652201 17778

Spillover 15.00 8018333 189770

SRP N/A3 8315531 196133

Total 16986065 403681

The present value of the accumulated benefit has been calculated consistent with the assumptions set forth in Note 13 Retirement Plans in

Textrons Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29 2012

Years of extra service granted to the executive by contract

Benefits under the SRP are not based upon years of service but are based upon age

Mr Butler retired from the company in July 2012

brief description of each of the Companys pension plans referenced above follows

TRP Textron Retirement Program

Effective January 2007 Textron consolidated its retirement benefits for U.S salaried and eligible

bargained employees into single program the Textron Retirement Program TRP The TRP is designed to be

floor-offset arrangement which has two parts The first is traditional defined pension benefit which

provides set monthly income pension at retirement through formula based on age years of service and

annual compensation The second is new defined contribution benefit called the Textron Retirement Account

Plan The traditional plan design formula is slightly different than the prior plan as it is no longer integrated with

social security The benefit provided to the participant will be the greater of the traditional pension benefit or the

value provided by the Textron Retirement Account Plan Transition rules between the prior plan design and the

new plan design provide that participants who meet certain rules will be grandfathered This means that their
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benefit will be calculated under the prior pension formula as well as the new TRP and they will receive the larger

amount of the two Mr Butler met the grandfathering rules The TRP is funded and tax qualified

Benefits under the new defined pension fonnula are based on one and one-third percent of eligible

compensation Benefits under the prior formula are based on one percent annual benefit for eligible

compensation up to the covered compensation level $53262 in 2012 plus an additional amount equal to one

and one-half percent of eligible compensation in excess of covered compensation Eligible Compensation

includes base salary plus annual incentive payments in given year up to the Internal Revenue Code limit

$250000 in 2012 The benefit formula is calculated based on eligible employees highest consecutive five-year

average eligible compensation throughout their career at Textron Provided an employee meets the five years of

qualifying service to become vested in the TRP the accumulated benefit earned during an employees career is

payable in monthly installments after retirement While the normal retirement age under the TRP is 65 eligible

grandfathered employees can earn full benefit upon attainment of age 62 Eligible employees who meet defined

age and service criteria can retire and begin collecting reduced benefit as early as age 55 Mr Butler qualified

for full benefit due to his age
and service to Textron

Under the Textron Retirement Account Plan Textron makes annual contributions to participants account

equal to 2% of eligible compensation up to the Internal Revenue Code limit and the account balance is adjusted

for investment gains and losses The participant may receive the account in lump sum or as an actuarially

equivalent annuity upon termination of employment at any age The value of any distribution from the Textron

Retirement Account Plan offsets benefits accrued after 2006 under the pension formula

Effective January 2010 the TRP was closed to new entrants and new employees including Mr Lupone

instead receive an annual company contribution to the Textron Savings Plan equal to 4% of eligible

compensation up to the Internal Revenue Code Limit

SPP Spillover Pension Plan

Textron maintains the Spillover Pension Plan SPP to compensate certain Textron executives for pension

benefits that would have been earned but for limitations imposed on tax-qualified plans under federal law The

formula for the SPP is the same as the formula for the defined benefit portion of the qualified plan the TRP
Eligible compensation components include base salary annual incentive compensation earned or after 2006

paid in given year and for Mr Butler PSU payments The amount included in the formula equals the total of

these components whether or not deferred less the Internal Revenue Code limit noted above $250000 in

2012 Benefits under the SPP also vest after five years of qualifying service and are generally paid under the

same age
and service requirements as the defined benefit portion of the TRP This plan is unfunded and not

qualified for tax purposes

In 2008 an appendix was added to the SPP for certain designated participants hired on or after January

2008 including Mr Donnelly to provide Wrap-Around pension benefit This appendix will recognize an

additional benefit service accrual identified in the offer letter of the designated participant and the resulting

calculation will be offset by the prior employer age 65 benefit as described in the offer letter and any qualified

and non-qualified age 65 benefit provided by Textron Specific to Mr Donnelly refer to the CDA for details on

his Wrap-Around benefit

Effective January 2010 the SPP was closed to new entrants except for those who were participants in the

Textron Retirement Program on December 31 2009

SRP Supplemental Retirement Plan

Mr Butler also participated in the Supplemental Retirement Plan for Textron Key Executives SRP
which provides benefits to participants who remain in the employ of Textron until at least age 60 Mr Butler

qualified to receive benefits under the plan which is unfunded and not qualified for tax purposes The SRP was

closed to new entrants in 2008

Under the SRP participating executives are entitled to receive pension benefit equal to 50% of their

highest consecutive five years of eligible earnings at age 65 reduced by any amounts to which they are entitled
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under the Textron plans described above and except as may be provided in individual employment agreements

those of
any prior employer reduced benefit of between 25% and 45% of their highest consecutive five-year

average compensation is earned under the SRP for retirement at or between the
ages

of 60 to 64 respectively

The definition of eligible compensation for purposes of calculating benefit under the SRP is the same as the

definition of eligible compensation under the SPP as described above except that eligible compensation under

the SRP excludes PSUs awarded after 2005

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

The table below shows the deferred compensation activity for each NEO during 2012 under non-qualified

deferred compensation plans maintained by Textron

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

Registrant Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate
Contributions Earnings in Withdrawals Balance at

Name Plan Name in Last FY $1 Last FY $2 Distributions Last FYE $3

Scott Donnelly Deferred Income Plan

Spillover Savings Plan 37500 38855 189000

Total 37500 38855 189000

Frank Connor ... Deferred Income Plan

Spillover Savings Plan 25000 17176 91973

Total 25000 17176 91973

Cheryl Johnson Deferred Income Plan 2169 52614

Spillover Savings Plan

Total 2169 52614

Robert Lupone .. Deferred Income Plan

Spillover Savings Plan 25892 25892

Total 25892 25892

John Butler Deferred Income Plan 1634964 16886909

Spillover Savings Plan 62619 94822 113596

Total 1697583 94822 17000504

The amounts shown in this column include contributions made by Textron into each executives notional deferred income account in the

Textron Spillover Savings Plan the SSP in 2012 Under the SSP if participant contributes at least 10% of eligible compensation to

the tax-qualified Textron Savings Plan the participants stock unit account under the SSP is credited with match equal to 5% of eligible

compensation reduced by the matching contribution under the Textron Savings Plan These amounts are also reported in the All Other

Compensation column in the Summary Compensation table

The amounts in this column reflect aggregate earnings during the fiscal year on amounts accrued in the participants accounts under the

DIP and the SSP if applicable based upon the terms of each plan as described below To the extent the credited rate exceeds 120% of the

long-term applicable federal rate such earnings are considered above-market earnings in this case the amount of these earnings that are

considered above-market are also reported in the Change in Pension Value and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Earnings column

in the Summary Compensation Table The amount of above-market earnings attributable to Mr Butler for 2012 is $174475

Of these balances the following amounts were reported in Summary Compensation Tables in prior-year proxy statements beginning with

the 2007 proxy statement for fiscal 2006 Mr Donnelly $116048 Mr Connor $55557 and Mr Butler $804430 The amounts in the

preceding sentence do not include amounts deferred
prior to fiscal 2006 and ii deferrals of certain cash-settled stock unit awards all

of which are reflected in the aggregate balances shown above This information is provided to clarify the extent to which amounts payable

as deferred compensation represent compensation reported in our prior proxy statements rather than additional currently earned

compensation
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brief description of the Companys deferred compensation plans referenced above follows

DIP Deferred Income Plan for Textron Executives

NEOs deferring compensation into the Deferred Income Plan for Textron Executives DIP have forgone

current compensation in exchange for an unsecured promise from the Company to pay the deferred amount after

their employment ends NEOs can defer up to 25% of base salary and up to 80% of certain other cash

compensation including annual incentive compensation and long-term incentive distributions settled in cash The

principal amount that is deferred can be credited with either Moody s-based interest rate or rate of return

that approximates the return on investment for share of Textron common stock including dividend equivalents

based upon the elections made annually by each NEO The interest rates applicable to the Moodys account are

either the Moodys Rate or Moodys Plus rate The Moodys rate is the average Moodys Corporate Bond

Yield Index as published by Moodys Investors Service Inc The compounded Moodys yield for 2012 was

4.30% which was applied to all deferrals made subsequent to December 31 2001 For DIP participant deferrals

made prior to January 1988 the rate will be either the Moodys rate plus 3% but not less than 11% the

Moodys Plus rate or the Moodys rate but not less than 8% and for deferrals made from January 1988

through December 2001 the rate will be either the Moodys rate plus 2% but not less than 10% the Moodys
Plus rate or the Moodys rate but not less than 8% The applicable rates depend on the circumstances under

which Textron employment ends Textron makes matching contribution in the NEOs stock unit account equal

to 10% of any elective deferred income allocated initially by the NEO to the stock unit account

Per the DIP plan document the earnings on the Moodys account balance will be credited using the

Moodys Plus rate if Textron employment ends at or after age 62 other than for less than acceptable

performance or by reason of death ii as result of total disability as defined under the Textron Master

Retirement Plan or iii under other circumstances approved in writing by Textrons Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Human Resources Officer The DIP allows participants to make certain distribution elections to receive

DIP balances subsequent to termination

SSP Textron Spillover Savings Plan

The Textron Spillover Savings Plan the SSP makes up for forgone Company matches into the tax-

qualified Textron Savings Plan because of federal compensation limits and as result of deferring income under

the Deferred Income Plan for Textron Executives DIP NEO contributions to the qualified savings plan are

capped at 10% of eligible compensation up to the Internal Revenue Code limit $250000 in 2012 Contributions

under the SSP are tracked in the form of unfunded book-entry accounts credited as stock units which earn

dividend equivalents and which are reinvested into stock units NEOs are not permitted to make contributions to

the SSP

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

The discussion and tables below reflect the amount of compensation that would become payable to each of

the NEOs under existing plans and arrangements if the named executives employment had terminated and/or

change in control had occurred on December 28 2012 the last business day of Textrons 2012 fiscal year

Information is provided with respect to the following termination scenarios voluntary for cause death or

disability not for cause or Good Reason change in control and is based upon the named executives

compensation and service levels as of such date and if applicable based on the Companys closing stock price

on that date

In addition in connection with any future actual termination of employment the Company may determine

to enter into an agreement or to establish an arrangement providing additional benefits or amounts or altering the

terms of benefits described below consistent with the terms of employment contracts and as the Organization

and Compensation Committee believes appropriate The actual amounts that would be paid upon NEO
termination of employment can be determined only at the time of such executives separation from the Company

Due to the number of factors that affect the nature and amount of any benefits provided upon the events
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discussed below any actual amounts paid or distributed may be higher or lower than reported below Factors that

could affect these amounts include the timing during the year of any such event the Companys share price and

the executives age

Payments Made Upon Voluntary Termination by an Executive

Voluntary termination occurs when the NEO leaves the Company at his or her own will e.g voluntary

resignation or retirement Upon voluntary termination each of the NEOs are entitled only to their accrued

obligations

Payments Made Upon Termination for Cause by the Company

for cause termination occurs when NEO is separated from Textron after engaging in one or more

activities including but not limited to conviction of or pleading nob contendere or guilty to felony other

than traffic infraction or crime involving vicarious liability under certain circumstances ii willful

misrepresentation fraud or dishonesty for personal enrichment at the expense
of Textron iii willful misconduct

or behavior willful violation of the Companys Business Conduct Guidelines or breach of the NEOs fiduciary

duties in each case that results in material harm to Textron or iv willful failure to attempt to perform his or

her duties or willful failure to attempt to follow the legal written direction of the Board Upon termination for

cause each of the NEOs would be entitled only to their accrued obligations

Payments Made Upon Termination in Connection with Death or Disability

Upon termination in connection with death disability or due to retirement at or after the executives

attainment of age 65 each of the NEOs would be entitled to their accrued obligations as well as the following

All RSUs outstanding for at least six months would vest pro-rata outstanding stock options would vest in

full and PSUs outstanding for at least twelve months would vest pro-rata and the executive or the

executives estate would have three years from termination date to exercise outstanding stock options

Full vesting of benefits under the Textron Savings Plan SSP DIP and Retirement Account Plan

Payments Made Upon Not for Cause Termination by the Company or by an Executive for Good

Reason

Mr Donnelly

not for cause termination also called involuntary termination occurs when employment ends either

at the initiation of Textron but without circumstances that would indicate for cause situation or at the

initiation of the executive for Good Reason Mr Donnellys letter agreement with the Company provides

certain severance benefits in the event of not for cause or Good Reason termination Good Reason means

the occurrence of one or more of the following the assignment to Mr Donnelly of duties that are materially

inconsistent with his position ii the material reduction of Mr Donnellys position iii the forced relocation of

Mr Donnellys principal office iv reduction in Mr Donnellys salary or other benefits the failure of the

Company to deliver to Mr Donnelly satisfactory written agreement from any successor to the Company to

assume and agree to perform under the letter agreement or vi other material breach by Textron of the letter

agreement Upon termination not for cause or for Good Reason Mr Donnelly would be entitled to his

accrued obligations as well as the following

Cash Severance Benefit Comprised of

Two times the sum of base salary and ii the greater of the termination year target annual cash

incentive compensation and the average annual cash incentive compensation earned during the last

three fiscal years This amount would be paid in monthly installments over two years

pro-rated annual cash incentive compensation payment based on actual performance for the year of

termination paid in lump sum in the year following termination
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Treatment of Long-Term Incentive Awards

Unvested stock options would be subject to full vesting acceleration for that portion of the awards that

would have vested within two years after termination

PSUs would be subject to pro-rata vesting through the termination date

Benefits Under Pension and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans

Credit for an additional two and one half years of age and service and compensation under all defined

benefit-type retirement plans including the SPP

lump sum payment equal to two times the amount of maximum Company annual contribution or

match to any defined contribution-type plan in which the executive participates

Continuation of Insurance Coverage Continued coverage or the cash equivalent thereof for two years

under the Companys term life insurance and long-term disability insurance plans and to the extent

eligible on the date of termination under the accidental death and dismemberment insurance and

dependent life insurance plans

Other NEOs

The Severance Plan for Textron Key Executives in which each of the other NEOs participates provides

severance pay for involuntary termination only if the executive signs release provided in and required by the

plan document This severance pay is equal to the sum of the executives annual rate of base salary at the date

of severance and ii the larger of the average of his or her three most recent actual awards of annual

incentive compensation whether or not deferred and his or her current target incentive compensation under

the annual incentive compensation plan

Payments Made Upon Termination in Connection with Change in Control

Mr Donnelly

change in control termination would occur if Mr Donnelly experiences not for cause termination

during the period beginning 180 days before change in control and ending on the second anniversary of the

change in control Mr Donnellys letter agreement with the Company provides certain severance benefits in the

event of change in control termination For purposes
of Mr Donnellys letter agreement change in

control means the occurrence of any of the following events any person
unrelated to Textron acquires more

than 30% of Textrons then outstanding voting stock ii majority of the members of the Board of Directors are

replaced in any two-year period other than in specific circumstances iii the consummation of merger or

consolidation of Textron with any other corporation other than merger or consolidation in which Textrons

voting securities outstanding immediately prior to such merger or consolidation continue to represent at least

50% of the combined voting securities of Textron or such surviving entity immediately after such merger or

consolidation or iv shareholder approval of an agreement for the sale or disposition of all or substantially all of

Textrons assets or plan of complete liquidation Upon tennination in connection with change in control

Mr Donnelly would be entitled to his accrued obligations as well as the following

Cash Severance Benefit Payable in Lump Sum Comprised of

Three times base salary

Pro-rated portion of the greater of the termination year target annual cash incentive compensation

and ii the prior year
annual cash incentive compensation

Three times the greater of the average
annual cash incentive compensation over the three years prior

to the earlier of the change of control or the termination and ii the termination year target annual cash

incentive compensation
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Treatment of Long-Term Incentive Awards

Outstanding unvested stock options PSUs and RSUs would be subject to immediate and full vesting

acceleration as of the termination date

PSUs granted in 2011 and 2012 will be paid based on actual performance through the change in control

and based on target performance after the change in control

Benefits Under Pension and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans

Full vesting and credit for an additional three years of age and service and compensation under all

defined benefit-type retirement plans including the SPP

Full vesting acceleration under the Spillover Savings Plan

payment equal to three times the amount of maximum Company annual contribution or match to any

defined contribution-type plan in which the executive participates

Continuation of Insurance Coverage Continued coverage or the cash equivalent thereof for three
years

under the Companys term life insurance and long-term disability insurance plans and to the extent

eligible on the date of termination under the accidental death and dismemberment insurance and

dependent life insurance plans

Additional Perquisites Outplacement assistance for up to one year following termination

Tax Gross-Up Payment Subject to certain conditions the Company would gross-up severance

payments to cover the executives excise taxes determined in accordance with Sections 4999 and 280G

of the Internal Revenue Code

Other NEOs

The Severance Plan for Textron Key Executives in which each of the other NEOs participates provides

severance pay and severance benefits in the event of an involuntary termination following change of control

only if the executive signs release provided in and required by the plan document The severance pay payable

in lump sum is equal to the sum of the executives annual rate of base salary at the date of severance and

ii the larger of the
average

of his or her three most recent actual awards of annual incentive compensation

whether or not deferred and his or her current target incentive compensation under the annual incentive

compensation plan In addition medical and dental benefits would be provided by Textron to the executive and

to his or her dependents on terms which are not less favorable to them than the terms existing immediately

before severance Such severance benefits would be continued for eighteen months following severance or if

less until the executive or dependent obtains comparable coverage under another employers plan or Medicare

Under the Severance Plan for Textron Key Executives change of control means the occurrence of any of

the following events any person unrelated to Textron becomes other than by acquisition from Textron

the beneficial owner of more than 50% of Textrons then outstanding voting stock acquires more than 30%

of Textrons then outstanding voting stock or acquires all or substantially all of the total
gross

fair market

value of all of the assets of Textron ii merger or consolidation of Textron with any other corporation occurs

other than merger or consolidation that would result in the voting securities of Textron outstanding immediately

before the merger or consolidation continuing to represent 50% or more of the combined voting power of the

voting securities of Textron or such surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation

or iiiduring any 12-month period majority of the members of the Board is replaced by directors whose

appointment or election is not endorsed by majority of the members of the Board of Directors before the date of

their appointment or election

In addition in the event of change of control the other NEOs would receive full vesting acceleration

under the SPP and SSP and ii full vesting of all long-term incentive awards which would be payable in the

same manner described above for Mr Donnelly
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The following tables show potential payment to our NEOs under existing agreements plans or other

arrangements for various scenarios involving termination of employment assuming the termination date to be

December 28 2012 and where applicable using the closing price of our common stock of $24.12 as reported

on the New York Stock Exchange on December 28 2012 the last trading day of our fiscal year

Scott Donnelly

Not Change in

Voluntary Disability Death For Cause For Cause Control1

Annual Incentive/Severance $1187000 1187000 1187000 5850258 8397686

RSU settled in stock or cash 3660355 3660355 6938287

Stock Options 2781982 2781982 2781982 2781982

Cash settlement of PSUs 3379003 6404670 6404670 6404670 9601893

Cash settlement of Deferred Income

Plan

Pension benefit 3235495 3296443 6677161

Savings Plan benefit 380454 449381 449381 380454 380454 449381

Otherbenefits4 121676 317514

Tax gross-up
9780099

Sub-Total $4946457 $17718883 $17779831 $380454 $15539040 $44944003

Less accumulated deferred income plan

and vested pension and savings plan

benefits 380454 380454 380454 380454 380454 380454

Amount Triggered due to

Termination $4566003 $17338429 $17399377 $15158586 $44563549

Frank Connor

Not Change in

Voluntary Disability Death For Cause For Cause Control1

Annual Incentive Severance 630000 630000 630000 2160088 2160088

RSU settled in stock or cash 1372187 1372187 2402328

StockOptions 1110578 1110578 1110578

Cash settlement of PSUs 1204009 2128048 2128048 2128048 3104407

Cash settlement of Deferred Income

Plan

Pension benefit 515966

Savings Plan benefit 191175 263723 263723 191175 191175 263723

Other benefits 19784

Tax gross-up

Sub-Total $2025184 5504536 5504536 191175 4479311 9576874

Less accumulated deferred income plan

and vested pension and savings plan

benefits 191175 191175 191175 191175 191175 191175

Amount Triggered due to

Termination 1834009 5313361 5313361 4288136 9385699
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Cheryl Johnson

Robert Lupone

Amounts reported in the Change in Control column for stock options RSUs and PSUs are provided upon Change in Control and all

other amounts are provided only upon not for cause termination in connection with Change in Control

Potential PSU payouts have been calculated assuming that the 2011-2013 PSU cycle will be paid at 103.5% of target and the 2012-2014

PSU cycle at 80.0% of target These figures are based on actual Company performance against goals for 2011 and 2012 and
target

Company performance against goals for 2013 and 2014 In addition the figures assume median total shareholder return performance

Potential pension benefits have been calculated assuming discount rate of 4.25% and normal retirement age of 65 for all NEOs

Includes health and welfare benefits for each NEO and outplacement assistance for one year administrative assistant office space

office equipment for Mr Donnelly under the Change in Control scenario

Not For Change in

Voluntary Disability Death For Cause Cause Control1

178000 178000 178000 658000 658000

119442 119442 496896

3935 3935 3935

52614 52614 52614 52614 52614 52614

360624 360624 180312 360624 360624 360624

133921 133921 133921 133921 133921 133921

19784

725159 848536 668224 547159 $1205159 $1725774

Annual Incentive Severance

RSU settled in stock or cash

Stock Options................

Cash settlement of PSUs

Cash settlement of Deferred

Income Plan

Pension benefit

Savings Plan benefit

Other benefits

Tax gross -up

Sub-Total

Less accumulated deferred income

plan and vested pension and

savings plan benefits

Amount Triggered due to

Termination

Annual Incentive Severance

RSU settled in stock or cash

Stock Options

Cash settlement of PSUs

Cash settlement of Deferred Income

Plan

Pension benefit

Savings Plan benefit

Other benefits

Tax gross -up

Sub-Total

Less accumulated deferred income

plan and vested pension and

savings plan benefits

Amount Triggered due to

Termination

547159 547159 547159 547159 547159 547159

$178000 301377 121065 658000 $1178615

Volluntary Disability

$445000 $445000

251234

168438

38526 76587

$483526 $941259

Death

$445000

251234

168438

76587

$941259

Not For Change in

For Cause Cause Control1

$1495000 1495000

1083736

168438 505313

38526 38526 76587

19784

38526 $1701964 3180420

38526 38526 38526 38526 38526 38526

$445000 902733 $902733 $1663438 3141894
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Named Executive Officer Who Terminated Employment During 2012

For John Butler who left the Company during 2012 the following table shows payments made or

expected to be made to him under existing agreements plans or other arrangements under the scenario

applicable to his actual termination from employment with the Company Certain figures presented below

represent an estimate as of December 29 2012 of the amounts payable under his separation arrangement Certain

of the actual amounts have not yet been determined and in some cases where amounts are dependent upon share

value may vary significantly as result of changes in our share price between December 29 2012 the date of

the table and the date or dates used for calculation of the payment due

Type of Compensation

Annual Incentive 180491

RSUs settled in stock or cash1 484768

Stock Options2 298066

Cash settlement of PSUs3 662225

Cash settlement of Deferred Income Plan 16886909

Pension benefit 15339697

Savings Plan benefit 823844

Other benefits4 2343441

Survivor Death Benefit 536228

Sub-Total 37555669

Less vested pension and savings plan benefits accumulated deferred compensation

and vested equity 35212228

Amount Triggered due to Termination 2343441

Amounts are based on the common stock price on the date of distribution

Amounts reflect the intrinsic value of outstanding options not
yet exercised assuming exercise at the end of the fiscal year

Potential PSU payouts have been calculated assuming that the 2011-2013 PSU cycle will be paid at 103.5% of target These figures are

based on actual Company performance against goals for 2011 and 2012 and
target Company performance against goals for 2013

This amount was paid in accordance with Mr Butlers separation letter and was intended to represent the difference between

Mr Butlers retirement occurring on July 12012 rather than on December 31 2012 including payment of $631073 representing

annual incentive compensation and long term incentive compensation value that would have been earned if he had retired six months

later ii an additional $1646368 in pension value that would have accrued if his employment had continued for those six months and

iii $66000 of company contributions which would have been made to deferred compensation plans
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth certain information as of the end of Textrons 2012 fiscal year for all

Textron compensation plans previously approved by shareholders There are no compensation plans not

previously approved by shareholders

Number of Securities

Number of Remaining Available for

Securities to be Future Issuance Under

Issued Upon Weighted-Average Equity Compensation

Exercise of Exercise Price of Plans Excluding

Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Securities Reflected in

Plan category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Column

Equity compensation plans approved by

shareholders 101940001 $27 .982 85473743

Equity compensation plans not approved by

shareholders N/A N/A N/A

Total 10194000 $27.98 8547374

Includes 710000 unvested shares that maybe issued under previously granted RSUs

This value reflects the weighted average exercise price of outstanding stock options only

Consists of shares remaining available for issuance under the Textron Inc 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan that may be issued pursuant to

stock options stock appreciation rights performance stock restricted stock RSUs and other awards provided that no more than

2252045 shares may be issued pursuant to awards other than stock options and stock appreciation rights

Evaluation of Risk in Compensation Plans

In addition to the Companys incentive compensation arrangements applicable to senior executives

throughout the enterprise the Companys business units maintain incentive compensation plans and programs in

which business unit employees below the senior executive level participate such as sales incentive plans and

incentive programs linked to safety and customer service etc. Textrons management reviews these business

unit incentive compensation plans and programs as they relate to risk management practices and risk-taking

incentives

Transactions with Related Persons

Since the beginning of Textrons 2012 fiscal year there have been no transactions and there are no currently

proposed transactions in which Textron was or is to be participant and the amount involved exceeds $120000

and in which any related person had or will have direct or indirect material interest except that on November

2007 Wooster Capital LLC which is wholly-owned by Mr Ford who retired as Textron director in April

2012 entered into an agreement to purchase 6.25% interest in Cessna Sovereign from CitationAir formerly

CitationShares Textron company The Agreement pursuant to which Wooster Capital paid $975290 upon

signing was for five-year term which expired on October 31 2012 The Agreement provided for monthly fuel

payments which were reconciled annually with actual expenses incurred during 2012 payments made by

Wooster Capital totaled $276408 Upon expiration consistent with CitationAir standard agreement terms the

Agreement provided for the repurchase by CitationAir of the aircraft interest for which CitationAir paid Wooster

Capital the amount of $439874 net of an $18975 expense
reconciliation

On April 25 2011 Textron entered into Hangar License and Services Agreement with our CEOs limited

liability company LLC Under this agreement Mr Donnellys LLC subleases portion of Textrons leased

hangar space for his personal airplane The agreement also provides that the Company will provide certain

aircraft maintenance and other services for Mr Donnellys airplane Fees for hangar space maintenance fuel and

all other services are set at market rates and Mr Donnelly fully reimburses the Company at such market rates

During 2012 these costs totalled $40337
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In addition the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has approved Mr Donnellys occasional

use of his personal airplane for business travel and has adopted policy which sets forth regulatory safety

insurance and other requirements applicable to use of personal aircraft by executives for business purposes The

policy provides for reimbursement of only direct operating expenses to the executive subject to cap
of $50000

annually During 2012 these expenses totalled $9663

Under Textrons Corporate Governance Guidelines and Policies all related party transactions are subject to

approval or ratification by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Related party transactions

referred to as Interested Transactions with Related Parties under the Guidelines are generally defined as any

transaction arrangement or relationship or series of similar transactions arrangements or relationships including

any indebtedness or guarantee of indebtedness where the Company is participant in which the aggregate

amount involved since the beginning of the Companys last fiscal year exceeds or is expected to exceed $100000

and an executive officer director nominee or greater than 5% beneficial holder or immediate family member of

any of the foregoing has or will have direct or indirect interest other than solely as result of being director

or less than 10% beneficial owner of another entity In determining whether to approve or ratify such

transaction the committee takes into account among other factors it deems appropriate whether the transaction

is on terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third party under the same or

similar circumstances and the extent of the related persons interest in the transaction
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ADVISORY VOTE TO APPROVE TEXTRONS EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The Board has adopted policy providing for an annual say-on-pay advisory vote In accordance with this

policy and Section 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and as matter of good corporate

governance we are providing our shareholders with an advisory nonbinding vote to approve
the compensation

of our named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement This vote is advisory only and it is not

binding on Textron or on our Board of Directors Although the vote is non-binding the Organization and

Compensation Committee the Committee and the Board will carefully consider the outcome of the vote when

making future compensation decisions

Textrons compensation philosophy is to establish target compensation based on the median of talent peer

group and to tie substantial portion of our executives compensation to performance against objective business

goals and stock price performance This approach helps us to recruit and retain talented executives incentivizes

our executives to achieve desired business goals and aligns their interests with the interests of our shareholders

For full discussion of our executive compensation programs and 2012 compensation decisions made by the

Committee see Compensation Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 18

Textrons Board of Directors believes that the Companys executive compensation program is working to

align managements interests with those of our shareholders to support long-term value creation Accordingly

Textron shareholders are being asked to vote FOR the following advisory resolution at the annual meeting

RESOLVED that the shareholders approve the Companys compensation of its named executive officers

as disclosed in the Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to the compensation

disclosure rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission including the Compensation Discussion and

Analysis and the compensation tables regarding named executive officer compensation together with the

accompanying narrative disclosure

Unless the Board modifies its policy on the frequency of future say-on-pay advisory votes the next say-on-

pay advisory vote will be held at the 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the resolution approving the Companys

executive compensation Item on the proxy card
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RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC

ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee has appointed the firm of Ernst Young LLP to audit Textrons consolidated

financial statements for 2013 but as matter of good corporate governance the Board is asking shareholders to

ratify the appointment of Ernst Young LLP as independent registered public accounting firm for 2013 If

shareholders do not ratify the appointment the Audit Committee will reconsider its selection representative or

representatives of Ernst Young LLP will be present at the annual meeting will have the opportunity to make

statement and will be available to respond to appropriate questions

Fees to Independent Auditors

The following table presents fees billed for professional services rendered by Ernst Young LLP for the

audit of Textrons annual financial statements the reviews of the financial statements in Textrons Forms 10-Q

and other services in connection with statutory and regulatory filings and engagements for 2011 and 2012 and

fees billed in 2011 and 2012 for audit-related services tax services and all other services rendered by Ernst

Young LLP

2011 2012

Audit Fees $7285000 $7213000

Audit-Related Fees1 501000 529000

Tax Fees2 144000 134000

All OtherFees

Total Fees $7930000 $7876000

Audit-related fees include fees for employee benefit plan audits due diligence relating to acquisitions and dispositions attest services not

required by statute or regulation and consultations concerning financial accounting and reporting matters not classified as audit

Tax fees include fees for tax services relating to consultations compliance and dispositions

Under the Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy adopted by the Audit Committee all audit

and non-audit services to be performed by the independent auditor for Textron require pre-approval by the Audit

Committee The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to one or more of its members Any pre

approvals pursuant to delegated authority shall be reported to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting

The Audit Committee cannot delegate pre-approval authority to management

All audit-related services tax services and other services for 2012 were pre-approved by the Audit

Committee which determined that such services would not impair the independence of the auditor and are

consistent with the Securities and Exchange Commissions rules on auditor independence

The Board of Directors recommends vote FOR ratification of the appointment by the Audit

Committee of Ernst Young LLP Item on the proxy card
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SHAREHOLDER PROPOSAL RELATING TO INDEPENDENT BOARD CHAIRMAN

Mr Kenneth Steiner of 14 Stoner Ave 2M Great Neck NY 11021 owner of 4000 shares of our common

stock has given notice of his designation of John Chevedden as his
proxy to introduce the following resolution at

the annual meeting The shareholder proposal and supporting statement appear as received by us Following the

shareholder proposal is our response

Proposal 4Independent Board Chairman

RESOLVED Shareholders request that our board of directors adopt policy that whenever possible the

chairman of our board of directors shall be an independent director An independent director is director who has

not previously served as an executive officer of our Company This policy should be implemented so as not to

violate any contractual obligations in effect when this resolution is adopted The policy should also specify how

to select new independent chairman if current chairman ceases to be independent between annual shareholder

meetings To foster flexibility this proposal gives the option of being phased in and implemented when our next

CEO is chosen

When our CEO is our board chairman this arrangement can hinder our boards ability to monitor our CEOs

performance Many companies already have an independent Chairman An independent Chairman is the

prevailing practice in the United Kingdom and many international markets This proposal topic won 50%-plus

support at three major U.S companies in 2012 including 55%-support at Sempra Energy

This proposal should also be evaluated in the context of our Companys overall corporate governance as reported

in 2012

GMI/The Corporate Library an independent investment research firm expressed concern for our Executive Pay

$12 million for our CEO Scott Donnelly GMI said Mr Donnellys pension increase and non-qualified

deferred pay of $1.4 million exceeded his base salary by more than 46% In fact Chief Human Resources Officer

John Butlers pension increase of $2.2 million was more than that of our CEO Because such pay was not tied

directly to company performance it was difficult to justify in terms of shareholder value

In addition long-term incentive pay was provided through three meanscash-settled performance share units

PSU restricted stock units RSU and market-priced stock options Cash-based long-term incentive pay does

nothing to tie executive performance to long-term shareholder value Both RSUs and market-priced stock

options simply vest over time To be effective any equity pay given as long-term incentive should include

performance-vesting criteria Moreover in addition to the annual long-term incentive grants Mr Donnelly

realized $8.8 million from the vesting of equity awards Finally our CEO had potential $39 million entitlement

following change in control

An independent Chairman policy can strengthen the integrity of our Board Please encourage our board to

respond positively to this proposal to protect shareholder value

Independent Board Chairman Proposal

Our Response to the Shareholder Proposal

The Board of Directors recommends vote AGAINST this shareholder proposal

The Board believes that the proposal is contrary to the best interests of Textron and its shareholders For the

reasons discussed below the Board recommends that shareholders vote AGAINST the proposal

This proposal requests that Textrons Board of Directors establish permanent policy that whenever

possible the chairman of the Board be an independent director who has not previously served as an executive

officer of the company The Board believes that it is in the best interests of Textron and its shareholders for the

Board to retain the flexibility to determine the most appropriate leadership structure for the Board at any given

time Adoption of prospective policy which would unnecessarily restrict the flexibility of Textrons Board in

the future with regard to its leadership structure would be disservice to shareholders
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Textrons Corporate Governance Guidelines and Policies currently provide that at least once every two

years the Board reviews whether having the positions of Chairman and CEO combined best serves the interests

of Textron and its shareholders The Board diligently undertakes this regular review and continues to conclude

that combining the positions of Chairman and CEO is the most effective leadership structure for Textrons Board

and best serves the interests of the Company and its shareholders As described under The Board of Directors

Leadership Structure above this is because the Board believes that the CEO with his extensive knowledge of

the Companys businesses and full time focus on the business affairs of the Company makes more effective

Chairman than an independent director especially given the size and multi-industry nature of the Companys

business

The Board believes that the Companys corporate governance structure with its strong emphasis on Board

independence ensures effective oversight of the companys management by independent directors regardless of

whether there is an independent chairman Specifically all of Textrons directors other than the CEO are

independent under the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange and the criteria set forth in Textrons

Corporate Governance Guidelines and Policies In addition each of the Audit Nominating and Corporate

Governance and Organization and Compensation Committees is comprised solely of independent directors

Moreover Textrons independent directors annually designate director to serve as Lead Director from

among the chairs of the Boards committees The Lead Director is assigned clearly defined and expansive duties

including presiding at all meetings of the Board at which the Chairman is not present including all executive

sessions of the Board ii serving when needed as liaison between the CEO and the independent directors

iiiidentifying together with the CEO key strategic direction and operational issues upon which the Boards

annual core agenda is based iv discussing agenda items and time allocated for agenda items with the CEO prior

to each Board meeting including the authority to make changes and approve the agenda for the meeting

determining the type of information to be provided to the directors for each scheduled Board meeting

vi convening additional executive sessions of the Board vii determining to meet with Textron shareholders

as appropriate after consultation with the CEO and General Counsel and viii such other functions as the Board

may direct The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reassesses on an annual basis the continuing

effectiveness of the role of Lead Director and continues to conclude that the role serves Textron well

The Board also does not believe that the companys current leadership structure hinders the Boards ability

to monitor the CEOs performance contrary to what the proponent suggests As noted above all of Textrons

directors other than the CEO are independent and the Board meets in executive session without management

present at each regularly scheduled Board meeting Additional executive sessions may be convened at any time at

the request of director and in such event the Lead Director presides The Corporate Governance Guidelines

and Policies require formal annual evaluation of the CEOs performance by all non-management directors This

evaluation is used by the Organization and Compensation Committee as basis to recommend the CEOs

compensation The independent directors have ample opportunity to and regularly do both formally and

informally monitor and assess the performance of the CEO

The Board believes that the decision of whether the roles of chairman and CEO should be combined is an

ongoing responsibility of the Board and it should retain the flexibility to regularly reevaluate the most

appropriate structure If and when the Board deems it to be in the best interests of the Company and its

shareholders the Board has the ability to change its leadership structure Adopting preemptive policy which

prescribes particular leadership structure deprives future Boards of the ability to exercise their fiduciary duty to

determine their appropriate leadership structure based upon prevailing circumstances

Accordingly the Board of Directors recommends vote AGAINST this proposal Item on the proxy

card
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OTHER MATTERS TO COME BEFORE THE MEETING

The Board of Directors does not know of any matters which will be brought before the meeting other than

those specifically set forth in the notice thereof If
any

other matter properly comes before the meeting it is

intended that the persons named in and acting under the enclosed form of
proxy or their substitutes will vote

thereon in accordance with their best judgment

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS AND OTHER MATTERS FOR 2014 ANNUAL MEETING

Shareholder proposals to be considered for inclusion in the proxy statement and form of proxy relating to

the 2014 annual meeting of shareholders under Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended must be received by Textron at 40 Westminster Street Providence Rhode Island 02903 Attention

Executive Vice President General Counsel and Secretary on or before November 2013

If shareholders instead wish to bring other business before shareholder meeting timely notice must be

received by Textron in advance of the meeting Under Textrons Amended and Restated By-Laws such notice

must be received not less than 90 nor more than 150 days before the anniversary date of the immediately

preceding annual meeting of shareholders or between November 25 2013 and January 24 2014 for the 2013

annual meeting but if the annual meeting is called for date that is more than 30 days before or more than

60 days after the anniversary date then the notice must be received no later than the close of business on the

90th day before the date of the annual meeting or 10 days after public disclosure of the meeting is first made

whichever occurs later The notice must include the information required by our By-Laws These requirements

are separate from the requirements shareholder must meet to have proposal included in Textrons proxy

statement under Rule 14a-8 These time limits also apply to nominations submitted by shareholders under our

By-Laws and in determining whether notice is timely for purposes of rules adopted by the Securities and

Exchange Commission relating to the exercise of discretionary voting authority by Textron

DELIVERY OF DOCUMENTS TO SHAREHOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS

The broker bank or other nominee for any shareholder who is beneficial owner but not the record holder

of the Companys shares may deliver only one copy of the Companys proxy statement and annual report to

multiple shareholders who share the same address unless that broker bank or other nominee has received

contrary instructions from one or more of the shareholders The Company will deliver promptly upon written or

oral request separate copy of the proxy statement and annual report to shareholder at shared address to

which single copy of the documents was delivered shareholder who wishes to receive separate copy of the

proxy statement and annual report now or in the future should submit their request to the Company by telephone

at 401 457-2353 or by submitting written request to the Secretary at Textron Inc 40 Westminster Street

Providence Rhode Island 02903 Beneficial owners sharing an address who are receiving multiple copies of

proxy materials and annual reports and wish to receive single copy of such materials in the future will need to

contact their broker bank or other nominee to request that only single copy of each document be mailed to all

shareholders at the shared address in the future

By order of the Board of Directors

Robert Lupone

Executive Vice President General Counsel and

Secretary

March 2013

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE MEETING
IN PERSON PLEASE VOTE YOUR PROXY VIA INTERNET OR TELEPHONE SEE ENCLOSED
PROXY CARD OR FILL IN SIGN DATE AND RETURN THE ACCOMPANYING PROXY CARD IN

THE ENVELOPE PROVIDED
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